Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

8-22-2013 12:00 AM

The Interaction of the Human Adenovirus E1A Protein with the Human DREF Transcription Factor

Kris M. James, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Dr. Joe Mymryk, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science degree in Microbiology and Immunology © Kris M. James 2013

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Virology Commons

Recommended Citation

James, Kris M., "The Interaction of the Human Adenovirus E1A Protein with the Human DREF Transcription Factor" (2013). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 1546. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/1546

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

THE INTERACTION OF THE HUMAN ADENOVIRUS E1A PROTEIN WITH THE HUMAN DREF TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR

Thesis format: Monograph

by

Kristofer M. James

Graduate Program in Microbiology & Immunology

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

The School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada

© Kristofer M. James 2013

Abstract

The human adenovirus (HAdV) E1A protein is the first protein produced post-HAdV infection, and serves two main functions. The first is to modulate host and viral transcription. The second is to induce host cell cycle progression to S phase, to promote an optimal environment for viral replication. E1A performs its functions by binding and manipulating over 50 cellular factors. Interestingly, I found that E1A is capable of interacting with the poorly characterized human DNA replication-related element-binding factor (hDREF). hDREF is a transcription factor involved in the expression of several genes related to the cell cycle. I hypothesized that the interaction between E1A and hDREF would contribute to adenovirus induced transcriptional modulation and viral replication in HAdV-5 infected host cells.

Utilizing co-immunoprecipitation experiments, I discovered that E1A can bind hDREF through residues 15-26. Using quantitative real time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR), I found that hDREF also increases expression of HAdV-5 E3 and E4 genes, which are transactivated by E1A. Finally, hDREF expression increases HAdV-5 replication. Further studies will reveal whether or not the E1A-hDREF interaction is specifically responsible for these observed results.

Keywords

Human adenovirus, HAdV, E1A, hDREF, co-immunoprecipitation, RT-PCR, plaque assay, transcription

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Joe Mymryk, for his insight and encouragement, even when I encountered some road blocks in my project. His knowledge, desire for scientific discovery, and his willingness to provide a daily dose of humour are very much appreciated and will not be forgotten. In addition I would like to thank the members of my advisory committee, Dr. Fred Dick and Dr. Jim Koropatnick, for their guidance and for keeping me on track over the two years of my M.Sc.

Thank you, Dr. Fumiko Hirose, for generously providing the pcDNA3-HA-hDREF plasmid. An acknowledgement is also extended to Dr. Peter Pelka, for initially discovering that E1A and hDREF can interact.

Thank you to my past and present lab members: Dr. Ahmed Yousef, Dr. Jailal Ablack, Dr. Matthew Miller, Dr. Greg Fonseca, Dr. Biljana Todorovic, Dr. Anthony Nichols, Michael Cohen, Cason King, Giananthony Rizzo, Steven Gameiro, Tanner Tessier, Morgan Black. Our unique lab dynamic would never have been the same without all of you, and each of you has bettered me as a person in some way or another.

A special thank you is extended to both Dr. John Barrett and Gloria Thomson. John, your technical expertise is unmatched, and was crucial to my success. Thank you. Gloria, your assistance in daily lab proceedings, as well as discussions on music and other important diversions cannot be thanked enough.

Thanks to my loving mother, Katie James, for her continual support and unwavering encouragement throughout my entire academic endeavours. Although what I was researching may have previously been categorized under a mysterious cloud of "something to do with science and human cells", I hope this thesis serves to provide some insight as to what I spent the last two years of my life accomplishing.

Finally, thanks to all of my friends who have given me some of the most memorable experiences of my life, by diverting me from the academic lifestyle on occasion. Last but not least, the assistance of my cat Dante in writing my thesis was of paramount importance.

Dedicated to my late father, Lyle James.

Your caring heart and sense of humor are dearly missed by all.

You will always exist as the basis of my motivation.

Table of Contents

Al	Abstractii				
A	Acknowledgementsiii				
Ta	ble o	of Cont	ents	v	
Li	st of	Tables		viii	
Li	List of Figuresix				
Li	st of	Abbre	viations	xi	
1	Intr	oductio	on	1	
	1.1	Adenc	oviruses	1	
		1.1.1	HAdV Virion Structure	4	
		1.1.2	HAdV Genome	7	
		1.1.3	HAdV Replication Cycle in Human Cells		
		1.1.4	HAdV E1A Functions and Interactions with Cellular Factors		
	1.2	Discov	veries in Drosophila – an Essential Model System		
		1.2.1	Discovery of <i>Drosophila</i> DRE and DREF	30	
		1.2.2	Characterization of DRE/DREF Function		
		1.2.3	Members of the DREF Interactome		
	1.3	Huma	n DREF		
		1.3.1	Discovery and Characterization of hDREF		
		1.3.2	hDREF/hDRE Functional Analysis		
	1.4	Ration	ale, Hypothesis, and Objectives		
2 Materials and Methods			and Methods		
	2.1	Cells (Cultures		
2.2 Plasmids					
2.3 Plasmid Transfections					

	2.4	Viruse	es and Infections	-8
	2.5	Co-im	munoprecipitation and Western Blotting4	8
		2.5.1	Co-immunoprecipitation of HT-1080 and HeLa Cell Lysates 4	-8
		2.5.2	Western Blotting of Other HT-1080, HeLa, and IMR-90 Cell Lysates 5	1
	2.6	Lucife	rase Assays5	1
		2.6.1	Gal4 Luciferase Assays5	1
		2.6.2	Histone H1 Promoter Luciferase Assays	2
	2.7	siRNA	Knockdown	2
	2.8	Quanti	itative RT-PCR	2
	2.9	Viral I	Plaque Assays 5	3
3	Res	ults	5	5
	3.1	Mappi E1A P	ng the Interaction Between E1A and hDREF to Specific Regions of the protein	5
		3.1.1	Identification of Conserved Interactions between hDREF and 13S E1A of Representative Members of HAdV Species A Through F	f 55
		3.1.2	Interaction of hDREF with E1A Isoforms	8
		3.1.3	Identification of the hDREF Binding Site on E1A5	8
		3.1.4	Confirmation of the Interaction between E1A and hDREF during Infection	n 58
	3.2	Detern	nining the Effects of hDREF on Transcription <i>in vitro</i>	'1
		3.2.1	Selecting an Appropriate Cell Line7	'1
		3.2.2	Examining hDREF Transactivation of a Simple Gal4 DNA-Binding Domain-Responsive Luciferase Reporter	'4
		3.2.3	Effect of hDREF on E1A-Induced Transactivation of a Simple Gal4 DNA Binding Domain-Responsive Luciferase Reporter	۱- 9
		3.2.4	Evaluating hDREF Transactivation of a Luciferase Gene Under Control of the hDRE-Containing Histone H1Promoter	of 80
	3.3	The Ef HAdV	ffects of hDREF on Viral and Cellular Gene Transcription During an 7-5 Infection	0

	3.4 The Effect of hDREF on Viral Replication			
4	Dis	scussion		
	4.1 Mapping the Interaction Between E1A and hDREF			
	4.2	2 Analysis of the Effects of hDREF on Transcription using Luciferase Assays 1		
		4.2.1	Gal4-DBD-hDREF Trans-activation of the pGL2-(UAS) ₆ -Luc Reporter	
		4.2.2	Alteration of Gal4-DBD-1-82 and Gal4-DBD-CR3 Trans-activation of the pGL2-(UAS) ₆ -Luc Reporter	
		4.2.3	HA-hDREF Trans-activation of the pGL3-H1p-Luc Reporter 104	
	4.3	The Ef	ffects of hDREF on Viral Early Gene and Cellular Gene Transcription HAdV-5 Infection	
	4.4	4 The Effects of hDREF on HAdV-5 Replication 11		
	4.5	Summ	ary of Findings and Future Directions113	
Re	efere	nces		
С	urric	ulum V	itae	

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Classification of Human Adenoviruses	3
Table 1.2 Select human genes containing hDRE-like sequences	42
Table 2.1 List of plasmids	47
Table 2.2 List of antibodies	50
Table 2.3 List of oligonucleotide primers used for Real-Time PCR	54

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Cartoon diagram of HAdV virion
Figure 1.2 Transcription map of HAdV-5 genome 10
Figure 1.3 HAdV-5 replication cycle in human cells
Figure 1.4 Diagram of E1A splice products and proteins
Figure 1.5 Cartoon diagram of several linear interaction motifs in HAdV-5 E1A24
Figure 1.6 Complex interplay of proliferation and differentiation signals at dDREF responsive genes
Figure 1.7 Cartoon diagram of D. virilis and human DREF proteins
Figure 3.1 The interaction of hDREF with 13S E1A from various HAdV species
Figure 3.2 The interaction of hDREF with different HAdV-5 isoforms
Figure 3.3 The N-terminal 82 amino acids of E1A bind to hDREF
Figure 3.4 The N-terminal 29 amino acids of E1A independently bind to hDREF 65
Figure 3.5 Deletion of residues 4-25 or 26-35 reduce the ability of the N-terminal 82 amino acids of E1A to bind hDREF
Figure 3.6 Deletions in residues 4-25 and 26-35 reduce the ability of 13S E1A produced during infection to bind endogenous hDREF
Figure 3.7 Comparison of endogenous hDREF levels in asynchronous populations of four cell lines
Figure 3.8 Transactivation of a Gal4-DBD-responsive luciferase reporter plasmid containing
a minimal promoter by Gal4-DBD-hDREF (HT1080)76

Figure 3.9 Transactivation of a Gal4-DBD-responsive luciferase reporter plasmid containing
a minimal promoter by Gal4-DBD-hDREF (HeLa)
Figure 3.10 Effects of hDREF on the ability of Gal4-DBD-tagged amino acids 1-82 and CR3
of E1A to transactivate a Gal4-DBD-responsive luciferase reporter plasmid (HT1080) 82
Figure 3.11 Effects of hDREF on the ability of Gal4-DBD-tagged amino acids 1-82 and CR3
of E1A to transactivate a Gal4-DBD-responsive luciferase reporter plasmid (HeLa)
Figure 3.12 Effect of hDREF on transactivation of a luciferase reporter plasmid under the
control of the histone H1 promoter (HT1080)
Figure 3.13 Effect of hDREF on transactivation of a luciferase reporter plasmid under the
control of the histone H1 promoter (HeLa)
Figure 3.14 Effects of hDREF on early viral gene and cellular gene transcription during an
HAdV-5 infection
Figure 3.15 Effects of hDREF on HAdV-5 replication
Figure 4.1 Alignment of E1A residues 15-26
Figure 4.2 Cartoon diagram of the potential effects of the E1A-hDREF interaction in an
HAdV-5 infected cell

List of Abbreviations

Ab	Antibody
AdDdDp	Adenovirus DNA-Dependent DNA Polymerase
ADP	Adenovirus Death Protein
ARD	Acute Respiratory Disease
AdV	Adenovirus
AVP	Adenoviral Protease
BEAF-32	Boundary Element Associated factor of 32 kDa
BED	Boundary Element-Associated Factor and DREF
BrdU	Bromodeoxyuridine
CAR	Coxsackievirus and AdV Receptor
CASTing	Cyclic Amplification and Selection of Targets
CBP	CREB-Binding Protein
CDK	Cyclin-Dependent Kinase
cDNA	Complementary DNA
ChIP	Chromatin Immunoprecipitation
CKI	CDK Inhibitory Protein
CR	Conserved Region
CtBP	C-terminal Binding Protein
CTL	Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte
dDREF	Drosophila DREF
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium
DRE	DNA Replication-Related Element
DREF	DRE-Binding Factor
dsDNA	Double-Stranded DNA
DTT	Dithiothreitol
eIF-2α	Eukaryotic Initiation Factor-2-a
FMSA	Electrophoretic Mobility Shift/Band Shift Assays
FR	Endonlasmic Reticulum
EIX F2F	F2 Transcription Factor
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde 3-Phosphate Dehydrogenase
Gal4-DBD	Gal4 DNA-Binding Domain
GFP	Green Fluorescent Protein
GTF	General Transcription Factor
НА	Hemagalutinin
HAdV	Human Adenovirus
hBrel	Human Brefeldin & Sensitivity 1
hDRFF	Human DRFF
HEK	Human Embryonic Kidney
hDaf1	Human Polymerase II-Associated Factor 1
HPI	Hours Post-Infection
HDV	Human Papillomavirus
HPD	Horseradish Perovidase
H2B	Histone 2B
IEN_a	Interferon a
	Interferon B
н түр Түр	Interferon p Ivp Vinese
INN	IND MIHASE

IP	Immunoprecipitation		
IRF1	IFN-Regulatory Factor 1		
ISG	IFN-Stimulated Gene		
KSR	Kinase Suppressor of Ras		
LIM	Linear Interaction Motif		
MED	Mediator		
MHC	Major Histocompatibility Complex		
miRNA	Micro RNA		
MLP	Major Late Promoter		
MOI	Multiplicity of Infection		
MRN	Mre11-Rad50-Nbs1		
mTOR	Mammalian Target of Rapamycin		
NF-κB	Nuclear Factor Kappa B		
NLS	Nuclear Localization Sequence		
NPC	Nuclear Pore Complex		
NURF	Nucleosome Remodelling Factor		
ORF	Open Reading Frame		
ORI	Origin of Replication		
PAR1	Pseudoautosomal Region 1		
PBS	Phosphate-Buffered Saline		
pCAF	p300/CBP-Associated Factor		
PCNA	Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen		
PFU	Plaque Forming Units		
PIC	Pre-Initiation Complex		
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositl-3-OH Kinase		
PKR	Protein Kinase R		
nRb/Rb	Retinoblastoma Tumor Suppressor Protein		
PVDF	Polyvinylidene Fluoride		
REP	Rough Eve Phenotype		
RID	Receptor Internalization and Degradation		
RISC	RNA Silencing Complex		
RP	Ribosomal Protein		
RPS6	Ribosomal Protein Small 6		
RPL10A	Ribosomal Protein Large 10A		
RPL12	Ribosomal Protein Large 12		
RT-PCR	Real Time Polymerase Chain Reaction		
SAdV	Simian Adenovirus		
siRNA	Silencing RNA		
ssDBP	ssDNA Binding Protein		
ssDNA	Single-Stranded DNA		
SUMO	Small Ubiquitin-Related Modifier		
TBP	TATA-Binding Protein		
TBS-T	Tris-Buffered Saline Containing 0.1% Tween-20		
TFIID	Transcription Factor II D		
TIR	Terminal Inverted Repeat		
TNF	Tumor Necrosis Factor		
TP	Terminal Protein		
TRAIL	Tumor Necrosis Factor-Related Apontosis-Inducing		
	xii		
	A11		

TRF2	TBP-Related Factor 2
TSS	Transcription Start Site
VA-RNA	Virus-Associated RNA
UAS	Upstream Activation Sequence
WT	Wild-Type
Zen	Zerknullt

1 Introduction

1.1 Adenoviruses

Adenoviruses (AdV) – named for their discovery in human adenoid tissue – were first isolated and characterized by two independent groups in 1953, who were searching for the causative agent of acute respiratory disease (ARD) plaguing military recruits during World War II (1–3). It is now known, however, that human AdVs (HAdVs) are responsible for only 5-10% of upper respiratory tract disorders in children, and that rhinoviruses are the major causative agents behind the common cold (4, 5). HAdVs have since been confirmed as the etiological agents of many other clinical diseases, most notably conjunctivitis and infantile gastroenteritis (6–8). Although most infections are self-limiting and can be asymptomatic, immunosuppressed patients may experience fatal infections arising through pneumonia, encephalitis, and fulminant hepatitis (9).

The Adenoviridae family contains over 100 members spanning five genera, which infect a range of vertebrates from fish to humans (10). All HAdVs are classified within the genus *Mastadenovirus*, which comprises those viruses isolated from mammals (11). There are currently 57 accepted HAdV comprising six species (A-F), with a purported seventh species (G) containing only serotype 52 (12, 13) (Table 1.1). Classification of HAdV into species and serotypes is complicated. Species are classified based on their ability to agglutinate red blood cells, as only antisera against viruses of the same species will prevent the hemagglutination reaction (14). New serotypes are denoted based on the ability of the virus to resist neutralization by antisera against known HAdV types (15). This mainly occurs via exposed virion hexon proteins, as hypervariable regions exist on the hexon surface which are type-specific (16–18). Therefore, individual HAdV types will only neutralize themselves.

The use of HAdVs as experimental models initially became evident in 1962 when Trentin *et al.* discovered that injection of HAdV-12 of species A into infantile hamsters caused

malignant tumors (19). He provided the first recorded evidence of a human virus causing oncogenesis. Only certain species of HAdVs are oncogenic, as tumorigenicity is closely linked to the ability of individual serotypes to evade the host immune system. Indeed, all species can promote tumorigenesis in immune-compromised rodents (20). Furthermore, all species can transform cultured rodent cells, establishing HAdVs as useful model systems for studying the mechanisms of cancer (21). Currently, no HAdVs have been implicated in the oncogenesis of human tumors (22, 23). HAdV infections in rodents are non-productive due to a deficiency in both viral DNA replication and late protein production (24). In contrast, HAdV infections in humans are lytic, and therefore cell death occurs long before tumorigenesis could occur. However, E1A is capable of immortalizing human cells on its own when stably transfected, and in cooperation with a second oncogene such as E1B, can fully transform human cells (25, 26). Human embryonic kidney (HEK) 293 cells were transformed in such a fashion, but transformation of other cell lines with E1A and other oncogenes has proven difficult (25).

Since 1962, the use of HAdVs as molecular tools has gained popularity due to several enticing characteristics. HAdVs are easily grown to high titres, unlike other tumor viruses with more stringent growth conditions, such as human papillomavirus (HPV) (27). They cause synchronous infections in cultured cells, allowing the kinetics of infections to be easily studied and replicated (21). The genomes of many HAdVs are well characterized and easily manipulated, facilitating the study of the functions of both HAdV gene products and the cellular factors that interact with them (4). HAdVs have played a large role in our understanding of DNA replication, cell cycle control, transcription, apoptosis, immunological responses to viral infections, and mRNA processing (21). For example, the discovery that multiple mRNAs are produced from a single transcript – a process we now know as mRNA splicing – as well as the discoveries of introns and pre-mRNA processing to mature mRNA, are all credited to the studies of HAdV infected cells (28–32).

Species	Serotypes	Tumorigenicity in Rodents	Transformation of Cell Culture
А	12, 18, 31	High	Yes
В	3, 7, 11, 14, 16, 21, 34, 35, 50, 55	Moderate	Yes
С	1, 2, 5, 6, 57	Low or None	Yes
D	8, 9, 10, 13, 15, 17, 19, 20, 22-30, 32, 33, 36- 39, 42-49, 51, 53, 54, 56	Low or None	Yes
E	4	Low or None	Yes
F	40, 41	Unknown	Yes
G	52	Unknown	Unknown

Table 1.1 Classification of Human Adenoviruses

Adapted from Berk, AJ., 2007 (4)

1.1.1 HAdV Virion Structure

All HAdV are 90nm diameter, icosahedral, non-enveloped particles with fibres protruding from each vertex of the virion (33) (Figure 1.1). The virions are made up of a proteinacious capsid surrounding a core which contains the DNA genome. There are 11 proteins in the virion named/numbered II-IX, IIIa, terminal protein, μ , and p23 viral protease (34). 240 hexon capsomers – which are trimers of polypeptide II – comprise the 20 faces of the virion, with 12 hexons on each face (35). 12 penton capsomers – which are comprised of a penton base made of a pentamer of polypeptide III, and a projecting fibre made of a trimer of polypeptide IV – form the vertices of the icosahedron (36). The fibre contains three major domains: the N-terminal domain contains an invariant FNPVYPY motif found in all HAdV fibres, which connects the fibre to adjacent penton base monomers; a central shaft of 6 to 22 repeating units of a 15-residue motif which forms a "triple β -spiral" fold; and a C-terminal knob domain, which contains a binding site for HAdV receptors on host cells (34, 36–39). Together the flexibility of the shaft and the specificity of the knob domain act as major determinants of viral tropism. The coxsackievirus and AdV receptor (CAR) - a transmembranous immunoglobulin superfamily member found on a vast array of cell types - was discovered as the main, high-affinity receptor for serotypes 2 and 5 of species C (40, 41). It has also been implicated as a main receptor of species A, D, E, and F but not B, as the knob domain in species B is highly divergent in sequence (42, 43). In addition, deviations may occur on an individual basis in each species, as is evidenced by HAdV-37 of species D, which cannot efficiently use CAR as a receptor due to a rigid shaft domain, and instead utilizes sialic acid as a receptor (44, 45). Although most HAdV encode only a single type of fibre, HAdV-40 and -41 of species F encode a second fibre with an unknown receptor which may be responsible for their increased tropism for intestinal cells (46-48).

Several minor capsid proteins stabilize protein-protein interactions in the virion. Polypeptides VIII and IX stabilize hexon-hexon interactions (34). Four trimers of IX act as a sort of molecular adhesive to keep the nine central hexons of each icosahedral face in a single plane, promoting virion stability (49–51). Protein IIIa is important for virion assembly, interacting under the capsid with the penton base at each vertex as well as the

Figure 1.1 Cartoon diagram of HAdV virion. A) Enlarged diagram of one icosahedral facet (dark blue triangle), displaying the 12 hexon and 3 penton capsomers as well as the approximate locations of other minor structural proteins that support the major capsid proteins. B) Predicted locations and arrangement of structural proteins and DNA within the core of the capsid (TP = terminal protein; AVP = AdV protease). Adapted from San Martin, C., 2012 (52).







surrounding hexons of each face, essentially holding them together as a scaffold (34, 53, 54). Minor protein VI mediates destruction of the endosomal membrane during internalization, after the capsid has disassembled, and it serves a structural function by tethering the capsid to the protein-DNA core of the virion (39, 55).

Five proteins as well as the DNA genome comprise the virion core. Polypeptides V, VII, and μ are highly basic proteins which contact and condense the viral DNA within the core (56–58). The major core protein is polypeptide VII, which forms dimers that condense the viral DNA into repeating 90-150 base pair nucleoprotein complexes (59, 60). In addition to binding DNA, polypeptide V can bind the penton base and polypeptide VI, participating in the linkage of the core to the capsid (61). The terminal protein is covalently attached to the 5' ends of the viral genome, functioning in DNA replication as a primer for DNA synthesis (62). Finally, the p23 viral protease cleaves several proteins to allow escape from endosomes during infection, as well as several precursors of viral proteins during maturation of the virions (63, 64).

1.1.2 HAdV Genome

Many HAdV genomes have been completely sequenced to date, the first of which were those of HAdV-2, 5, and 12 (65–67). All contain approximately 36000 bp of linear, double-stranded DNA. The genome encodes five early (E1A, E1B, E2 early, E3, E4), three delayed-early (IX, IVa2, E2 late), and one major late transcriptional unit which are transcribed by cellular RNA polymerase II (68). Each of these transcripts is alternatively spliced, giving rise to multiple mRNAs (Figure 1.2). Furthermore, many alternatively spliced products of an individual transcriptional unit encode proteins with similar function. For example, two major E1A proteins – 13S and 12S – activate transcription of HAdV genes and force cells into S phase, and the late transcriptional units encode proteins involved in capsid production and assembly (4). The genome also encodes virus-associated RNAs (VA-RNAs) which are transcribed by RNA polymerase III (10). The ends of the genome contain inverted terminal repeats of 36 to over 200bp, which function as origins of replication (ORI) for DNA synthesis (10). *Cis*-acting packaging sequences

are present between the left terminal repeat and the E1A-coding region, and are essential for proper packaging of replicated DNA into new virions (69, 70).

The genomes of the closely related HAdV-2 and 5 have been extensively manipulated to create viruses which express proteins containing one or more mutations (71). As such, most studies utilize one of these serotypes for studies, including our laboratory which focuses on the study of HAdV-5. By utilizing the natural homologous recombination machinery of *Escherichia coli*, plasmids containing the entire genome of HAdV-5 with mutations of interest can be constructed (72). Plasmids can be amplified to large quantities, isolated, and transfected into HEK 293 cells, which express HAdV-5 E1A and E1B (25). Through transcription of viral genes and replication of viral DNA, viral progeny are created which lyse the cells, and can be plaque purified by further propagation in 293 cells. Many mutant viruses are not as viable as wild type HAdV-5 and thus the complementation of E1A and E1B in 293 cells – particularly for those with mutations in E1A or E1B – serves to increase viral production. In fact, the dl312 (Δ E1A) strain of HAdV-5 – a common control virus for studying effects of E1A – grows as well as wild-type in these cells, whereas it cannot replicate efficiently in HeLa cervical carcinoma cells (73). Viruses purified from 293 cells can then be used to examine the effects of specific mutations on cellular and viral processes in cells of interest.

1.1.3 HAdV Replication Cycle in Human Cells

Like all viruses, HAdV are obligate intracellular pathogens and therefore must infect a host cell and manipulate the cellular machinery in order to replicate. Most studies of HAdV replication have traditionally been carried out in HeLa cells or their derivatives at high multiplicities of infection (MOI), ranging from 10 to over 200 plaque forming units (PFU) per cell (4, 73–76). HAdV grows very rapidly in these cells, and a high MOI ensures that all cells undergo synchronous infection, enabling the observation of consistently ordered events over time. In contrast, the replication cycle in primary cells, such as IMR-90 lung fibroblasts, is drastically slower (77, 78).

Figure 1.2 Transcription map of HAdV-5 genome. Genes are transcribed from both strands of the genome. Arrows indicate direction of transcription. Breaks in arrows indicate mRNA splice sites. Protein names are indicated above or below their respective coding mRNA. An untranslated tripartite leader sequence indicated by the labels 1, 2, and 3 is spliced onto mRNA transcribed from the major late promoter (MLP). The labelled "i" indicates a leader sometimes transcribed and spliced onto the 52/55K L1-mRNA, which produces a unique but nonessential 13.6kd protein. Adapted from Berk, AJ., 2007 (4).



In general, the HAdV replication cycle exhibits an early phase and a late phase, which are separated by the initiation of viral DNA replication (68). Adsorption, entry, uncoating, translocation of viral DNA to the nucleus, and expression of early genes comprise the early phase. At an MOI of 10 in HeLa cells, DNA replication initiates at around six hours post-infection (HPI), at which point the late phase begins and late genes are expressed. This culminates in the production and release of virions, completing the lytic cycle at 24 to 36 HPI (79) (Figure 1.3). At high MOIs, infected cells are completely killed, and thus no further cycles of viral replication can be observed. It is important to note that although early and late phases are convenient categorizations of replicative events, they are not definitive time-points. The major late transcriptional unit is transcribed at low levels in the early phase, the delayed-early genes are expressed intermediately in infection, and the early genes continue to be expressed during the late phase (68).

1.1.3.1 Adsorption, Internalization, Uncoating and Nuclear Import

The information pertaining to viral replication in the proceeding subsections of 1.1.3 will focus on HAdV-2 and 5 – which are 95% homologous at the genomic level – as replication of other serotypes mimic these two prototypes (4, 65). The DNA encoding for the fibre protein accounts for 50% of the differences in HAdV-2 and 5, although both serotypes utilize the same receptor.

Attachment to the CAR is mediated by the knob domain of the fibre protein (80, 81). The receptor is abundantly expressed at epithelial cell tight junctions in most tissues (82, 83). After attachment the penton capsomers at the base of the fibre bind to type $a_v\beta_3$ and $a_v\beta_5$ integrins through a conserved RGD motif found on the surface of each penton monomer (84). This causes detachment of the fibre, and promotes integrin clustering and activation, leading to downstream signalling of the phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase (PI3K) pathway (85, 86). The signalling pathway culminates in actin rearrangement, enabling endocytosis of a fibre-less virion via clathrin-coated vesicles (87–89).

Figure 1.3 HAdV-5 replication cycle in human cells. HAdV binds to the CAR receptor (horseshoe) via the knob domain of the fibre protein (1). Integrin (boxhead) binding and clustering stimulates receptor-mediated endocytosis (2, 3). Viral uncoating begins to occur as the subviral particle is released from acidified endosomes. The HAdV genome is shuttled to the nuclear pore complex (NPC) on microtubules, where final uncoating occurs as the genome is translocated into the nucleus (4). Early viral gene expression begins, and the host cell is forced into the cell cycle. Next DNA replication and late gene expression begins (5, 6). Viral proteins localize back into the nucleus, where they assemble with the viral genome into virions (7). Cell lysis occurs and new infectious HAdV virions are released (8).



It is currently accepted that clathrin-coated vesicles mature into endosomes, and become acidified. Acidification triggers permeabilization of the membrane and enables translocation of the virus to the cytosol (90–92). However, the mechanisms surrounding this process are not completely understood. In some studies it has been shown that a low pH endosomal environment is not required during an *in vivo* infection (93). The entire process of attachment, internalization, and escape from endosomes is very rapid, and occurs within 15 minutes of initial attachment (94). Partial uncoating of the viral capsid occurs concurrently with endosomal release, and then hexon proteins utilize cellular microtubules to shuttle the subviral core to nuclear pore complex (NPC) (80, 95, 96). At this point – approximately 2 HPI – the remaining proteins of the capsid disassemble at the NPC, and the viral DNA bound to major core protein VII is imported into the nucleus (97).

1.1.3.2 Transcription and Function of Early Genes

Early HAdV gene products are responsible for activating transcription of viral genes, inducing host cell cycle progression, initiating viral DNA replication, and blocking apoptosis and host anti-viral responses (4). The E1A transcriptional unit contains a constitutively active enhancer, and is the first viral gene expressed during infection (75, 98). E1A gene products are the primary trans-activators of the viral genome, and thus the functions of other early genes intimately depend on E1A. Due to the multiple and important functions of E1A, it will be discussed in detail in section 1.1.4.

The E1B transcriptional unit encodes two proteins identified by their molecular weights of 55 and 19kDa. They function to inhibit apoptosis, which would otherwise occur in response to the abnormal cell cycle progression induced by E1A and E4orf4 (99). E1B-55k uses several distinct mechanisms to inhibit E1A-induced p53 tumour suppressor trans-activation of genes involved in apoptosis and cell-cycle arrest. In cooperation with E4orf6 and cellular proteins, E1B-55k forms a large 800kDa ubiquitin ligase complex which binds p53, directing its polyubiquitination and consecutive proteosomal degradation (100–103). E1B-55k on its own can also bind p53 at genes containing p53-

binding sites, functioning to repress these genes (104, 105). E4orf4 induces p53independent apoptosis through proteosomal degradation of the cellular antiapoptotic MCL-1 protein (106). E1B-19k acts as a viral MCL-1 mimic, which binds BAX and BAK, preventing mitochondrial outer membrane pore formation and release of cytochrome c, thereby inhibiting apoptosis (107).

The E2 transcriptional unit encodes three proteins involved in viral DNA replication: The terminal protein (TP), a 140kDa DNA-dependent DNA polymerase (AdDdDp) of the eukaryotic polymerase- α family, and a 59kDa single stranded DNA (ssDNA) binding protein (ssDBP) (108–110). The TP is post-translationally processed and covalently attached by AdDdDp to the first base – deoxycytidine monophosphate – at either of the 5' ends of the viral genome (111, 112). The TP functions to separate double-stranded DNA (dsDNA) at the ORI, allowing docking of the template strand into AdDdDp, for which TP then acts as a primer (112, 113). Like all DNA polymerases, AdDdDp contains 5' to 3' DNA polymerase activity, and like other polymerase- α family members, it contains 3' to 5' exonuclease activity for proofreading of DNA synthesis (114, 115). The ssDBP functions in chain elongation, driving strand separation through its polymerization on DNA, and replacing the function of DNA helicase in unwinding dsDNA (116). The ssDBP increases the processivity of AdDdDp, allowing complete strand synthesis without re-docking and re-initiation.

The E3 transcriptional unit encodes proteins involved in antagonizing the adaptive cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) response, and the innate apoptosis-inducing cytokine response (117). These include: E3-19K, 14.7K, 14.5K, 10.4K, 6.7K, and adenovirus death protein (ADP/E3-11.6K). E3-19K is a transmembrane protein that localizes to the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) in infection (118). It binds the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I peptide-binding groove and through an ER-retention signal, prevents MHC class I from reaching the surface of the host cell (119, 120). In addition it can bind TAP – a protein which loads processed cytosolic peptides onto the MHC class I molecule in the ER – and prevent MHC class I peptide docking (121). Since lysis of an infected cell by CTLs requires antigen presentation, E3-19K can effectively inhibit adaptive immunity. Two E3-10.4K and one E3-14.5K comprise the viral transmembrane

receptor internalization and degradation (RID) complex, which causes endocytosis and subsequent lysosomal degradation of the Fas (CD95) and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-related apoptosis-inducing (TRAIL) receptors (122–124). These receptors bind Fas ligand on CTLs and TRAIL cytokines secreted by immune cells and subsequently induce apoptosis, and therefore degradation protects from cell death. The transmembrane E3-6.7K protein assists the RID complex in protection against Fas ligand and TRAIL, as well as TNF- α (124, 125). The E3-14.7K protein is found in the cytosol, and inhibits TNF- α , TRAIL, and Fas ligand-induced apoptosis by binding the downstream FLICE caspase and inhibiting its function (126–128). It can also bind members of the IkB kinase (IKK) complex, blocking nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B) activation, and preventing expression of several TNF- α induced chemokines important for immune chemotaxis (129). Contrary to the other E3 proteins, ADP is expressed late during infection (130). It contributes to lysis of cells as it accumulates, through a currently unknown mechanism (131).

The E4 transcriptional unit encodes proteins with a wide array of functions, which are named after their respective genomic open reading frames (ORFs). As previously discussed, E4orf6 cooperates with E1B-55k to inhibit p53-dependent apoptosis, but can also inhibit p53-dependent transcription independently (132). In addition, the E4orf6/E1B-55k 800kDa complex and E4orf3 act to prevent the cellular DNA damage response pathway from acting on the viral genome (133). They function by interfering with the activity and causing the eventual degradation of Mre11-Rad50-Nbs1 (MRN) complexes, which would otherwise recognize the ends of linear HAdV genomes as double-stranded breaks (134). This would result in concatenation of viral genomes by the nonhomologous-end-joining pathway, preventing proper viral DNA replication and subsequent packaging (133, 135, 136). Finally, the E4orf6/E1B-55k 800kDa complex acts to block cellular mRNA export to the cytoplasm, and promote viral late mRNA export to the cytoplasm through the Nxf1/Tap export receptor after the onset of viral DNA replication (137–141). This results in the inhibition of cellular protein synthesis, and promotes viral protein synthesis. E4orf1 and E4orf4 function to activate the protein kinase mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) – and thus translation – through distinct pathways (142–145). Activation of mTOR normally occurs in response to nutrient and mitogen signalling, and is required for entry of the host cell into S phase (146). mTOR

phosphorylates p70^{S6K} which in turn phosphorylates ribosomal protein Small 6 (RPS6),

leading to a high rate of protein synthesis and allowing mRNA of several cell-cycle regulators such as cyclins to be translated (147–149). Finally, the E4orf6/7 protein binds the E2F transcription factor, and recruits it to the E2 early promoter to provide E1A-independent and E1A-cooperative transactivation of E2 genes (150, 151).

HAdV-5 encodes two VA-RNAs – VA-RNA_I and VA-RNA_{II} – which are transcribed by RNA polymerase III in the nucleus and form stable secondary structures important for their function (152). They act to antagonize host cell viral countermeasures. They are transcribed in the early phase, and reach extremely high levels in the late phase of infection. Both types competitively inhibit cellular micro RNA (miRNA) export and also subsequent processing by Dicer (153, 154). Instead, VA-RNAs are processed by Dicer and then overwhelm the RNA silencing complexes (RISC), which would otherwise seek out and degrade viral mRNA (155). Since VA-RNAs are transcribed from intronic regions in the viral genome, the actions of RISC will only act on subsequently transcribed VA-RNA genes, with no effect on viral fitness (153). In addition, VA-RNA_I binds and inhibits protein kinase R (PKR), which is synthesized in response to interferon α and β (IFN- α , IFN- β) production after viral infection (156, 157). Without this antagonization, PKR would recognize the dsRNA transiently formed by transcription of both strands of the viral genome, and phosphorylate eukaryotic initiation factor-2- α (eIF-2 α), leading to non-specific inhibition of total protein synthesis (158).

1.1.3.3 DNA Replication, Viral Assembly, and Release

Viral genome replication begins when enough E2-encoded proteins have been synthesized to support DNA synthesis. In HeLa cells infected at an MOI of 10, DNA replication occurs between 5 to 8 HPI, and continues until the cell is lysed (4).

There are two stages to HAdV DNA replication. The first stage involves replication of a single parent strand. Replication initiates from either end of the genome at the previously described terminal repeats, which act as ORIs (10, 159). This process displaces the

complementary parent strand, and therefore the first stage ends with a dsDNA genome, and a displaced ssDNA parent strand. The second stage involves replication of the displaced parent strand, however the AdDdDp requires dsDNA and an ORI for DNA replication initiation to occur. The inverted terminal repeats present at each end of the AdV genome alleviate this issue by looping around and basepairing to each other to create a duplex DNA "panhandle", which is utilized as an ORI by AdDdDp (159).

The late genes are expressed at the onset of viral DNA replication, and many of the proteins they encode were discussed at length in section 1.1.1. They encode proteins involved in virion packaging and assembly (4, 52). Two events are proposed to be responsible for the delayed transcription of late genes. First, a currently unknown change in the viral genome occurring only at the onset of DNA replication allows binding of the USF/MLTF transcription factor to the major late promoter (MLP) (160, 161). Second, the MLP contains a binding site for a transcription factor encoded by the delayed early gene IVa2, which acts in cooperation with USF/MLTF to relieve repression of the MLP (162). Viral structural proteins translocate to the nucleus where final viral assembly occurs (4, 52). Finally, the cell is lysed and at an MOI of 10, around 10,000 viral progeny are released from a single HeLa cell (79).

1.1.4 HAdV E1A Functions and Interactions with Cellular Factors

As discussed, E1A is the first viral gene expressed during infection and is essential for viral replication (75, 163). The various E1A proteins modulate viral and cellular transcription, induce host cell cycle progression to S phase to create an optimal environment for viral replication, and inhibit host anti-viral responses through a variety of intricate mechanisms.

The E1A gene encodes five proteins, termed 9S through 13S based on the sedimentation coefficients of their respective alternatively spliced mRNAs (Figure 1.4). 13S (289 residues) and 12S (243 residues) are the main products expressed early during infection, and are the best characterized (164). They differ only by a 46 amino acid sequence found

in 13S but not 12S. 11S, 10S, and primarily 9S are expressed later in infection, however their functions are not well understood (165). Recently Miller *et al.* showed that 9S E1A could independently activate expression of viral genes, and promote HAdV replication, and that replication was dependent on an interaction of 9S with the S8 component of the proteasome (77). This is intriguing as only 28 amino acids are common between 9S and the larger forms of E1A.

The structure of E1A has not been solved, proving a difficult process as it is an intrinsically disordered protein (166). However, amino acid sequence alignment of 13S E1A from various serotypes reveals four main conserved regions (CR1-CR4), which are separated by less conserved regions (167, 168). CR3 – the region unique to 13S – contains four cysteines predicted to form a zinc-finger domain, although the structure is still undetermined (164, 169). In addition, residues 16-28 of the HAdV-5 E1A are predicted to form an amphipathic α -helix (170). E1A proteins undergo extensive post-translational phosphorylation at several serine residues, although phosphorylation has little effect on E1A function (171, 172). Finally, a KRPRP nuclear localization sequence (NLS) is found at the C-terminus of E1A proteins, accounting for their nuclear localization (173).

Since E1A proteins have no enzymatic or DNA binding ability, they rely on manipulation of cellular factors to exert their effects (174). The CRs – as well as other areas – participate in important protein-protein interactions with over 50 cellular factors through independently acting short linear interaction motifs (LIMs) (166). The identification of these motifs has been important to HAdV's use as a molecular tool, as many of these linear interaction motifs are also found in cellular factors that bind the same proteins as E1A. Thus, in addition to studying the function of E1A-interacting proteins through mutational studies, their cellular binding partners can also be elucidated through bioinformatic searches for proteins containing the same motifs. For example, both the retinoblastoma tumor suppressor protein (pRb) and the transcriptional co-repressor C-terminal binding protein (CtBP) were discovered via interactions with E1A (175, 176). The linear motifs LXCXE in CR2, and PLDLS in CR4 – used by E1A for interactions

Figure 1.4 Diagram of E1A splice products and proteins. A) The primary E1A transcript is spliced into 5 different isoforms. Boxes indicate coding regions, which are separated by bent lines representing introns. Numbers indicate amino acids present in the translated protein. All proteins besides that encoded by the 9S mRNA are translated within the same reading frames, resulting in identical proteins except for the indicated deleted regions. The splicing of the 9S mRNA results in a coding region that is translated in a different frame than the other four isoforms (indicated by the blue box). B) Alignment of 13S (289R), 12S (243R), 11S (217R), and 10S (171R) proteins and location of conserved regions (CR) 1-4. 9S does not retain any of the conserved regions.



В.

A.



21

with pRb and CtBP respectively – were subsequently identified in cellular factors later shown to also bind pRb or CtBP (Figure 1.5).

1.1.4.1 Modulation of Viral and Cellular Transcription

E1A modulates transcription of a large portion of the greater than 17000 cellular promoters it is recruited to during infection (177, 178). Through various interactions with cellular sequence-specific DNA-binding transcription factors, or the proteins that regulate them, E1A proteins act as modulators of cellular and viral gene expression (179).

13S E1A is the primary trans-activator at viral early promoters, which all contain TATAboxes as well as upstream binding sites for cellular trans-activators (180, 181). HAdVs with complete knockout of 13S E1A or mutations in CR3, experience drastically reduced rates of early gene transcription (73, 182). This is because CR3 functions as a potent trans-activator by binding the DNA-binding domains of transcription factors at early HAdV promoters through its C-terminal 10 amino acids, and recruiting transcriptional regulators through its N-terminal zinc-finger domain (183, 184). CR3 binds the MED23 subunit of the Mediator (MED) complex, recruiting this co-activation complex to promoters (185, 186). This interaction is essential for CR3 trans-activation, stimulating the formation of a pre-initiation complex (PIC) – containing RNA polymerase II and the general transcription factors – on promoter DNA (185, 187, 188). Thus, through interactions with MED23, CR3 can aid in recruitment of sequence-specific transcription factors, and complexes essential for initiation of transcription at early viral genes. Interestingly, CR3 interacts with many other transcriptional activators, such as TATAbinding protein (TBP), and the p300/CREB-binding protein (CBP), but also with repressors such as GCN5 and BS69, indicating that CR3 modulation of early gene transcription is complex (189–192). The N-terminus of E1A (residues 1-41) and CR-1 together are also required for optimal early gene transactivation (193, 194). They have been shown to interact with a variety of trans-activators including histone acetylases p300/CBP and p300/CBP-associated factor (pCAF), and TBP, as well as repressors such as the p400 chromatin remodelling complex (166, 195, 196). The exact mechanisms by
Figure 1.5 Cartoon diagram of several linear interaction motifs in HAdV-5 E1A. Locations of several LIMs in E1A are denoted by arrows. The sequence of each LIM is indicated below the respective protein it interacts with. Viral and cellular proteins which contain a similar LIM as E1A, and are known to interact with the same LIM target, are listed below the HAdV-5 LIM. Amino acids highly similar to the consensus LIM binding sequence are shaded in grey. Adapted from Pelka et al., 2008 (166).



which the N-terminus and CR-1 exert their effects on viral early genes are relatively unknown.

12S E1A primarily activates transcription at the E2 early promoter, which contains two E2 transcription factor (E2F)-binding sites (197). It can do so indirectly by freeing bound E2Fs from Rb family members pRb, p107, and p130 (198). Interestingly, the E2Fs are named after their involvement at the E2 promoter, and the pRb proteins were originally identified as E1A-interacting proteins (197, 199). Free E2F subsequently interacts with the E4orf6/7 dimer as discussed previously, increasing E2F affinity for its binding sites in the E2 early promoter (150, 151). In addition, cellular genes – including those required for entry into S phase – containing E2F-binding sites become constitutively activated when E2F is released (198). The liberation of E2Fs from pRb is an important event leading to activation of host cell cycling, and therefore will be discussed more in detail in section 1.1.4.2.

In addition to modulating early gene transcription, and enabling transactivation of E2Fresponsive genes, E1A plays a complex role in modulating expression of other cellular genes. Simply stated, E1A recruits and is recruited by activators such as p300/CBP, or repressors such as pRb and CtBP to do so (177, 178). However, its effects are much more complicated. E1A can be recruited by activators such as p300 to active genes, upon which it can then recruit repression complexes to turn expression of those genes off (177, 200). The reverse can also occur, leading to activation of previously inactive genes. One example of this is the interaction of E1A with the CtBP co-repressor. Classically, E1A interacts with CtBP through a conserved PLDLS motif in CR4 (175). This removes CtBP from sequence specific transcription factors, relieving repression of cellular genes. However, CR3 was also recently found to interact with CtBP and through this interaction, direct itself to CtBP occupied promoters (201). CtBP repression is alleviated through E1A binding, and the presence of CR3 then likely causes hyper-activation at these promoters. Although the specific manners in which E1A affects all of its cellular targets are not known, the result of E1As modulation of transcription is a host cell that is optimal for viral replication.

1.1.4.2 Activation of Cell Cycle

The ability of HAdV to stimulate host cell entry into S-phase allows the virus to productively infect G_0 -arrested cells found at the sites of infection. It allows for the efficient synthesis of viral DNA and proteins, and therefore replication. Whereas 13S plays a larger role in modulating transcription due to CR3, 12S may primarily promote cell cycling. HAdV mutants expressing only 13S display drastic reductions in viral replication in G_0 -arrested cells, owing largely in part to reduced viral DNA synthesis (82, 202).

E2F transcription factors exist as heterodimers of either DP-1 or DP-2 and one of several E2F subunits. They regulate transcription of genes essential for cell cycle progression, such as: DNA polymerase α , cyclin dependent kinase (CDK) 2, cyclin A, and cyclin E (203). pRb proteins directly bind most E2Fs, repressing E2F activation by recruiting histone deacetylase and methyltransferase complexes to E2F-responsive promoters and inhibiting formation of the PIC (204–206). This effectively keeps cells in G_0/G_1 . In response to extracellular division signals and mitogens, the G_1 CDKs (cyclin D-CDK4/6 and cyclin E-CDK2) normally phosphorylate and inactivate pRb, relieving E2Fdependent gene repression, and facilitating entry into S phase (205). Both 13S and 12S E1A can bind pRb through CR1, and more importantly, through an LXCXE motif in CR2 (4). This motif binds to the Rb "pocket" domain to displace E2F, bypassing the normal cell cycle regulatory signals, and thereby forcing cell entry into S-phase due to constitutive activation of E2F-responsive promoters (198, 207). The interaction between E1A and pRb was the first example discovered of an oncoprotein interacting with a tumour-suppressor (199). Besides direct binding to pRb, E1A can antagonize CDK inhibitory proteins (CKI) such as p21, which help to keep the cell in G_1 (208). This results in overactive CDKs and thus hyperphosphorylated pRb, which cannot inhibit E2F function. Finally, it was recently shown that E1A can bind to E2F complexes independently of pRb through DP-1, and cooperate with E2F in transactivation of E2Fresponsive genes to force cells into S-phase (78).

E1A mutants unable to bind pRb still retain the ability to induce an S-phase transition in host cells, through the N-terminus/CR-1, and therefore other known and unknown targets of E1A must be influencing host cell cycling (195, 209). Recently it was found that the N-terminus/CR1/CR3 interacting protein p300 is removed by E1A from promoters of genes involved in differentiation, and re-directed to promoters involved in the cell cycle (177, 178). Since p300 is an activator that causes local hyperacetylation, the interaction may contribute to expression of genes involved in the G₁-to-S-phase transition (210). Although we have a generally good idea as to how E1A activates the cell cycle, there are still many potentially unknown targets of E1A that may play a role in this process.

1.1.4.3 Subversion of the Host Anti-Viral Response

Although the main functions of the E1A proteins are to modulate viral and cellular transcription, and induce host cells to enter the cell cycle, it is important to note that E1A can also antagonize anti-viral responses. For instance: early after infection, E1A binds the signal transducer and activator of transcription 1 (STAT1) transcription factor through the N-terminus/CR1, blocking its function (211). STAT1 normally binds to p300/CBP and IFN-regulatory factor 1 (IRF1) in response to IFN- α and β signalling due to viral infection (212). This interaction results in expression of anti-viral IFN-stimulated genes (ISGs) such as PKR (213). Therefore E1A attempts to preclude the production of antiviral factors by blocking IFN signalling. In addition, our lab recently showed that E1A can bind the human Brefeldin A sensitivity 1 (hBre1) ubiquitin ligase and prevent its monoubiquitination of histone 2B (H2B) (214). This modification is necessary for expression of ISGs, and therefore E1A subverts ISG production. Furthermore, Fonseca et al. revealed that E1A re-directs hBre1 from cellular promoters to viral promoters, and utilizes it to recruit human polymerase II-associated factor 1 (hPaf1) - an RNA polymerase II elongation factor - which increases transcription from viral early genes (215).

1.2 Discoveries in Drosophila – an Essential Model System

Since the early 1900's *Drosophila melanogaster* has played a central role in our understanding of the fundamentals of biological processes, particularly at the genetic and molecular level (216). As a small multicellular organism with a short life cycle, rapid reproduction schedule, and development stages which parallel those of humans, *Drosophila* acts as an appropriate model system for scientific discovery (216, 217). For example, T. H. Morgan and his students – the first to consider use of *Drosophila* for genetic studies – used them to discover fundamental concepts such as: recombination of homologous chromosomes, chromosomal sex determination, and the basic realization that genes are arranged linearly on chromosomes (216).

With advances in molecular techniques, *Drosophila* became the first complex multicellular organism to be used for genetic screens of genome-wide mutations affecting biological processes in the 1970s (216). Mutations in the *trp* gene encoding an ion channel gave us insight into sensory and neural processes (218–221). Mutations in the *dunce*, and *rutabaga* genes provided insight into the role of cyclic AMP in memory and behavioural processes (222, 223). Most of our knowledge of how genes regulate the organization of tissues and differentiation of cells within the human embryo is gained from analyses of their mutational effects on *Drosophila* embryo development (224). Indeed, many members of the Hedgehog signalling pathway including Patched, Smoothened, and Hedgehog itself – which plays a key role in embryonic development across all species, and regulates tissue growth in adult vertebrates – were discovered in *Drosophila* mutational screens (225).

It is currently estimated that 60 to 80 percent of genes causally linked to disease in humans have orthologues in *Drosophila* (226, 227). Mutations in *Drosophila patched* were found to alter the differentiation of cells in the epidermis of the embryo (217). Consequently, gene-mapping studies identified that germ-line mutations in the human orthologue of *patched* occur in Gorlin's syndrome – which predisposes an individual to basal-cell carcinoma – and somatic mutations in *patched* are apparent in most cases of

sporadic basal-cell carcinoma (228, 229). Furthermore, the Hedgehog signalling pathway has been implicated in mediating growth of digestive tract tumours (230, 231). In addition to examining functional orthologues of human genes in *Drosophila*, many proteins associated with a disease state in humans can be expressed in the fly to mimic the disease phenotype, thereby providing a model for study of that disease. This approach to modelling disease has been successfully employed to study three major neurodegenerative diseases: Parkinson's, Alzheimer's, and Huntington's (232–234).

One of the most powerful uses of Drosophila mutational genetic screens today is through "modifier screens" (216, 235). These screens involve a phenotype caused by a known gene of interest, and search for enhancers which worsen the severity of the phenotype, or suppressors which lessen the phenotype. Most mutations will have no effect on the phenotype, indicating no interplay between the mutated gene and the gene of interest (217). In this respect they can identify gene products which play a role in the gene of interest's molecular pathway, while also further expanding knowledge of the function of the gene of interest. For example, overexpression of kinase suppressor of Ras (KSR) in eye imaginal discs causes a rough eye phenotype (REP) in the adult eye (235). A screen of KSR-induced REP flies with flies carrying random mutations generated around 185000 mutated progeny and let to the identification 15 enhancer genes, and 4 suppressor genes, 10 of which were known components of the Ras1 signalling pathway. This helped to support prior biochemical evidence that KSR was a putative protein kinase functioning downstream of RAS signalling pathways. Similar studies have been used to further our understanding of *Hairless* functions in the Notch pathway, through its overexpressioninduced REP (236).

Studies utilizing *Drosophila* as a model organism have been paramount to our understanding of the fundamentals of genetics and molecular biology. They have given us insight into conserved biological processes surrounding diverse systems such as neural, behavioural, and developmental pathways amongst many living species. In addition they can be used as disease models, and through modifier screens, they will continue to provide valuable insight into unresolved molecular pathways well into the future. The main focus of this thesis, the DNA replication-related element-binding factor (DREF) was in fact discovered and first characterized in *Drosophila* (237).

1.2.1 Discovery of *Drosophila* DRE and DREF

Many proteins involved in DNA replication – such as DNA polymerase α and proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA), which are intimately involved in DNA elongation – are expressed at high levels in proliferating undifferentiated cells, and decrease when differentiation begins (238-240). In 1993, comparison of the PCNA and DNA polymerase α 180kDa subunit promoters in *Drosophila* revealed a common palindromic 8bp sequence (5'-TATCGATA) termed the DNA replication-related element (DRE), which is required for their transcription in both transgenic flies - including embryos and larvae – and cultured Drosophila embryonic cells (237, 241–244). Through subsequent electrophoretic mobility shift/band shift assays (EMSA) and then cloning of its complementary DNA (cDNA), Drosophila DREF (dDREF) was discovered and initially characterized. dDREF is a 709 amino acid (86kDa) protein, which binds the DRE as a homo-dimer (237, 245). Early studies revealed that mRNA expression of dDREF was temporally similar to the expression patterns of PCNA and DNA polymerase α , and that dDREF protein was found in the nucleus. Although only 71% identical, three conserved regions between Drosophila virilis and D. melanogaster termed CR1 (14-182; containing many basic residues), CR2 (432-568; containing many prolines) and CR3 (636-730; containing many acidic residues) were discovered. The locations of the conserved regions correspond to their respective positions in the slightly longer D. virilis 742 amino acid dDREF protein. CR1 contains a boundary element-associated factor and DREF (BED) zinc finger domain from residues 16-115 essential for homo-dimer formation and DNA binding (237, 246).

1.2.2 Characterization of DRE/DREF Function

Since the initial discoveries of DRE/dDREF involvement in regulating transcription from the PCNA and DNA polymerase α promoters, DREs have been identified in the promoters of over 150 Drosophila genes, 61 of which carry the DRE within 600bp upstream of the transcription initiation site (247). DREF transactivation has been linked to expression of additional proteins such as: the DNA polymerase α 73kDa subunit, E2F, DNA primase, raf, ras2/rop, TBP, cyclin A, Orc 2, Orc 5, RFC140, SkpA, moira, osa and dDREF itself (241–243, 248–259). Common amongst these proteins are their involvement in DNA replication, transcriptional and cell cycle regulation, chromatin remodelling, signal transduction for growth, and protein metabolism. Decreases in levels of functional dDREF through dominant negative mutations or RNA interference in larvae results in: decreased mRNA expression of dDREF-responsive genes, decreased DNA endoreplication in endocycling salivary glands, and decreased DNA replication in mitotic eye imaginal discs leading to an inhibition of G_1 -S phase progression, thereby demonstrating its requirement for the transition of these cells through the cell cycle (260, 261). In contrast, overexpression of dDREF in cells that have begun differentiating causes ectopic DNA replication, leading to apoptosis (256). Taken together, most evidence points to the DRE/dDREF system as being a master regulatory system for genes intimately involved in cellular proliferation, which gets shut off at the onset of differentiation (247, 262). However, as is the case with many biological systems – and to complicate matters further - there are exceptions to the rule. Knockdown of dDREF results in irregular vein formation in wing imaginal discs through impaired EGFR signalling, implicating dDREF in the regulation of some differentiation processes. This is thought to be due to the dependence of the raf gene on dDREF for transactivation (263).

1.2.3 Members of the DREF Interactome

The DRE/dDREF system's interaction network stems far beyond the genes described above. The utilization of modifier screens described in section 1.2, as well as yeast two

hybrid screens and co-immunoprecipitation techniques has led to the discovery of many cellular factors which positively or negatively affect dDREF function at the genetic or physical level.

1.2.3.1 Interactions with Positive Effects on DREF Function

In addition to the E2F gene being dDREF responsive, several dDREF responsive genes involved in cell proliferation including: DNA polymerase α 180kDa and 73kDa, raf, and PCNA, contain E2F as well as DRE sites. Therefore, the increase in E2F induced by dDREF may reciprocally act to increase transcription of dDREF-responsive genes (241, 256, 264). TBP-related factor 2 (TRF2) forms complexes with dDREF and the nucleosome remodelling factor (NURF) chromatin remodelling complex, as well as the basal transcription machinery including transcription factors IIA and IIB. This serves to activate transcription of genes distinct from those activated by TBP and TRF1 including PCNA and DNA polymerase 180kDa (265–267).

1.2.3.2 Interactions with Negative Effects on DREF Function

Drosophila Mi-2 normally functions in an ATP-dependent manner to selectively deacetylate histones at homeotic genes (268, 269). Mi-2 can also bind to the DNAbinding domain of dDREF, inhibiting dDREF from functioning (270). Reciprocally, this binding may also inhibit Mi-2's function as a histone deacetylase. Similarly, boundary element associated factor of 32 kDa (BEAF-32) acts to insulate promoters from the effects of distant regulatory elements, and prevent the spread of open and closed chromatin states by binding to the boundary element sequence 5'-CGATA – a sequence found within the DRE (271). dDREF and BEAF-32 antagonize each other and compete for binding at these sites, and thus dDREF may remove BEAF-32 – or vice versa – to shift genes into active or repressed states, modulating transcription (272). *Drosophila* XNP/dATRX is a chromatin remodelling factor which contains a SWI/SNF-like ATPase/helicase domain, but lacks a chromatin binding domain, and therefore relies on recruitment to chromatin through physical interactions with other proteins (273). Recently it was found that XNP/dATRX binds dDREF at DRE sites and selectively represses transcription of certain dDREF-responsive genes but not others – including E2F, and *osa*, but not PCNA.

1.2.3.2.1 Homeodomain-Containing Proteins

Three *Drosophila* proteins harbouring homeodomains which all convey negative effects on dDREF activity deserve special mention (Figure 1.6). Proteins containing homeodomains act as transcription factors that regulate target genes in a highly regulated temporal and spatial pattern (274). Distal-less (Dll) provides the initial signal for limb formation (275). Zerknullt (Zen) is involved in differentiation of certain dorsal tissues in the *Drosophila* embryo, including the optic lobe and amnioserosa (276). Cut expression initiates differentiation of external sensory organs of the peripheral nervous system in embryos, and its expression is maintained in these differentiated cells in adults (277– 280). It also determines the specificity of many cells in the central nervous system and ovarian follicles and continues to be expressed in these tissues in adult flies (281). DII binds directly to the DNA binding domain of dDREF, inhibiting dDREF's transactivation ability (275). Zen acts directly at the dDREF promoter, repressing expression of dDREF (282). Cut recognizes and binds with high affinity to all 8bp of the DRE, antagonizing dDREF binding in differentiated cells. It has been shown to repress expression of PCNA and likely does so for other dDREF-responsive genes (277).

As detailed above, extensive studies in *Drosophila* have revealed many genes which are regulated by the DRE/dDREF system, as well as many factors which act to positively or negatively affect dDREF function. The necessity of dDREF for the expression of many genes involved in DNA replication, transcriptional and cell cycle regulation, and protein metabolism indicates that dDREF may act as a master regulator of cellular proliferation. Furthermore, interactions of dDREF with various chromatin remodelling proteins indicates that dDREF may regulate transcription through altering the accessibility and

Figure 1.6 Complex interplay of proliferation and differentiation signals at dDREF responsive genes. dDREF positively regulates several genes related to cell proliferation including E2F, PCNA and dDREF itself. In contrast, homeodomain proteins such as Cut, Zen, and DII which are upregulated in response to differentiation signals can negatively regulate these genes. Zen directly suppresses dDREF expression. DII binds the DNA-binding domain of dDREF, inhibiting its function. Cut competes with dDREF for DRE binding. BEAF32 – although not a homeodomain protein – can also compete for DRE binding, repressing gene expression. Adapted from Matsukage et al., 2008 (262).



conformation of DNA to other transcriptional machinery. Finally, the effects of homeodomain-containing proteins on the DRE/dDREF system provide insight on the repression of dDREF-responsive cell proliferation genes at the onset of differentiation.

1.3 Human DREF

The *Drosophila* DRE/dDREF system was the first and only of its kind to be described, until approximately 10 years ago when a mammalian counterpart was discovered in humans. Since its discovery, only three papers have been published on the human DRE/DREF system, with the most recent being in 2007. Notably, all three are from the same corresponding author – Dr. Fumiko Hirose – in Japan, who discovered *Drosophila* DREF in 1993.

Independently, Esposito et al. discovered the gene encoding what we now know as hDREF in 1999, but called it Tramp (283). They localized the Tramp gene to the pseudoautosomal region 1 (PAR1) area of the X and Y chromosomes, and revealed that the gene encodes a protein with amino acid sequence similarity to the hAT family of transposases, for which it was the only member discovered at the time in the human genome. Members of the hAT family of transposases share functional and structural characteristics with McClintock's Activator in maize, including Drosophila hobo, housefly Hermes, and snapdragon Tam3 (284). They discovered that *Tramp* contains all the regions necessary to be an autonomous transposon – two terminal inverted repeats (TIRs) and a transposase – and therefore they proposed that the *Tramp* gene originated as an ancient transposon. However, functional analysis of the Tramp protein revealed an inability to recognize the TIRs of its own gene, indicating that Tramp may be a nonautonomous transposon encoding a transposase which recognizes different TIRs. In this respect it may have played a role in acquisition of transposable elements in the human genome, excluding itself. Esposito et al. also note that the Tramp protein's amino acid sequence does in fact show similarity with that of Drosophila DREF, but they do not

examine any potential biological activity of the protein as a transcription factor similar to dDREF.

1.3.1 Discovery and Characterization of hDREF

Human DNA replication-related element-binding factor (hDREF) was originally identified in 2003 by Ohshima *et al.* by utilizing a BLAST search for proteins sharing sequence similarity with dDREF (285) (Figure 1.7). CR1 of dDREF is 27.7% identical, with 48.1% amino acid similarity in humans. Further analysis revealed that the slightly smaller 694 amino acid (80kDa) human DREF shares an overall 21.3% amino acid sequence identity, and 41.0% similarity with dDREF. CR2 of dDREF shares 29.2% identity with 46.1% similarity, and CR3 shares 21.1% identity with 51.9% similarity to the respective corresponding regions of hDREF (285).

Two major domains exist in the hDREF protein (Figure 1.7). Both domains are conserved amongst members of the *hAT* transposase family, supporting the initial discovery by Esposito *et al.* that the *Tramp* gene encodes such a protein (283, 286). Firstly, a BED zinc finger domain is found at the N-terminus of hDREF in the region corresponding to dDREF CR1, and spans residues 23-72 (286). BED zinc finger domains are known DNA binding domains found in transposases and chromatin boundary element-binding proteins (287). Previous work in *Drosophila*, showed that the BED zinc finger in CR1 of dDREF is responsible for DNA binding (245, 285). Importantly, all cysteine and histidine residues in this domain are conserved between hDREF and dDREF, suggesting a common DNA binding mechanism at the N-terminus through the conserved BED C_2H_2 type zinc finger (285). However, the BED domain of hDREF on its own is not sufficient to bind DNA, nor activate transcription *in vitro* (285, 286).

Second, an hATC domain is found at the C-terminus in the region corresponding to CR3 of dDREF, spanning residues 571-651 (286). hATC domains have previously been shown to be involved in dimerization and multimerization in other hAT transposase family members such as maize Activator and housefly Hermes (288, 289). Yamashita *et*

al. found that the hATC domain in hDREF indeed facilitates and is required for homodimerization and multimerization *in vitro* and *in vivo*. A patch of hydrophobic amino acids conserved amongst the hATC domains of several hAT transposase family members proved to be critical for such interactions. Like its counterpart in *Drosophila*, hDREF is primarily found in granular structures in the nucleus (285). hATC domain-mediated selfassociation is necessary for nuclear localization and granular pattern formation of hDREF. Mutants that fail to self-associate do not interact with importin β 1 and exhibit cytoplasmic localization (286). In addition, residues 520-551 outside the hATC domain contain a classical NLS-like series of basic amino acids, which are also required for nuclear import, but not for self-association (286, 290, 291). Finally, self-association via the hATC domain is necessary to facilitate the interaction between the BED zinc finger in the N-terminus of hDREF and DNA. This indicates that hDREF may bind DNA as a homo-dimer or multimer.

Expression of the hDREF protein was found to be low in serum-starved quiescent WI-38 primary cells, gradually increasing after serum addition, and reaching maximal levels during S phase. siRNA-mediated knockdown of hDREF indicated that it might play an essential role in the transition from G_1 to S phase, as Ohshima *et al.* found that 0% compared to 30% of HeLa cells stained positive for bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) when treated for 72 hours with hDREF-specific siRNA or scrambled siRNA respectively (285). Further analysis in immortalized human foreskin fibroblasts revealed that cells overexpressing hDREF proliferate faster than cells in which hDREF is knocked down (292). In addition, hDREF was found to exist in high molecular weight complexes, which change in a cell-cycle dependent manner. Residues 652-694 may be critical for these high order interactions. However, the identity of other members of these complexes is currently unknown (286).

Figure 1.7 Cartoon diagram of *D. virilis* **and human DREF proteins**. Regions of hDREF that correspond to conserved regions of dDREF are shaded with the same colour. Amino acid locations are indicated above each respective domain. Functions of each domain and are listed beneath arrows extending from the respective regions. CR1 of dDREF contributes to homo-dimer formation and DNA binding. The BED zinc finger of hDREF contributes to DNA binding, and shares 27.7% identity and 48.1% similarity to CR1 of dDREF. A functional consequence for the hDREF region corresponding to CR2 of dDREF has not been identified, so it is not depicted. The NLS of hDREF contributes to nuclear localization, but a dDREF counterpart has not been identified. The hATC domain of hDREF contributes to homo-dimer and multimer formation, as well as nuclear localization. It shares 21.1% identity and 51.9% similarity to CR3 of dDREF.



1.3.2 hDREF/hDRE Functional Analysis

Using the cyclic amplification and selection of targets (CASTing) method, a palindromic 10bp consensus recognition sequence (5'-TGTCG(C/T)GA(C/T)A) for hDREF was identified, and termed the hDRE. Five bases of this sequence (5'-CGATA) directly overlap with those in the dDRE and the *Drosophila* BEAF-32 insulator recognition site (271, 285). Mutational analysis of the hDRE revealed that the central six bases (5'-TCG(C/T)GA) are the most important for hDREF binding. Over 500 hDRE-like sequences matching at least 7 of 10 bases of the hDRE exist in the human genome, and many of these are found within promoter regions for genes encoding proteins involved in cell proliferation. This finding indicates that hDREF may be functionally conserved from *Drosophila* to humans. Table 1.2 lists several candidate hDREF target genes, which contain hDRE-like sequences in their promoter regions, and classifies them based on their involvement in: DNA replication and metabolism, cell cycle regulation, transcription, or protein synthesis.

Category	Gene	hDRE Base Pair
		Matches (/10)
DNA Replication and	Histone H1	10
Metabolism	Deoxycytidine Kinase	9
	Deoxyguanosine Kinase	8
	Thymidine Kinase	7
	Topoisomerase IIa	7
	DNA Polymerase δ	7
	DNA Polymerase γ	7
Cell Cycle Regulation	p14ARF	9 & 8
	p21WAF1	8 & 7
	CDC25C	8
	CDC25A	7
	CDK6	8
	Cyclin D3	7
	Cyclin T1	7&7
Transcription	RNA polymerase II large subunit	9 & 8
-	RNA polymerase III 48-kDa subunit	7
	NF-κB	9&7
	TAFII55	8 & 7
Protein Synthesis	Surf-5	8
·	Asparagine Synthetase	8 & 7
	rRNA	7
	EF1A-2	7
	RPS6	8 & 8
	RPL10A	9
	RPL12	9

Table 1.2 Select human genes containing hDRE-like sequences

Note: Genes with blue letters were selected in previous studies to examine whether their transcription is affected by hDREF (285, 292). Genes with two numbers listed contain two hDRE-like sequences.

1.3.2.1 hDREF and Histone H1 Gene Expression

Histone H1 is responsible for the higher order structure of DNA, binding the core nucleosomes and linker DNA between them, and compacting the chromatin into a 30nm fibre from a simple "beads-on-a-string" form (293, 294). Its expression is tightly regulated by the cell cycle and intricately tied to DNA replication (295). It is expressed at low levels in serum-starved and differentiated cells, and transiently increases during the G1 to S phase transition (295–297). This expression pattern mimics that of hDREF. Intriguingly, the histone H1 promoter (FNC16/H1.5) contains an hDRE matching all 10 bases of the consensus sequence. hDREF was found to specifically bind the H1 promoter at this site *in vitro*. Transient luciferase assays in HeLa cells using a luciferase reporter plasmid driven by the histone H1 promoter co-transfected with hemagglutinin (HA)tagged hDREF revealed that hDREF may possibly activate transcription at the H1 promoter (285). In support of this, Ohshima et al. showed that an 88% knockdown of hDREF protein resulted in a 74% reduction in histone H1 mRNA levels in asynchronous HeLa cells using semi-quantitative real time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR). However, the reduction in histone H1 mRNA levels resulting from hDREF knockdown could be indirect and due to other factors, such as inhibited progression into S phase.

1.3.2.2 hDREF and Ribosomal Protein Gene Expression

Ribosomes are responsible for protein synthesis in all organisms, and are composed of two subunits containing rRNA and 79 ribosomal proteins (RPs), all of which are essential for ribosomal function (292, 298, 299). Much like hDREF and histone H1, rRNA and RP levels are tightly linked to progression through the cell cycle, with transcription initiating and increasing during G_1 phase, reaching maximal expression in S and G_2 phases (300– 302). Ribosome biogenesis has even been implicated as a proliferative checkpoint in the cell (302). The basic theory behind this concept is as follows: In mitogen stimulated cells, ribosome biogenesis is upregulated via the preferential loading of RP mRNAs onto preexisting ribosomes. This generates more ribosomes, increasing the translational capacity of the cell, thereby allowing the translation of mRNAs less preferred by the ribosomes, such as those for the cyclin cell cycle regulators (302). The process of ribosome biogenesis in fact consumes 80% of the energy of a proliferating cell. Thus, a cell-cycle checkpoint exists until enough ribosomes have accumulated, which will not occur unless the cell has grown enough and accumulated enough nutrients to support division. In support of this, less than 50% knockdown of a single RP – RPS6 – has been shown to impair cellular proliferation (292).

Interestingly, 37 of 79 RP genes contain an hDRE-like sequence matching at least eight bases of the hDRE consensus sequence, 22 of which contain it within 200-bp upstream of the transcription start site (TSS) (292). Furthermore, the hDRE in 20 of these genes is centered around 60bp upstream of the TSS. Thus Yamashita et al. decided to examine whether hDREF regulates expression of three select ribosomal proteins, as a means of further discovering the role of hDREF in regulating cell proliferation. RPS6 contains two hDRE-like sequences, at 51 and 538 bases upstream of the TSS, each matching eight of ten consensus bases. Ribosomal proteins Large 10A (RPL10A) and Large 12 (RPL12) contain one at 41 and 56 bases upstream of the TSS respectively, matching nine of ten consensus bases (Table 1.2). hDREF was found to bind the hDRE-like sequence of RPS6 *in vitro* via EMSA, and the promoters – albeit weakly – of all three selected RP genes *in* vivo via chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP). Transient luciferase assays in HeLa cells using a luciferase reporter plasmid driven by the RPS6, RPL10A, or RPL12 promoter cotransfected with HA-tagged hDREF revealed that hDREF may weakly activate transcription of these genes. Deletion of the hDRE abrogated transcriptional activation, indicating that the increases in luciferase activity observed from co-transfected HAhDREF were due to the hDREF-hDRE interaction. Additionally, Yamashita et al. showed that a 65% knockdown of hDREF reduced mRNA levels of all three genes, and resulted in an overall reduction in protein synthesis by 25%.

1.4 Rationale, Hypothesis, and Objectives

Dr. Peter Pelka – a former post-doctoral fellow in our lab – initially identified an interaction between E1A and hDREF through mass spectrometry analysis of immunoprecipitates of E1A *in vitro*. Although a multitude of potential E1A targets were identified, I decided to pursue hDREF for two main reasons. Firstly, it is a transcription factor involved in the expression of several genes related to cell proliferation, and its expression increases during S-phase. The two main functions of E1A are to modulate cellular and viral transcription, and to induce a G₁-to-S phase transition, and therefore the binding and manipulation of hDREF could be important for both of these functions. Secondly, because hDREF is poorly characterized, studies with the well characterized E1A protein could serve to better elucidate hDREF function. Based on this rationale, we hypothesize that the interaction between E1A and hDREF contributes to adenovirus induced transcriptional modulation and viral replication in HAdV-5 infected host cells.

To test the hypothesis, four main objectives were set:

- 1) Confirm the interaction of E1A with hDREF and map the binding site on E1A
- 2) Examine the effects of hDREF on transcription in vitro
- 3) Determine the effects of hDREF on specific viral and cellular gene transcription *in vivo*
- 4) Observe how changes in hDREF expression affect viral replication

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Cells Cultures

HT1080 human fibrosarcoma cells, HeLa cervical cancer cells, Human Embryonic Kidney (HEK) 293 cells, and IMR-90 primary human lung fibroblast cells were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM; Multicell) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Gibco), 100U penicillin mL⁻¹(Multicell), and 100μg mL⁻¹ streptomycin (Multicell). Cells were grown in a 37°C incubator with 5% CO₂.

2.2 Plasmids

Plasmids 1-24, 26, 27, and 30-32 were constructed and utilized by previous members in our lab (Table 2.1). Gal4 DNA-binding domain (Gal4-DBD) fusion plasmids express proteins with N-terminal Gal4-DBD tags (215, 303). GFP fusion plasmids express proteins with N-terminal GFP tags (78, 304). Plasmid 28 (pGL3-H1p) was constructed as previously described, however the histone H1 promoter sequence was inserted into a promoter-less and enhancer-less pGL3-basic backbone vector (Promega), instead of one containing the SV40 promoter (285). This precluded the need to subsequently remove the SV40 promoter. Plasmid 29 (pcDNA3-HA-hDREF) was obtained by generous donation from Dr. Fumiko Hirose at the University of Hyogo, Japan, and was described previously (285). Plasmid 25 (Gal4-DBD-hDREF) was created by restriction digesting full length hDREF out of plasmid 29 with SalI and HindIII (New England Biolabs) and inserting it into the same restriction sites of the parent vector pM. This generated an N-terminal Gal4-DBD-tagged hDREF. All plasmids were maintained in *Escherichia coli* strain DH5α. Large-scale preparations of plasmid DNA were generated using the HiPure Plasmid Midiprep kit (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's guidelines.

#	Name	Parent Vector	Characteristics
1	GFP-138 Ad12	nGFP	Full length 138 E1A of Ad12
2	GFP-13S Ad3	nGFP	Full length 13S E1A of Ad3
3	GFP-13S Ad5	pGFP	Full length 13S E1A of Ad5
4	GFP-13S Ad9	pGFP	Full length 13S E1A of Ad9
5	GFP-13S Ad4	pGFP	Full length 13S E1A of Ad4
6	GFP-13S Ad40	pGFP	Full length 13S E1A of Ad40
7	GFP-12S	pGFP	12S E1A of Ad5
8	GFP-11S	pGFP	11S E1A of Ad5
9	GFP-10S	pGFP	10S E1A of Ad5
10	GFP-9S	pGFP	9S E1A of Ad5
11	GFP-1-82	pGFP	AA 1-82 of Ad5 E1A
12	GFP-CR2	pGFP	AA 93-139 of Ad5 E1A
13	GFP-CR3	pGFP	AA 139-204 of Ad5 E1A
14	GFP-Exon2	pGFP	AA 187-289 of Ad5 E1A
15	GFP-Δ1-82	pGFP	AA 93-289 of Ad5 E1A
16	GFP-1-29	pGFP	AA 1-29 of Ad5 E1A
17	GFP-30-69	pGFP	AA 30-69 of Ad5 E1A
18	GFP-70-82	pGFP	AA 70-82 of Ad5 E1A
19	GFP-1-82 (Δ1-14)	pGFP	Plasmid #11 but Δ 1-14
20	GFP-1-82 (Δ4-25)	pGFP	Plasmid #11 but Δ 4-25
21	GFP-1-82 (Δ26-35)	pGFP	Plasmid #11 but $\Delta 26-35$
22	pGFP	N/A	Expresses GFP only; Control
23	Gal4-DBD-1-82	pM	AA 1-82 of Ad5 E1A
24	Gal4-DBD-CR3	pM	AA 139-204 of Ad5 E1A
25	Gal4-DBD-hDREF	pM	Full length hDREF
26	pM	N/A	Expresses Gal4-DBD only; Control
27	pGL2-(UAS) ₆ -Luc	pGL2-Basic	Luciferase reporter plasmid;
			Contains 6 UASs and a minimal
			promoter controlling luciferase gene
• •		~ ~ ~ ~ .	expression
28	pGL3-H1p-Luc	pGL3-Basic	Luciferase reporter plasmid;
			Contains full length histone
			HIpromoter (-5/1bp to -1bp)
			controlling luciferase gene
20	TODIA 2 HA LODEE		expression
29 20	pcDNA3-HA-nDKEF	pcDINA3-HA	Full length nDKEF
30	pcDNA3-HA	IN/A	Expresses nemaggiutinin only;
21	noDNA2 nDh	noDNA2	Control and IIII-IN DINA Eull lon oth pDh
31 32	pcDNA3-pKD	pcDINA5	Full leligtin pKD
32	pcDNA3	1N/A	non-coung plasmid; Fill-in DNA

Table 2.1. List of Plasmids

Note: Gal4-DBD = AA1-147 of Gal4; UAS (Upstream Activation Sequence) = The Gal4-DBD binding site

2.3 Plasmid Transfections

 10cm^2 dishes (Sarstedt) were used for all transfections in co-immunoprecipitation experiments, and 1×10^6 HT1080 or HeLa cells were plated 24 hours before transfection. 6-well plates (Sarstedt) were used for transfections in luciferase assay experiments, and 2×10^5 HT1080 and HeLa cells were plated 24 hours before transfection. Purified plasmid DNA was transfected into cells using X-tremeGENE HP DNA Transfection Reagent (Roche) as per the manufacturer's protocol.

2.4 Viruses and Infections

All HAdV infections were carried out at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 5 PFU per cell. The inoculated cells were incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ until their collection at time points indicated by individual experiments. All HAdVs used were derived from the HAdV-5 dl309 (wild-type; WT) background which contains a small deletion in the E3 region, knocking out the E3 14.7K, 14.5K and 10.4K proteins (163, 305). Viruses utilized throughout the experiments, and their respective E1A mutations are as follows: dl312 (Δ E1A), dl343 (Non-functional E1A due to frameshift after the codon for amino acid 20), dl309 (WT), dl1101 (Δ 4-25), dl1102 (Δ 26-35), dl1103 (Δ 30-49). Besides dl312 which expresses no E1A, all viruses express both 13S and 12S E1A.

2.5 Co-immunoprecipitation and Western Blotting

2.5.1 Co-immunoprecipitation of HT-1080 and HeLa Cell Lysates

HT-1080 cells co-transfected with indicated plasmids, and HAdV-infected HeLa cells were collected at 24 and 12 hours post-transfection or post-infection respectively. Cells were washed in 1mL of Phosphate-Buffered Saline (PBS; Multicell), pelleted, and lysed in 1mL of 0.5% NP-40 lysis buffer (0.5% NP-40, 150mM NaCl, 50mM Tris-HCl pH 7.8)

containing 0.5% Complete Protease Inhibitor Cocktail (Sigma-Aldrich). Cells were centrifuged at 13000g to pellet the cell debris, and then 1mL of lysate was transferred to cold 1.5mL Eppendorf tubes. 20µl of lysate was transferred to new tubes to be used as a 2% input loading and plasmid expression control. The remaining 980µl of lysate was subject to immunoprecipitation. $1\mu L$ of α -Green Fluorescent Protein (GFP) rabbit polyclonal antibody (Ab) or 80µL of the hybridoma-produced M73 α-E1A Ab (Table 2.2), along with 125µL of a 10% slurry of protein-A sepharose beads (Sigma-Aldrich) suspended in E1A Buffer (50mM Hepes pH7, 0.1% NP-40, 250mM NaCl) was added to each experimental tube. Samples were incubated with gentle rocking at 4°C for two to four hours. Immunoprecipitated lysates were spun down at 13000g and washed five times in NP-40 lysis buffer to diminish non-specific background binding. Protein-antibodybead complexes were suspended in 25μ L of 2X LDS Sample Buffer (Invitrogen) containing 0.1M dithiothreitol (DTT). Input lysates were suspended in 10µL of 3X LDS Sample Buffer. All samples were then boiled for five minutes at 100°C to denature proteins and separate them from the antibody-bead complexes. Proteins were separated on NuPAGE 4-12% Bis-Tris polyacrylamide gradient gels (Invitrogen) and then transferred onto a polyvinylidene fluoride membrane (PVDF; Amersham) according to the supplier's protocol. Membranes were blocked in Tris-Buffered Saline containing 0.1% Tween-20 (Sigma-Aldrich) (TBS-T), and 5% weight/volume skim milk powder (BioShop), for one hour at room temperature. The membrane was then incubated in 20mL of the indicated diluted primary antibody (Table 2.2) overnight at 4°C. After washing in TBS-T four times for eight minutes each, the membrane was incubated in 20mL of the indicated diluted horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated species-specific secondary antibody (Table 2.2) for 45 minutes at room temperature. The membrane was subject to four final TBS-T washes for eight minutes each, before detecting protein bands using the Luminata Forte Western HRP substrate (Millipore) according to the supplier's recommendations. Images were developed on high performance Hyperfilm ECL film (Amersham) using an SRX-101A automated developer (Konika Minolta Medical Imaging).

Specificity	Description	Usage	Dilution	Company	Catalogue #
			Factor		
			from Stock		
Actin	Rabbit	Primary	1:2000	Sigma-	M-7023
	polyclonal			Aldrich	
GFP	Rabbit	Primary	1:2000	Clontech	632592
	polyclonal				
GFP	Rabbit	IP	1:1000	Clontech	632592
	polyclonal		(1µL)		
HA	Rat	Primary	1:2000	Roche	11867423001
	monoclonal				
Gal4-DBD	Mouse	Primary	1:2000	Santa Cruz	Sc-510
	monoclonal				
hDREF	Rabbit	Primary	1:1000	Abcam	Ab48355
	polyclonal				
E1A (M73)	Mouse	Primary	1:200	In house	N/A
	monoclonal		(100µL)	hybridoma	
E1A (M73)	Mouse	IP	1:12.5	In house	N/A
	monoclonal		(80µL)	hybridoma	
Rat IgG	Goat	Secondary	1:200000	Thermo	31470
				Scientific	
Rabbit IgG	Goat	Secondary	1:100000	Santa Cruz	Sc-2004
Mouse IgG	Rabbit	Secondary	1:200000	Santa Cruz	Sc-358923

Table 2.2 List of antibodies

Note: Primary and secondary antibodies are diluted and applied to membranes in TBS-T containing 5% skim milk powder. Immunoprecipitation (IP) antibodies are added directly to 1mL of lysate

2.5.2 Western Blotting of Other HT-1080, HeLa, and IMR-90 Cell Lysates

All Western blots were performed in identical fashion subsequent to loading the proteins on a gel. There were slight changes in protocol prior to this step, however, for Western blots that were not the product of co-immunoprecipitation experiments. First, the volume of NP-40 lysis buffer varied among experiments. Cells plated on: 10cm^2 dishes were lysed in 1mL of NP-40 buffer; 6-well dishes were lysed in 200µL; and 12-well dishes were lysted in 100µL. IMR-90 cells plated on 6-well dishes were lysed in 50µL of NP-40 lysis buffer. Next, the protein concentration of each lysate was measured using a Bradford DC Protein assay kit (Bio-Rad), such that 20-30 µg of total protein from each sample could accurately be loaded on a gel.

2.6 Luciferase Assays

2.6.1 Gal4 Luciferase Assays

Cells were transfected with 0.1µg or 1.0µg of the pGL2-(UAS)₆-Luc reporter (Plasmid 27) and indicated Gal4-DBD fusion plasmids (Table 2.1). A total of 2µg of plasmid DNA was transfected into each sample, using empty pcDNA3 plasmid as fill-in to maintain identical total DNA concentrations among all transfections. After 24 hours in HT-1080 cells, or 48 hours in HeLa cells, cells were lysed in 200µL of Reporter Lysis Buffer (Promega E397A) diluted in PBS. To detect luciferase production, 50µL of Luciferase Substrate (Promega E151A) was mixed with 50µL of lysate immediately prior to detection of light by a Lumat LB 9507 luminometer (Berthold). Lysates were also subject to Bradford assays and Western blots as described in section 2.5.2. Results were initially normalized based on protein concentration as determined by Bradford assays, and then related to luciferase activity readout of a Gal4-DBD empty plasmid control.

2.6.2 Histone H1 Promoter Luciferase Assays

Histone H1 promoter luciferase assays were carried out as described in section 2.7.1, however 0.1µg of pGL3-H1p-Luc (Plasmid 28) was used as a reporter (Table 2.1). The pcDNA3-HA-hDREF plasmid was co-transfected in increasing concentrations. pcDNA3-HA empty vector was used as fill-in DNA to reach a total of 2µg of transfected plasmid DNA. Results were normalized initially based on protein concentration, and then related to luciferase activity readout of samples transfected with only the pGL3-H1p plasmid.

2.7 siRNA Knockdown

Downregulation of hDREF was performed using two combined Silencer Select siRNAs (s17567/s17568; Ambion). siRNA transfections were carried out using Silentfect (Bio-Rad), with slight modifications to the manufacturer's protocol. In HeLa cells used for quantitative RT-PCR experiments, siRNAs were transfected 18 hours after plating $1x10^6$ cells on a $10cm^2$ dish, to a final concentration of 15nM (7.5nM of each hDREF siRNA). 15µL of Silentfect was used per well. In IMR-90 cells used for viral plaque assay experiments, siRNAs were transfected 18 hours after plating $1x10^5$ cells on 6-well dishes, to a final concentration of 10nM (5nM of each hDREF siRNA). 2µL of Silentfect was used per well. Scrambled siRNA (Negative Control No. 2; AM4613; Ambion) was used as a control.

2.8 Quantitative RT-PCR

HeLa cells were subject to siRNA knockdown of hDREF as indicated in section 2.7. 24 hours later, the cells were subcultured to 12-well dishes, at 1×10^5 cells per well. After a total of 72 hours post-siRNA knockdown, cells were infected with the indicated viruses at an MOI of 5 PFU per cell. At 6 and 10 HPI, total RNA was prepared from HeLa cells using Trizol reagent (Ambion). 1µg of RNA was reverse transcribed to cDNA using the qScript cDNA SuperMix kit (Quanta) as per the manufacturer's instructions. cDNA was

quantified according to the manufacturer's protocol, using PerfeCTa SYBR Green FastMix (Quanta) and oligonucleotide primers that recognize the indicated target gene (Table 2.3). Quantification was performed by the MyiQ Single Color Real-Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad). Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) was used as an internal control. Results were analyzed using the $2^{-(\Delta\Delta CT)}$ method, normalizing values first to GAPDH and then to mock infected samples.

2.9 Viral Plaque Assays

IMR-90 cells were transfected with hDREF siRNA as indicated in section 2.7. Cells were then grown to confluence, and then contact inhibited cultures were incubated for an additional 3 days, to allow for complete growth arrest (77, 78). Next, cells were infected with the indicated viruses at an MOI of 5 PFU per cell. IMR-90 cells and supernatant were collected at 4, 48, and 120 HPI. Samples were subjected to three cycles of freeze-thawing between -80°C and 4°C, in order to lyse the cells and release the virus. HEK293 cells were then plated on 48-well dishes and grown to confluence. Next, 100µL of the indicated serially diluted virus previously collected from the IMR-90 cells was used to inoculate them. Cells were briefly incubated for 1 hour at 37°C and 5% CO₂. Subsequently, the inoculum was removed, and 300µL of SeaPlaque Low Melting Point Agarose (Lonza) mixed in a ratio of 1.5:1 with 2X DMEM (Gibco) was applied as an overlay. 8 days later plaques were enumerated and used to determine viral titre.

 Table 2.3 List of oligonucleotide primers used for Real-Time PCR

Gene	Forward Primer (5'-3')	Reverse Primer (5'-3')	Amplicon Size (bp)
GAPDH	ACTGCTTAGCACCCCTGGCCAA	ATGGCATGGACTGTGGTCATGAGTC	79
E2e	GGGGGTGGTTTCGCGCTGCTCC	GCGGATGAGGCGGCGTATCGAG	138
E3	GAGGCAGAGCAACTGCGCC	GCTCTCCCTGGGCGGTAAGCCGG	151
E4	GCCCCCATAGGAGGTATAAC	GGCTGCCGCTGTGGAAGCGC	129
H1	TTTCTTGCCACCATGTCGGA	TTGCCTTCTTCTTAGCCGGG	85
RPS6	ACGCTCTGGGTGAAGAATGG	AAGACACCCTGCTTCATGGG	88

Note: All primers were supplied by Sigma-Aldrich. Annealing stage of RT-PCR was consistently performed at 55°C.

3 Results

3.1 Mapping the Interaction Between E1A and hDREF to Specific Regions of the E1A Protein

3.1.1 Identification of Conserved Interactions between hDREF and 13S E1A of Representative Members of HAdV Species A Through F

Many important interactions with cellular factors such as CtBP, GCN5, pRb, and p300 are conserved amongst various serotypes from the six main species of HAdV (166, 189, 304). Therefore, the identification of new factors displaying conserved interactions with E1A amongst different species possibly indicates an important role for those factors during the HAdV life cycle. The interaction between HAdV-5 13S E1A and hDREF was initially identified in our lab by Dr. Peter Pelka, through mass spectrometry analyses of immunoprecipitates of E1A (Data not shown). To examine whether the interaction with hDREF was conserved across species A through F, we utilized co-immunoprecipitation techniques. HT-1080 cells were co-transfected with plasmids encoding HA-tagged hDREF, and GFP-tagged 13S E1A from representative members of HAdV species A through F: HAdV-12, 3, 5, 9, 4, and 40 respectively. 24 hours later, cells were collected, lysed, and subject to immunoprecipitation using an α -GFP antibody. Western blots were subsequently carried out to determine which serotypes co-immunoprecipitated hDREF through E1A. Results indicated that there is indeed a conserved interaction between hDREF and 13S E1A from serotypes 12, 3, 5, 9, and 4 of species A through E, but not serotype 40 of species F (Figure 3.1). Since HAdV-5 is well characterized, and the majority of molecular tools in our lab were constructed from HAdV-5, it was the serotype of choice for subsequent experiments in this thesis (65).

Figure 3.1 The interaction of hDREF with 13S E1A from various HAdV species. HT-1080 cells were co-transfected with 1µg of a plasmid encoding HA-tagged hDREF, and 7µg of a plasmid encoding GFP-tagged 13S E1A from representative members of HAdV species A through F: HAdV-12, 3, 5, 9, 4, and 40 respectively. Empty GFP vector was used as a negative control. 24 hours later, cells were collected, lysed, and subject to immunoprecipitation using an α -GFP antibody. Western blots were then carried out using α -HA, and α -GFP antibodies.



3.1.2 Interaction of hDREF with E1A lsoforms

As depicted in Figure 1.4, each E1A protein contains regions shared with 13S, but also contains specifically spliced regions. Binding of proteins to certain E1A isoforms, but not others can be used to expedite the process of mapping an interaction. For instance, binding to 13S but not 12S would indicate potential binding in CR3. Thus, we next examined whether any of the other four isoforms of E1A from HAdV-5 were able to bind hDREF. HT-1080 cells were co-transfected with plasmids encoding HA-tagged hDREF, and GFP-tagged 13S, 12S, 11S, 10S, and 9S E1A from HAdV-5. 24 hours later, cells were collected, lysed, and subject to immunoprecipitation using an α -GFP antibody. Western blots were subsequently carried out to determine which isoforms hDREF co-immunoprecipitated with. Results indicated that all five isoforms of HAdV-5 E1A can bind hDREF *in vitro* (Figure 3.2). Since the only residues common to all five isoforms are the first 26 amino acids, our initial results suggested that hDREF binds to E1A through the N-terminus (77).

3.1.3 Identification of the hDREF Binding Site on E1A

In order to more precisely define the location of the hDREF binding site on E1A, we performed a series of co-immunoprecipitation experiments, using increasingly specific E1A mutants. HT-1080 cells were co-transfected with plasmids encoding HA-tagged hDREF, and GFP-tagged E1A constructs. 24 hours later, cells were collected, lysed, and subject to immunoprecipitation using an α -GFP antibody. Western blots were subsequently carried out to determine which E1A mutants hDREF could co-immunoprecipitate with.

Initially we examined deletion mutants containing conserved regions of E1A. The following plasmids were transfected, encoding various portions of 13S E1A: AA1-82 which contains the N-terminus and also CR1 spanning residues 42-72; AA93-139 which
Figure 3.2 The interaction of hDREF with different HAdV-5 isoforms. HT-1080 cells were co-transfected with 1µg of a plasmid encoding HA-tagged hDREF, and 7µg of a plasmid encoding GFP-tagged 13S, 12S, 11S, 10S, or 9S E1A from HAdV-5. Empty GFP vector was used as a negative control. 24 hours later, cells were collected, lysed, and subject to immunoprecipitation using an α -GFP antibody. Western blots were then carried out using α -HA, and α -GFP antibodies.



contains CR2 spanning residues 116-139; AA139-204 which contains CR3 spanning residues 144-191; AA187-289 which contains CR4 spans residues 240-288; or AA93-289 which contains the entire protein besides the N-terminus and CR1 (166). Consistent with Figure 3.2, my results indicated that hDREF binds E1A within the first 82 amino acids (Figure 3.3). In addition, hDREF does not bind regions outside the first 82 amino acids, as indicated by the lack of binding to the construct expressing GFP-tagged residues 93-289. It is important to note that the exact figure displayed was chosen as the clearest representation of multiple replicates of this experiment. The band representing coimmunoprecipitated hDREF through residues 1-82 was consistently as intense as that for 13S E1A, throughout all replicates. Despite the fact that a faint band indicating coimmunoprecipitated hDREF was present for residues 144-191, and even weaker bands were present for binding of residues 93-139 and 93-289, I believe they represent false, non-specific interactions. In other replicates of this experiment these hDREF bands never appeared more intense than those depicted in Figure 3.3, were frequently absent from the blots, and occasionally appeared less intense than the negative control, despite the fact that their respective GFP-tagged E1A constructs were consistently expressed at higher levels than GFP-13S and GFP-1-82.

Next, we transfected plasmids encoding three small, non-overlapping fragments of the first 82 amino acids of E1A. Residues 1-29 displayed hDREF binding, while residues 30-69 and 70-82 were deficient for binding (Figure 3.4). Finally, we transfected plasmids encoding amino acids 1-82 with the following deletions: $\Delta 1$ -14; $\Delta 4$ -25; $\Delta 26$ -35. A deletion of residues 1-14 did not appear to affect binding of the N-terminus to hDREF, as a band nearly as intense as full length 1-82 was detected (Figure 3.5). In contrast, deletions of residues 4-25 or 26-35 severely reduced hDREF co-immunoprecipitation. Low intensity hDREF bands were visible in all replicates of the experiment, indicating weak binding of hDREF to these N-terminal deletion mutants. Collectively the results obtained from figures 3.2 through 3.5 indicate that residues 15-26 of E1A are sufficient for a level of hDREF binding comparable to that of the N-terminal 82 amino acids, and thus full length 13S.

Figure 3.3 The N-terminal 82 amino acids of E1A bind to hDREF. HT-1080 cells were co-transfected with 1µg of a plasmid encoding HA-tagged hDREF, and 7µg of a plasmid encoding a GFP-tagged fragment of E1A: amino acids 1-82, 93-139, 139-204, 187-289, or 93-289. Empty GFP vector was used as a negative control. GFP-tagged 13S E1A was used as a positive control. 24 hours later, cells were collected, lysed, and subject to immunoprecipitation using an α -GFP antibody. Western blots were then carried out using α -HA, and α -GFP antibodies.



Figure 3.4 The N-terminal 29 amino acids of E1A independently bind to hDREF. HT-1080 cells were co-transfected with 1µg of a plasmid encoding HA-tagged hDREF, and 7µg of a plasmid encoding a small GFP-tagged fragment of the first 82 amino acids of E1A: 1-29, 30-69, or 70-82. Empty GFP vector was used as a negative control. GFP-tagged 1-82 of E1A was used as a positive control. 24 hours later, cells were collected, lysed, and subject to immunoprecipitation using an α -GFP antibody. Western blots were then carried out using α -HA, and α -GFP antibodies.



Figure 3.5 Deletion of residues 4-25 or 26-35 reduce the ability of the N-terminal 82 amino acids of E1A to bind hDREF. HT-1080 cells were co-transfected with 1µg of a plasmid encoding HA-tagged hDREF, and 7µg of a plasmid encoding GFP-tagged amino acids 1-82 of E1A with deletions in residues 1-14, 4-25, or 26-35. Empty GFP vector was used as a negative control. GFP-tagged 1-82 of E1A was used as a positive control. 24 hours later, cells were collected, lysed, and subject to immunoprecipitation using an α -GFP antibody. Western blots were then carried out using α -HA, and α -GFP antibodies.



3.1.4 Confirmation of the Interaction between E1A and hDREF during Infection

Although our previous results identified an interaction between E1A and hDREF, they were derived from transfection based assays using overexpressed proteins. To determine whether the interaction between E1A and endogenous hDREF could occur during an actual infection, I decided to use a more relevant model. HeLa cells were infected at an MOI of 5 PFU per cell with HAdV-5 virus expressing wild-type E1A (dl309), E1A mutated in various N-terminal regions (dl1101/ Δ 4-25; dl1102/ Δ 26-35; or dl1103/ Δ 30-49), or not expressing E1A (dl312). 12 hours later, cells were collected, lysed, and subject to immunoprecipitation using the M73 α E1A antibody. Western blots for E1A and endogenous hDREF were subsequently performed. My results indicated that 13S E1A produced during an HAdV-5 infection can interact with endogenous hDREF (Figure 3.6). Results were also consistent with those in Figure 3.5, confirming a greater reduction in the ability of E1A to bind endogenous hDREF when residues 4-25 and 26-35 are deleted, as compared to when residues 30-49 are deleted.

In summary, the results of our co-immunoprecipitation transfection-based and infectionbased experiments indicate a definite interaction between E1A and hDREF. The interaction is conserved amongst representative serotypes from HAdV species A through E but not F, and all 5 isoforms of HAdV-5 E1A can bind hDREF. The N-terminal 29 amino acids appear to form a primary binding site for hDREF, of which residues 15-26 are sufficient for binding. The goal of our mapping experiments was to identify a minimal binding region in E1A which was necessary for the hDREF interaction. We then intended to alter that region to create an HAdV-5 derivative encoding an E1A mutant unable to bind hDREF. The virus would have been used to study the effects of the hDREF-E1A interaction on viral and cellular gene transcription, as well as viral replication (objectives three and four). However, due to time restraints for the completion of a Master's degree, this was not feasible. Since both the Δ 4-25 and Δ 26-35 E1A mutants displayed reduced binding – but neither completely abolished binding – a series Figure 3.6 Deletions in residues 4-25 and 26-35 reduce the ability of 13S E1A produced during infection to bind endogenous hDREF. HeLa cells were infected at an MOI of 5 PFU per cell with HAdV-5 mutants possessing distinct E1A phenotypes: dl312 (Δ E1A), dl309 (WT), dl1101 (Δ 4-25), dl1102 (Δ 26-35), or dl1103 (Δ 30-49). 12 hours later, cells were collected, lysed, and subject to immunoprecipitation using the M73 α -E1A antibody. Western blots for E1A and endogenous hDREF were subsequently performed.



of more refined deletion mutants within these regions would have to be constructed and tested. In lieu of the time restraints, we proceeded to address the second objective of this thesis, and subsequently utilize siRNA against hDREF to specifically address objectives three and four.

3.2 Determining the Effects of hDREF on Transcription *in vitro*

3.2.1 Selecting an Appropriate Cell Line

Previously published luciferase experiments indicated that hDREF was a weak transactivator in HeLa cells (285, 292). For these experiments, the full length promoters for genes encoding histone H1, RPS6, RPL10A, and RPL12 were cloned into promoter-less and enhancer-less luciferase reporter plasmids. All of the respective promoters contained an hDRE-like sequence, matching 8 to 10 bases of the hDRE consensus. Their results indicated that upon transfection of 100ng of the reporter and 100 to 300ng of a plasmid encoding HA-hDREF, luciferase activity ranged from 1.2 to approximately 2.8 fold higher then when HA-hDREF was not transfected. The authors stated that further investigation of hDREF as a trans-activator was warranted. I decided to repeat one of the previous experiments which examined the histone H1 promoter-containing luciferase reporter. In addition, we performed a series of luciferase assays, in order to examine the trans-activation ability of hDREF through various methods. To select an appropriate cell line, we performed a Western blot on lysates from several asynchronously growing human cell lines (Figure 3.7). Results indicated that out of the four cell lines examined, HeLa cervical carcinoma cells expressed the highest amount of endogenous hDREF, while IMR-90 primary human lung fibroblast cells expressed the least. HT1080 fibrosarcoma cells and transformed HEK293 cells expressed intermediate levels of hDREF. We hypothesized that examining hDREF trans-activation at the histone H1 hDRE-containing promoter using transfection based luciferase assays would yield more significant results in HT1080 cells than HeLa cells. The increased levels of endogenous

Figure 3.7 Comparison of endogenous hDREF levels in asynchronous populations of four cell lines. Asynchronous IMR90, 293, HT1080, and HeLa cells were collected, and lysed. Western blots were performed using α -hDREF and α -actin antibodies.



hDREF in HeLa cells may promote high background activation at hDRE-containing promoters. This could act to obscure any observable differences which would otherwise be obtained from transfecting small amounts of HA-hDREF expression plasmid. Thus we chose to use the easily transfectable HT1080 cell line for all luciferase assays. In addition, all experiments were later repeated separately in HeLa cells, although fewer conditions were tested in each experiment.

3.2.2 Examining hDREF Transactivation of a Simple Gal4 DNA-Binding Domain-Responsive Luciferase Reporter

We initially examined whether hDREF had the ability to act as a trans-activator by recruiting the transcriptional machinery to a minimal promoter. HT1080 cells were cotransfected with increasing amounts of a plasmid encoding Gal4 DNA-binding domaintagged hDREF (Gal4-DBD-hDREF) and 0.1µg of a Gal4-responsive luciferase reporter plasmid (pGL2-(UAS)₆-Luc). The reporter plasmid contains the luciferase gene under the control of a minimal promoter, with six upstream activation sequences (UASs) acting as Gal4 binding sites. A construct encoding Gal4-DBD-tagged amino acids 1-82 of E1A (Gal4-DBD-1-82) was used as a positive control, as the N-terminus of E1A is known to act as a strong trans-activator (166). A construct encoding the Gal4-DBD alone was used as a negative control, since the Gal4-DBD requires an activation domain to trans-activate through the UAS. 24 hours after transfection, cells were collected, lysed, and luciferase activity was measured. Results were initially normalized based on protein concentration as determined by Bradford assays, and then calculated relative to the luciferase activity value of the negative control. When 1.6ng, 8.0ng, 1.0µg, 1.5µg, or 1.9µg of the Gal4-DBD-hDREF plasmid were transfected, significant decreases in luciferase activity relative to the negative control were observed (*=p<0.05; **=p<0.01; ***=p<0.001) (Figure 3.8). A similar lack of activation was observed in HeLa cells; however, no significant reductions in luciferase activity relative to the negative control were observed in these cells (Figure 3.9). In both cell lines, the Gal4-DBD-1-82 fusion activated strongly. Western blots also demonstrated that the Gal4-DBD-hDREF fusion expression

Figure 3.8 Transactivation of a Gal4-DBD-responsive luciferase reporter plasmid containing a minimal promoter by Gal4-DBD-hDREF (HT1080). HT1080 cells were co-transfected with 1.6ng to 1.9µg of a plasmid encoding Gal4 DNA-binding domain-tagged hDREF (Gal4-DBD-hDREF) and 0.1µg of a Gal4-responsive luciferase reporter plasmid (pGL2-(UAS)₆-Luc). Empty pcDNA3 plasmid was transfected to maintain a total of 2µg of transfected plasmid DNA in all samples. 1.9µg of a construct encoding Gal4-DBD-tagged amino acids 1-82 of E1A (Gal4-DBD-1-82) was transfected as a positive control. 1.9µg of a construct encoding Gal4-DBD alone was used as a negative control. 24 hours after transfection, cells were collected, lysed, and luciferase activity was measured. A) Results were initially normalized based on protein concentration as determined by Bradford assays, and then calculated relative to the luciferase activity present in the negative control. Results are indicative of the means (±SEM) of at least three independent experiments (* = p<0.05; ** = p<0.01; *** = p<0.001). B) Western blots were performed using α -Gal4 and α -actin antibodies to examine expression of Gal4-hDREF under each transfection condition.

300-Relative Luciferase Activity * 200 100-2₇ 1. *** *** ** *** 0 Luciferase Reporter -Gal4-DBD-1-82 -0.5 µg Gal4-DBD-hDREF -1.6ng Gal4-DBD-hDREF -Gal4-DBD 8.0ng Gal4-DBD-hDREF 0.2 µg Gal4-DBD-hDREF 1.0 µg Gal4-DBD-hDREF -1.5 µg Gal4-DBD-hDREF 1.9 µg Gal4-DBD-hDREF 40.0ng Gal4-DBD-hDREF



В

Figure 3.9 Transactivation of a Gal4-DBD-responsive luciferase reporter plasmid containing a minimal promoter by Gal4-DBD-hDREF (HeLa). HeLa cells were cotransfected with 0.1 to 1.9µg of a plasmid encoding Gal4 DNA-binding domain-tagged hDREF (Gal4-DBD-hDREF) and 0.1µg of a Gal4-responsive luciferase reporter plasmid (pGL2-(UAS)₆-Luc). Empty pcDNA3 plasmid was transfected to maintain a total of 2µg of transfected plasmid DNA in all samples. 1.9µg of a construct encoding Gal4-DBD-tagged amino acids 1-82 of E1A (Gal4-DBD-1-82) was transfected as a positive control. 1.9µg of a construct encoding Gal4-DBD alone was used as a negative control. 48 hours after transfection, cells were collected, lysed, and luciferase activity was measured. A) Results were initially normalized based on protein concentration as determined by Bradford assays, and then related to luciferase activity readout of the negative control. Results are indicative of the means (±SEM) of at least three independent experiments (* = p<0.05). B) Western blots were performed using α -Gal4 and α -actin antibodies to examine expression of Gal4-hDREF under each transfection condition.



В

Actin

increased in parallel with increased levels of transfected expression vector (Figures 3.8 B and 3.9 B). My results show that hDREF on its own does not have the ability to independently recruit the transcriptional machinery to a minimal promoter and drive luciferase gene expression.

3.2.3 Effect of hDREF on E1A-Induced Transactivation of a Simple Gal4 DNA-Binding Domain-Responsive Luciferase Reporter

Although hDREF did not appear to function as an independent activator of transcription in the experiments described above, it remained possible that its interaction with E1A could modulate E1A's ability to activate transcription. To test this, I next examined whether hDREF specifically enhanced or repressed the ability of Gal4-DBD-tagged E1A trans-activation domains to induce transcription from the pGL2-(UAS)₆-Luc reporter. My previous data indicated that amino acids 1-82 of E1A could bind hDREF strongly, but that CR3 could not bind hDREF strongly (Figure 3.3). Thus we hypothesized that hDREF would enhance Gal4-DBD-tagged transcriptional activation by E1A AA1-82 but not by E1A CR3. HT1080 cells were co-transfected with 0.1µg of the pGL2-(UAS)₆-Luc reporter plasmid, and 0.9µg of plasmids encoding either Gal4-DBD-1-82, Gal4-DBD-CR3, or Gal4-DBD alone, along with increasing amounts of pcDNA3-HA-hDREF plasmid. A plasmid encoding pRb was used as a co-transfected negative control with Gal4-DBD-1-82, as pRb interacts with the N-terminus of E1A and is a transcriptional repressor (306, 307). 24 hours after transfection, cells were collected, lysed, and luciferase activity was measured. Results were initially normalized based on protein concentration as determined by Bradford assays, and then calculated relative to the luciferase activity value of the Gal4-DBD control. Transfection of 1.0µg of pcDNA3-HA-hDREF resulted in significant 3.5 fold (p=0.0421) and 8.2 fold (p=0.0225) reductions of AA1-82 and CR3-induced luciferase activity respectively (Figure 3.10). When lower amounts of hDREF plasmid were transfected, reductions in AA1-82-induced luciferase activity were not observed; however, non-significant concentration-dependent decreases to CR3-induced luciferase activity were consistently observed. In addition,

transfection of $1.0\mu g$ of pcDNA3-HA-hDREF plasmid significantly reduced the background luciferase activity induced by the Gal4-DBD alone by 1.9 fold (p=0.0041). Similar trends were observed in HeLa cells, however no significant changes in transcriptional activation were detected (Figure 3.11). My results indicate that hDREF non-specifically reduces the ability of AA1-82 and CR3 of E1A to activate transcription of a minimal promoter in a concentration-dependent manner.

3.2.4 Evaluating hDREF Transactivation of a Luciferase Gene Under Control of the hDRE-Containing Histone H1 Promoter

My previous results indicated that hDREF does not have the ability to trans-activate a minimal promoter (Figure 3.8/3.9), and that transfection based overexpression of hDREF resulted in a reduction of trans-activation by AA1-82 and CR3 of E1A at a minimal promoter, which occurred irrespective of their individual ability to bind hDREF (Figure 3.10/3.11). It is important to note, however, that the minimal promoter in the pGL2-(UAS)₆-Luc reporter contains only a TATA box. To complete our assessment of the effects of hDREF on transcription *in vitro*, we chose to replicate the original experiment published by Ohshima *et al.*, which examined hDREF transactivation through the full length histone H1 promoter (285). Since the histone H1 promoter contains an hDRE site which matches all ten bases of the consensus sequence, it could potentially provide a more accurate depiction of the role of hDREF in trans-activation than the artificial context of a minimal promoter.

I cloned the histone H1 promoter (-537bp to -1bp) from HeLa cells, into a promoter-less and enhancer-less luciferase reporter plasmid to create pGL3-H1p-Luc as previously described in section 2.2. HT1080 cells were then transfected with 0.1µg of the pGL3-H1p-Luc reporter, and increasing amounts of pcDNA3-HA-hDREF. 24 hours after transfection, cells were collected, lysed, and luciferase activity was measured. Results were initially normalized based on protein concentration as determined by Bradford assays, and then calculated relative to the luciferase activity value of the sample containing the reporter plasmid alone. Consistent with previously published data, my Figure 3.10 Effects of hDREF on the ability of Gal4-DBD-tagged amino acids 1-82 and CR3 of E1A to transactivate a Gal4-DBD-responsive luciferase reporter plasmid (HT1080). HT1080 cells were co-transfected with 0.1µg of a Gal4-responsive luciferase reporter plasmid (pGL2-(UAS)₆-Luc) and either: 1.0ug Gal4-DBD plasmid alone, 1.0ug Gal4-DBD-1-82 plasmid, or 1.0ug Gal4-DBD-CR3 plasmid along with 0-1.0ug of pcDNA3-HA-hDREF. Empty pcDNA3-HA plasmid was transfected to maintain a total of 2µg of transfected plasmid DNA in all samples. 1.0µg of a plasmid encoding pRb was used as a co-transfected negative control with Gal4-DBD-1-82. 24 hours after transfection, cells were collected, lysed, and luciferase activity was measured. Results were initially normalized based on protein concentration as determined by Bradford assays, and then related to luciferase activity readout of the Gal4-DBD negative control. Results are indicative of the means (±SEM) of at least three independent experiments (* = p<0.05; ** = p<0.01).



Figure 3.11 Effects of hDREF on the ability of Gal4-DBD-tagged amino acids 1-82 and CR3 of E1A to transactivate a Gal4-DBD-responsive luciferase reporter plasmid (HeLa). HeLa cells were co-transfected with $0.1\mu g$ of a Gal4-responsive luciferase reporter plasmid (pGL2-(UAS)₆-Luc) and either: 1.0ug Gal4-DBD plasmid alone, 1.0ug Gal4-DBD-1-82 plasmid, or 1.0ug Gal4-DBD-CR3 plasmid along with 0-1.0ug of pcDNA3-HA-hDREF. Empty pcDNA3-HA plasmid was transfected to maintain a total of $2\mu g$ of transfected plasmid DNA in all samples. $1.0\mu g$ of a plasmid encoding pRb was used as a co-transfected negative control with Gal4-DBD-1-82. 48 hours after transfection, cells were collected, lysed, and luciferase activity was measured. Results were initially normalized based on protein concentration as determined by Bradford assays, and then related to luciferase activity readout of the Gal4-DBD negative control. Results are indicative of the means (±SEM) of at least three independent experiments.



results indicated that hDREF can act as a weak trans-activator at the histone H1 promoter, significantly increasing luciferase activity by 1.21 fold (p=0.0362), and 1.11 fold (p=0.005) over basal levels when 0.2 and 0.3µg of pcDNA3-HA-hDREF plasmid were transfected respectively (Figure 3.12A). However, the previous experiments never examined the effects of transfecting more than 0.3µg of the pcDNA3-HA-hDREF plasmid. My results indicate a significant 1.4 fold (p=0.0208) and 4 fold (p<0.0001) decrease in luciferase activity compared to basal levels when 1.0 and 1.9µg of pcDNA3-HA-hDREF plasmid were transfected respectively. A similar trend was observed in HeLa cells (Figure 3.13). A 1.15 fold increase, and a significant 3.3 fold decrease (p=0.0012) in luciferase activity compared to basal levels were observed when 0.3µg and 1.9µg of pcDNA3-HA-hDREF plasmid were transfected into HeLa cells respectively. Next, I tried increasing the transfected amount of pGL3-H1p-Luc reporter plasmid by 10 fold in HT1080 cells, to assess whether concentration of the reporter was the limiting factor in luciferase production and activity (Figure 3.12C). However, my results indicated a similar trend, whereby increasing the amount of transfected pcDNA3-HA-hDREF significantly reduced luciferase activity.

In summary, my *in vitro* luciferase assay results suggest that hDREF does not possess the ability to independently trans-activate at a basic minimal promoter, but does weakly trans-activate at the hDRE-containing histone H1 promoter when small amounts of pcDNA3-HA-hDREF plasmid are transfected into cells. At high concentrations of transfected pcDNA3-HA-hDREF plasmid, two observable events occur. Firstly, a drastic reduction in trans-activation at the histone H1 promoter is detected. Second, the abilities of E1A AA1-82 and CR3 to trans-activate through a minimal promoter are significantly reduced. Although the results of these luciferase assays served to provide initial insight into the effects of hDREF on transcription, it is important to note that luciferase assays by nature can be highly artificial. This is due to the fact that they are transfection-based experiments, and thus rely heavily on the overexpression of proteins which could prove toxic to cells.

Figure 3.12 Effect of hDREF on transactivation of a luciferase reporter plasmid under the control of the histone H1 promoter (HT1080). HT1080 cells were cotransfected with either $0.1\mu g$ (A) or $1.0\mu g$ (C) of the pGL3-H1p-Luc reporter plasmid and 0-1.9µg of pcDNA3-HA-hDREF. Empty pcDNA3-HA plasmid was transfected to maintain a total of 2µg of transfected plasmid DNA in all samples. 24 hours after transfection, cells were collected, lysed, and luciferase activity was measured. Results were initially normalized based on protein concentration as determined by Bradford assays, and then related to luciferase activity readout of the pGL3-H1p-Luc reporter alone. Results are indicative of the means (±SEM) of at least three independent experiments (* = p<0.05; ** = p<0.01; *** = p<0.001). B) Western blots were performed using α -HA, α -hDREF and α -actin antibodies to examine protein expression.



1.0

0.5

0.5-

ΰ

0.1

pcDNA3-HA-hDREF (µg)





Figure 3.13 Effect of hDREF on transactivation of a luciferase reporter plasmid under the control of the histone H1 promoter (HeLa). HeLa cells were co-transfected with either 0.1µg of the pGL3-H1p-Luc reporter plasmid and 0-1.9µg of pcDNA3-HAhDREF. Empty pcDNA3-HA plasmid was transfected to maintain a total of 2µg of transfected plasmid DNA in all samples. 48 hours after transfection, cells were collected, lysed, and luciferase activity was measured. A) Results were initially normalized based on protein concentration as determined by Bradford assays, and then related to luciferase activity readout of the pGL3-H1p-Luc reporter alone. Results are indicative of the means (±SEM) of at least three independent experiments (** = p<0.01). B) Western blots were performed using α -HA, α -hDREF and α -actin antibodies to examine protein expression.





A

3.3 The Effects of hDREF on Viral and Cellular Gene Transcription During an HAdV-5 Infection

To better understand the effects of hDREF on viral and cellular gene transcription in a dynamic system, I decided to utilize an HAdV-5 infection model. HeLa cells were transfected with a combination of hDREF specific siRNAs or scramble siRNA and incubated for 72 hours. On average, a 40% knockdown of hDREF was achieved. We then infected the cells at an MOI of 5 PFU per cell, with HAdV-5 mutants expressing either wild-type E1A (dl309) or E1A that is non-functional due to a frameshift after the codon for amino acid 20 (dl343). At 6 and 10 HPI, total RNA was extracted using Trizol reagent. RNA was reversed transcribed to cDNA, and specific transcripts were quantified using RT-PCR. Results were analyzed using the $2^{-(\Delta\Delta CT)}$ method, normalizing values first to GAPDH and then to dl343-infected samples (Figure 3.14). No significant differences in activation of the E2 early gene were detected between the hDREF knockdown and scramble siRNA-treated samples. However, knockdown of hDREF resulted in decreased activation of the E3 early gene at both time points, with a significant 6 fold decrease (p=0.0282) at 10 HPI. Interestingly, hDREF knockdown resulted in significant decreases in activation of the E4 early gene at both time points. A significant 4.4 fold decrease (p=0.0497) in E4 activation was observed at 6 HPI, and a significant 7.8 fold decrease (p=0.0099) was detected at 10 HPI. No significant differences were observed between the hDREF knockdown and scramble siRNA-treated samples for activation of the cellular histone H1 and RPS6 genes, which contain promoters with hDRE-like sequences. Interestingly however, my results seem to indicate that E1A affects transcription of both of these cellular genes at 6 HPI, as activation of these genes was from 1.4 to 2.3 fold higher than in dl343 infected cells, regardless of the hDREF phenotype.

The results of my quantitative RT-PCR experiments carried out in a HeLa cell infection model indicate that hDREF plays a significant role in activation of the HAdV-5 early genes E3 and E4. However, 40% knockdown of hDREF does not affect activation of viral E2 early, or cellular histone H1 and RPS6 genes during infection.

Figure 3.14 Effects of hDREF on early viral gene and cellular gene transcription during an HAdV-5 infection. HeLa cells were transfected with a combination of hDREF specific siRNAs or scramble siRNA and incubated for 72 hours, yielding 40% knockdown on average. Subsequently cells were infected at an MOI of 5 PFU per cell, with HAdV-5 mutants expressing either wild-type E1A (dl309) or E1A that is non-functional due to a frameshift after the codon for amino acid 20 (dl343). Total RNA was extracted at 6 and 10 HPI, and 1µg was reverse transcribed to cDNA. HAdV-5 E2, E3, and E4 as well as cellular histone H1 and RPS6 transcripts were quantified by RT-PCR. Results were analyzed using the $2^{-(\Delta\Delta CT)}$ method, normalizing values first to GAPDH and then to dl343-infected samples. Results are indicative of the means (±SEM) of at least three independent experiments (* = p<0.05; ** = p<0.01) and are expressed as fold activation of specific genes in dl309-infected samples relative to dl343-infected samples.



3.4 The Effect of hDREF on Viral Replication

Since hDREF significantly affected viral early gene transcription, I decided to examine whether hDREF played a role in overall viral replication. We chose to use IMR-90 primary human lung fibroblasts for studies of viral replication, as they can be easily growth arrested and have been used in previous viral replication studies (77, 78). IMR-90 cells were transfected with a combination of hDREF specific siRNAs or scramble siRNA, and were contact inhibited for 3 days after reaching confluence. The growth arrested cells were then infected at an MOI of 5 PFU per cell with HAdV-5 mutants expressing either wild-type E1A (dl309) or no E1A (dl312). Viruses were collected at 4, 48, and 120 HPI, and serial dilutions of the virus were applied to monolayers of HEK293 cells to assess viral titre via plaque assay. Only data for 120 HPI are shown, as no significant differences in viral titre were observed between dl309 viral samples collected at 4 or 48 HPI (Figure 3.15 A). In addition, the viral titre of dl312 remained at approximately 1.15x10⁵ PFU per mL at 4, 48 (Data not shown) and 120 HPI, regardless of hDREF expression (Figure 3.15 B). This indicated that the dl312 virus did not replicate in growth arrested cells as expected, due to a lack of E1A. A significant 1.8 fold decrease (p=0.0176) in dl309 viral titre at 120 HPI was detected when samples were treated with hDREF siRNA versus scramble siRNA (Figure 3.15 A), coinciding with an approximate 100% knockdown of hDREF (Figure 3.15 B). Therefore, these results indicate that knockdown of hDREF reduces the overall yield of virus and likely plays a significant role in HAdV-5 replication.

Figure 3.15 Effects of hDREF on HAdV-5 replication. IMR-90 cells were transfected with a combination of hDREF specific siRNAs or scramble siRNA, and then growth to confluence. Cells were incubated for 3 days after reaching confluence, to arrest their growth due to contact inhibition. Subsequently cells were infected at an MOI of 5 PFU per cell, with HAdV-5 mutants expressing either wild-type E1A (dl309) or no E1A (dl312). Viruses were collected at 4, 48 and120 HPI, and serial dilutions of the virus were applied to monolayers of HEK293 cells to assess viral titre via plaque assay. A) Results for viral samples collected at 120 HPI are shown, and are indicative of the mean viral titres (±SEM) of at least three independent experiments (* = p<0.05). B) Western blots were performed using α -hDREF, α -E1A, and α -actin antibodies. Approximately 100% knockdown of hDREF was observed in each sample, at every time points.


4 Discussion

4.1 Mapping the Interaction Between E1A and hDREF

Utilization of co-immunoprecipitation techniques revealed that there is an interaction between 13S E1A and hDREF, and that this interaction is conserved amongst representative serotypes of HAdV species A through E – HAdV 12, 3, 5, 9, and 4 respectively – but not HAdV-40 of species F. My results also indicate that all five isoforms of HAdV-5 E1A – 13S, 12S, 11S, 10S, and 9S – can bind hDREF. Finally, I discovered that the N-terminal 29 amino acids of E1A form a primary binding site for hDREF and that residues 15-26 appear sufficient for binding. Indeed all of my results support this conclusion, as only the first 26 amino acids are common amongst all isoforms of E1A, and a deletion of residues 1-14 does not affect hDREF binding. The final goal of my mapping experiments was to identify specific amino acids in E1A which are necessary for the hDREF interaction, and mutate those residues to create an HAdV-5 derivative encoding an E1A mutant unable to bind hDREF. This virus would allow for careful study of the effects of the E1A-hDREF interaction on viral and cellular events. Unfortunately, due to time constraints, I was unable to identify which specific individual residues of the identified region are necessary for binding hDREF.

A future direction of this project will likely involve the identification of essential residues for hDREF binding. To aid in this process I generated a sequence alignment of residues 15-26 from 13S E1A of HAdV-12, 3, 5, 9, 4, and 40 using Clustal-W (Figure 4.1). Amino acids 19 and 24 are highly conserved in all serotypes, and therefore would be candidate residues to test for deficiencies in binding using point mutations. Interestingly, residues 20 and 21 are highly conserved in species A through E but not F. Since HAdV-40 of species F does not bind hDREF, these residues – which change an aliphatic amino acid to an aromatic one, and an acidic residue to an uncharged residue – may prove to strongly contribute to hDREF binding. The leucine and isoleucine residues at positions 19, 20, 23, and 24 in HAdV-5 E1A have previously been shown to be essential for interactions with various cellular factors including p300, CBP, TBP, pCAF, and GCN5, as mutation of any one of these residues to alanine severely reduces binding to each protein (308). If any of these four residues is discovered to be essential for hDREF binding, creating a virus encoding E1A that is specifically deficient in hDREF binding for use in functional studies may prove problematic. Co-disruption of the interactions with hDREF as well as other trans-activators like TBP and p300 would preclude the ability to isolate the specific consequences of the E1A-hDREF interaction. It may be possible to instead map the interaction to specific regions of hDREF, as the two major functional and structural domains of the protein have been mapped and therefore mutations in these areas can be avoided (286). The inherent problem with this is that because hDREF is still poorly characterized, deletions in certain areas of the protein could alter its normal function without any possible way of knowing that this had occurred. This would also make it difficult to determine the exact effects of the E1A-hDREF interaction.

To conclusively test whether residues 15-26 are necessary for the hDREF interaction, a full length 13S E1A with residues 15-26 deleted would have to be constructed and tested. However, although residues 15-26 are sufficient for binding, they may not all be required and additional residues outside this region may contribute to binding. Amino acid 26 of E1A is not highly conserved amongst representative members of HAdV species A through F (Figure 4.1). Thus, it is unlikely that deletion of only residue 26 in this binding site would cause such a drastic decrease in hDREF binding, or that deletion of residues 15-25 would still allow for hDREF binding if this were the correct scenario (Figures 3.5 and 3.6). A more probable interpretation of the data is that several residues both within, and external to the 15-26 region act in a cooperative fashion to bind hDREF. This would serve to explain why deletion of residues 15-25 or 26-35 reduces hDREF binding, but does not completely inhibit it. Indeed residues 16-28 are predicted to form an amphipathic α -helix in HAdV-5 (78). Therefore it is possible that deletions or mutations of individual or small groups of residues within this structure act to reduce, but not completely eliminate hDREF binding. Perhaps a deletion of residues 16-28 entirely or

Figure 4.1 Alignment of E1A residues 15-26. Amino acids 15 to 26 of E1A from representative serotypes of HAdV species A through F were aligned using Clustal-W. Darker shaded boxes indicate more conserved residues. Amino acids 20 and 21 of HAdV-40 E1A are highlighted in red to indicate extreme dissimilarity from the highly conserved residues present in the E1A proteins of HAdV-12, 3, 5, 9, and 4.



mutations of key residues to disrupt the amphipathic characteristics of the helix would completely abolish hDREF binding.

Although I have shown an interaction with hDREF and E1A, it is important to note that it has not yet been determined as to whether this interaction is direct or indirect. Since hDREF is a transcriptional regulator and the N-terminus of E1A has been shown to interact with an extensive number of transcriptional regulators, it is entirely possible that E1A indirectly binds hDREF through other factors (214, 308). Indeed, hDREF has been shown to be involved in high molecular weight multiprotein complexes, although the identities of other members of these complexes are unknown (286). To test whether the interaction is indirect or direct, co-immunoprecipitation experiments using purified recombinant E1A and hDREF could be performed. Finally – direct or not – an intriguing future direction of this project would be to identify factors which co-immunoprecipitate in complexes are altered in the presence of E1A. This would not be surprising as E1A alters the abilities of pRb, CtBP, and hBre1 to interact with their normal cellular targets (175, 199, 214). Such studies could provide advanced insight into the normal function of hDREF, as well as the purpose of the hDREF manipulation by E1A.

4.2 Analysis of the Effects of hDREF on Transcription using Luciferase Assays

Based on transient luciferase assays in both HT1080 and HeLa cells, it appears that hDREF does not possess the capability to trans-activate at a minimal promoter containing only a TATA box. In addition, when large amounts of pcDNA3-HA-hDREF plasmid are co-transfected with plasmids encoding Gal4-DBD-tagged AA1-82 or CR3 of E1A, the abilities of these known trans-activators to drive luciferase expression through a minimal promoter are significantly reduced. Consistent with previously published results, hDREF can weakly trans-activate at the hDRE-containing histone H1 promoter when small amounts of pcDNA3-HA-hDREF plasmid are transfected into cells (285). However, at

higher amounts of transfected pcDNA3-HA-hDREF, significant reductions in transactivation at this promoter were detected.

4.2.1 Gal4-DBD-hDREF Trans-activation of the pGL2-(UAS)₆-Luc Reporter

My observation that Gal4-DBD-hDREF cannot drive expression of the pGL2-(UAS)₆-Luc reporter is very surprising, as it indicates that hDREF lacks the ability to bind and recruit the general transcription factors (GTFs) and RNA polymerase II to the TATA box. Although approximately 76% of human genes lack a TATA box within their core promoter regions, the recruitments of TBP and the rest of the transcription factor II D (TFIID) complex, as well as the other GTFs, are still required to drive expression of these genes (309, 310). Previously published results indicate that hDREF trans-activates – albeit weakly – several genes containing hDRE sequences in their promoter (285, 292). Therefore it seems unlikely that hDREF would be unable to bind at least one general transcription factor to enhance transcription at hDRE-containing genes. Two potential mechanisms may serve to explain the observed results. First, the action of hDREF binding to DNA may serve to induce a conformational change in hDREF, revealing a binding site for TBP or other GTFs. Indeed, conformational changes have been observed in the PhoB transcription factor upon DNA binding, although whether this affects its function or not is unknown (311). In this respect, the Gal4-DBD-hDREF fusion protein would not be able to trans-activate the pGL2-(UAS)₆-Luc reporter, because although it contains Gal4 binding sites, this reporter does not contain an hDRE. To address this hypothesis, a modified luciferase reporter could be constructed, which inserts single, or multiple hDRE sites in tandem upstream of the minimal promoter instead of the existing Gal UASs. One would then expect that trans-activation of the luciferase gene would increase as more hDRE elements were added.

A second explanation is that the fusion of a Gal4-DBD domain to the N-terminus of hDREF inherently prevents activation of the reporter plasmid via steric hindrance. This explanation revolves around the discovery that self-association of hDREF via the C-

terminal hATC domain is necessary for multiple functions of hDREF including DNA binding (286). The fusion of a Gal4-DBD domain to the N-terminus of hDREF could prevent hDREF from properly dimerizing. If dimerization is required for hDREF to interact with the GTFs, this would completely abolish trans-activation. The opposite scenario is also a logical explanation. Since the Gal4-DBD must dimerize to bind DNA, self-association of hDREF could preclude Gal4-DBD dimerization due to steric hindrance, or due to dimerization between Gal4-DBD-hDREF and endogenous hDREF. This would prevent targeting of the Gal4-DBD-hDREF protein to the UAS, resulting in a lack of luciferase expression. In addition, the overexpressed, undirected Gal4-DBD-hDREF protein would be free to bind and sequester putatively targeted GTFs, thereby reducing trans-activation of the pGL2-(UAS)₆-Luc reporter below basal levels, as observed in Figure 3.8.

4.2.2 Alteration of Gal4-DBD-1-82 and Gal4-DBD-CR3 Transactivation of the pGL2-(UAS)₆-Luc Reporter

Contrary to our hypothesis that the addition of hDREF would enhance Gal4-DBD-tagged transcriptional activation by E1A AA1-82, but not by E1A CR3, it actually appeared to reduce trans-activation by both (Figures 3.11 and 3.12). Importantly, trans-activation by the negative control Gal4 vector was also reduced when the same amount (1µg) of pcDNA3-HA-hDREF plasmid was added. This indicates that the apparent repression of transcription occurred in a non-specific fashion. Causation could be similar to what may have been occurring in experiments examining Gal4-DBD-hDREF trans-activation of the same pGL2-(UAS)₆-Luc reporter. It is possible, but unlikely, that the small eight amino acid HA-tag interferes with hDREF dimerization; however, the answer may be that hDREF must bind DNA through the hDRE to induce a self-conformational change, allowing for subsequent GTF binding. This scenario would preclude the ability to identify any interaction specific effects between E1A AA1-82 and hDREF on trans-activation of the luciferase gene, due to a lack of an hDRE in the pGL2-(UAS)₆-Luc reporter. If this explanation is correct, addressing the original hypothesis that hDREF enhances E1A AA1-82 trans-activation but not CR3 trans-activation, would prove

difficult. Since the Gal4-DBD-tagged E1A constructs and HA-hDREF would each target the UAS and hDRE sequences independently in a modified pGL2-(UAS)₆-Luc reporter containing an hDRE, it would be impossible to distinguish whether differences in E1Ainduced trans-activation were due to an interaction with hDREF or not. To circumvent this issue, it could be possible to instead examine whether the addition of untagged E1A AA1-82 or CR3 could enhance trans-activation of an hDRE-containing luciferase reporter plasmid. In fact, this is a future direction of the project. Since I already constructed the pGL3-H1p-Luc reporter plasmid, and confirmed previous reports that hDREF can trans-activate at the histone H1 hDRE-containing promoter (285), this experiment could be easily carried out. By co-transfecting reporter, and increasing amounts of untagged AA1-82 or CR3 of E1A, one could observe how the interaction of hDREF with the N-terminus of E1A affects hDREF-induced trans-activation of the H1 promoter.

A second explanation for the non-specific reduction in E1A AA1-82 and CR3-induced trans-activation upon addition of large amounts of pcDNA3-HA-hDREF plasmid is more likely. Perhaps – due to overexpression – the HA-hDREF protein saturates the cellular transcription machinery, binding and sequestering a single, or multiple, rate limiting GTFs, such that they are no longer available for trans-activation of the minimal promoter. This would best explain why addition of 1µg of pcDNA3-HA-hDREF plasmid reduces the background activation of luciferase by the Gal4-DBD protein alone, which should not bind hDREF, and on its own does not trans-activate. If this rationale is correct, a combination of several overexpression-related mechanisms may cumulatively contribute to explain why enhanced trans-activation is not apparent when hDREF is co-transfected with Gal4-DBD-AA-1-82 of E1A. As previously mentioned, the first explanation is sequestration of rate limiting GTFs by hDREF. The second explanation is that unbound hDREF protein may compete for E1A binding with hDREF protein that is bound to GTFs. Finally, since hDRE elements are not present in the pGL2-(UAS)₆-Luc reporter plasmid but are present on the chromosomes found in human HT1080 and HeLa cells, it is entirely possible that hDREF is directing transcriptional complexes containing E1A AA1-82 to these promoters, instead of the Gal4-DBD directing the complexes to the

pGL2-(UAS)₆-Luc reporter. The latter two mechanisms would serve to explain the reduction in apparent trans-activation by Gal4-DBD-AA1-82, but not Gal4-DBD-CR3 or Gal4-DBD alone. The first mechanism would explain reductions in all samples.

In retrospect, two extra controls would have helped to elucidate what is happening to the pGL2-(UAS)₆-Luc reporter system upon addition of large amounts of pcDNA3-HAhDREF plasmid. The pRb tumour suppressor has previously been shown to interact with CR1 and CR2 of E1A, but not CR3 (166). As expected, when I co-transfected $1\mu g$ of a plasmid encoding pRb with one encoding Gal4-DBD-1-82, a reduction in trans-activation was observed (Figures 3.10 and 3.11). Co-transfection of the pRb plasmid with the Gal4-DBD-CR3 plasmid would have strengthened the argument that the results observed upon addition of hDREF were occurring in a non-specific fashion. pRb would be expected to have no effect on CR3-induced trans-activation, unless it too was sequestering rate limiting transcriptional machinery in a concentration dependent manner, thereby indicating an inherent problem with utilizing such high amounts of transfected plasmid DNA. Secondly, Western blots of lysates used in these experiments would have helped to understand the effects of hDREF concentration on E1A-induced trans-activation. Finally, it is entirely possible that my choice of using 0.1, 0.5 and 1.0µg of transfected pcDNA3-HA-hDREF completely excluded the appropriate expression level of HA-hDREF which avoids sequestration effects and yields enhanced transactivation by Gal4-DBD-1-82. If this experiment were to be repeated in the future, testing more concentrations of transfected pcDNA3-HA-hDREF DNA, particularly within the range of 0.1 to $0.5\mu g$ would be a logical next step.

4.2.3 HA-hDREF Trans-activation of the pGL3-H1p-Luc Reporter

Consistent with previously published results, I've shown that hDREF can weakly, but significantly trans-activate at the hDRE-containing histone H1 promoter when small amounts of pcDNA3-HA-hDREF plasmid are transfected into HT1080 cells (285). Similar trends were observed in HeLa cells as well, however the results across multiple

replicates were less consistent, and significant levels of trans-activation were not observed in these cells. However, my own data indicate that when higher amounts of pcDNA3-HA-hDREF are transfected, significant reductions in trans-activation of the pGL3-H1p-Luc reporter occur in both cell lines. Several explanations may rationalize the observed results, which appear to indicate a biphasic trans-activation response to hDREF. Firstly, hDREF may be negatively auto-regulating itself after it passes a certain threshold of protein expression, thereby reducing hDREF-induced trans-activation at the histone H1 promoter. Auto-regulation of transcription factors is a common mechanism across all eukaryotes and assists in the control of expression of many cell cycle specific transcription factors (312). Negative auto-regulation provides a mechanism to quickly reach steady-state expression levels of individual transcription factors, without having to immediate degrade those proteins when they reach excess cellular amounts (312, 313). Although it is currently unknown whether or not the hDREF gene promoter on human chromosomes contains an hDRE element, five dDRE elements are found within the dDREF promoter in *Drosophila*, and dDREF auto-regulates itself through one of the dDRE elements located 211 to 218 bases upstream of the TSS (259). Indeed the expression pattern of total hDREF within HT1080 cells in my experiments resembles that of negative auto-regulation. Transfection of greater than 0.3µg of pcDNA3-HA-hDREF results in levels of hDREF that start to decline (Figure 3.12B). At first glance this seems like a probable answer, but similar effects are not observed in HeLa cells. Results in HeLa cells reveal a similar trend in luciferase activity, but not in hDREF expression (Figure 3.12 and 3.13). Although auto-regulation of transcription factors can be a celltype specific control mechanism, the discrepancies between protein expression which yield paradoxically similar luciferase activities in HeLa and HT1080 cells indicates that this is likely not the completely correct interpretation. In support of this statement, when either cell line is transfected with 1.9µg of pcDNA3-HA-hDREF, there is a significant decrease in luciferase activity compared to the control, whereas hDREF expression is higher. If negative auto-regulation of hDREF was the complete explanation for the observed changes in transcription, trans-activation should not have been reduced below background control levels in HeLa cells.

Perhaps in addition to negative auto-regulation at the genomic level, a molecular switch occurs in the hDREF protein at a certain expression threshold, which changes it from a transcriptional activator to a transcriptional repressor. Recently it has been found that dDREF can recruit the chromatin remodelling complex XNP/dATRX to repress transcription of several transcription factors including dE2F (273). Thus it seems entirely possible as well as intriguing, that hDREF can both activate and repress transcription factors display dual activator and repressor functions. Their activities are usually controlled by external factors. For example, the Sp3 transcription factor functions as an activator, unless SUMOylated by SUMO (small ubiquitin-related modifier) (314). In *E. coli*, the ChbR transcription factor binds a regulatory site in the chitobiose operon, which encodes genes for transport and degradation of the chitobiose disaccharide. In the presence of chitobiose it functions as an activator, but in the absence of chitobiose it binds the exact same regulatory site on the operon and represses transcription (315).

The most likely reason that a decrease in trans-activation of the pGL3-H1p-Luc reporter occurs in response to increased amounts of transfected pcDNA3-HA-hDREF is one that is common to all other luciferase assays I performed using hDREF. At high expression levels, hDREF may act to sequester GTFs from the hDRE promoter, or bind the GTFs and compete for hDRE binding with hDREF that is not bound to GTFs. In addition overexpressed hDREF may recruit the GTFs to cellular promoters instead of the reporter plasmid. I attempted – in Figure 3.12C – to provide insight into whether the sequestration of cellular factors was contributing to the reduced luciferase activity when high levels of pcDNA3-HA-hDREF plasmid were transfected. I investigated sequestration effects by increasing the amount of transfected reporter plasmid in HT1080 cells, and therefore increasing the total potential hDREF binding sites. Similar results were observed as with less reporter plasmid, however I utilized a smaller number of transfection conditions and therefore may have overlooked the amount of transfected pcDNA3-HA-hDREF plasmid required to observe significant trans-activation.

Interestingly, the raw output of light units as read by the luminometer in the sample containing only the reporter increased from around 5×10^5 to 5×10^6 when I increased the amount of pGL3-H1p-Luc reporter from 0.1 to 1.0µg in HT1080 cells. Additionally, in HeLa cells, the raw output of light units in the sample containing 0.1µg of reporter only was around 6×10^6 . As evidenced by Figure 3.7, HeLa cells express higher levels of endogenous hDREF relative to HT1080 cells. Taken together these results indicate that the endogenous levels of hDREF in both HT1080 and HeLa cells are likely so high that all of the transfected pGL3-H1p-Luc reporter plasmid – which contains only a single hDRE element - became saturated with excess endogenous hDREF in my experiments. If correct, this finding alone would preclude the ability to detect major differences in transactivation when varying amounts of exogenous plasmid encoding HA-hDREF are transfected. The majority of exogenous hDREF would then act in a negative fashion to compete for GTFs and thereby reduce basal levels of transcription below samples expressing only the reporter. In addition, this would explain why other researchers and I have only detected minor levels of transcriptional activation by hDREF using transient luciferase assays in these two cell lines (285, 292). In retrospect, the use of IMR-90 cells - which express the lowest amount of endogenous hDREF out of the four cell lines I tested – would have been a more appropriate cell line choice for all luciferase assays. However, their slow rate of replication and low levels of transcription and protein synthesis might restrict the use of luciferase assays. To enable the use of HT1080 and HeLa cells, in my opinion, a useful future experiment would be to engineer luciferase reporter plasmids which contain only a minimal promoter and a single hDRE site. If hDREF truly activates from the hDRE, then transfecting increasing amounts of this specific plasmid would be expected to increase luciferase activity until the point that endogenous hDREF is no longer present in excess with respect to the reporter plasmid. This would also remove many confounding factors from the system, as the pGL3-H1p-Luc reporter contains the full length histone H1 promoter, of which the single hDRE comprises only 10 bases of the near 550 present (285). It would also remove the need to overexpress hDREF, which may be causing abnormal, unresolvable events to occur with respect to hDREF-induced transactivation. However, these experiments would also

require the construction of negative control luciferase reporter which was otherwise identical except for a mutated hDRE that was unable to bind hDREF.

4.3 The Effects of hDREF on Viral Early Gene and Cellular Gene Transcription during HAdV-5 Infection

Using quantitative RT-PCR experiments in HeLa cells infected with HAdV-5 mutants at an MOI of 5 PFU per cell, I have shown that hDREF plays a significant role in the activation of the HAdV-5 E3 and E4 genes. In addition, a 40% knockdown of hDREF does not affect activation of the early region E2 gene, or the histone H1 and RPS6 cellular genes. The majority of HAdV-5 infection studies in HeLa cells have been carried out at an MOI of 10 or higher, whereby early gene expression begins around 1 hour after infection and DNA replication begins after ~6 hours (75). Each early gene displays different transcriptional kinetics. E3 and E4 transcripts reach maximal transcription around 3 to 4 HPI, and decline over the next 6 hours. Not surprisingly, the E2 transcripts are the last to be expressed, beginning at 2 HPI, reaching maximal transcription at 7 HPI, and then declining. Since I previously detected strong expression of E1A at 12 HPI in HeLa cells infected at an MOI of 5, and showed that an interaction between hDREF and E1A can occur in these cells, I chose to perform quantitative RT-PCR experiments using an MOI of 5 as well. Without any published record of the kinetics of HAdV-5 early gene expression in HeLa cells at this MOI, I had to make an educated guess as to what time points to use. I decided to examine gene expression at 6 and 10 HPI, operating under the assumption that half as much virus per cell would yield 50% slower infection kinetics. My results display trends similar to transcription kinetics at an MOI of 10, as E3 and E4 transcripts are detectable at 6 HPI, and are present at increased levels at 10 HPI. Furthermore, E2 transcripts are delayed, and are detectable only at 10 HPI.

The most significant result of this experiment is the detection of hDREF involvement in early gene E3 and E4 transcription; however, other results deserve individual mention as well. First, hDREF appears to have no effect on E2 transcription. This may be explained by the fact that the E2 gene is trans-activated in an E1A- independent manner by the E4orf6/7 protein, which recruits E2F to its respective binding sites in the E2 promoter (149, 150). Second, and quite surprisingly, there were also no significant differences in the levels of histone H1 and RPS6 transcripts when hDREF was knocked down. Based on the results of previous researchers and myself, one would expect that since hDREF is a weak trans-activator of both of these genes, at least a small reduction in their transcription would result from hDREF knockdown. This could be the result of an incomplete knockdown. Thus, even with a 40% reduction of hDREF, there still may be sufficient hDREF in the cell to trans-activate genes intimately required for the cell cycle and protein metabolism, such as histone H1 and RPS6 (292, 295). With further optimization of the protocol, it may be possible to achieve close to 100% knockdown of hDREF in HeLa cells, which could resolve this potential issue. In support of this, the histone H1 mRNA levels at 10 HPI, and the RPS6 mRNA levels at 6 and 10 HPI are slightly decreased in the hDREF knockdown samples. Finally, E1A may play a weak role in trans-activation of the histone H1 and RPS6 genes. Figure 3.14 displays results as fold activation of genes in dl309 (WT E1A) infected samples relative to dl343 (non-functional E1A) infected samples. If E1A has no effect on a specific gene, the relative fold activation remains at or around a value of 1. Therefore, relative fold activations above one indicate a role of E1A in transcription of the respective genes during infection, as dl343 encodes a non-functional E1A. The relative fold activations of histone H1 at 6 HPI, and RPS6 at 6 and 10 HPI are all above one, implicating E1A in their trans-activation.

It is important to note that although my results show that hDREF affects viral E3 and E4 transcription, and E1A may affect cellular histone H1 and RPS6 expression, the conclusion that these effects are mediated by the E1A-hDREF interaction cannot yet be made. It is entirely possible that hDREF is affecting viral E3 and E4 transcription independently of its interaction with E1A, and vice versa for cellular genes. However, based on the previous data which shows that E1A interacts with hDREF, a logical hypothesis is that E1A recruits hDREF to early viral promoters and hDREF recruits E1A to the histone H1 and RPS6 promoters. To properly address this question, creation and testing of an HAdV-5 derivative which expresses a mutant form of E1A deficient in

hDREF binding could be performed as discussed in section 4.1. If the results of my experiments can truly be attributed to the E1A-hDREF interaction, then such a mutant virus would yield quantitative RT-PCR results displaying similar trends to when hDREF was knocked down. Furthermore, to determine whether hDREF and E1A are co-localized to the promoters of the E3, E4, and potentially histone H1 and RPS6 genes, a future experiment would be to perform ChIP experiments. ChIP experiment are powerful tools, and recently our laboratory has used ChIP experiments to show that E1A sequesters hBre1 from cellular genes, and recruits it to early viral genes to enhance their transcription (214, 215).

To better understand how hDREF may be enhancing transcription of several early viral genes, I searched the HAdV-5 genome for hDRE-like sequences. Interestingly, two hDRE-like sequences which match 8 of 10 consensus bases of the hDRE exist downstream of the E4 gene at around 34,000 base pairs; one exists at around 1450 base pairs which is upstream of the E1B gene. Not surprisingly, these sites are conserved in other members of species C, which share around 99% genomic identity. These sites are also conserved in several simian adenoviruses (SAdVs) closely related to species C, such as SAdV-34, 40.2, 40.1, 42.1, 42.2, and 42.3 which are all about 88-96% similar to HAdV-5 in genomic sequence. These sites however are not found in conserved locations for the less related HAdVs such as 12, 3, 9, 4, and 40, which share about 80% genomic conservation with HAdV-5. Interestingly, HAdV-12, and 3 contain an hDRE-like sequence matching 9 of 10 consensus bases of the hDRE centered around 10,000 base pairs into the genome. This region is upstream of the major late promoter. Perhaps different subgroups have evolved to utilize hDREF to enhance expression of distinct viral genes. Although the two hDRE elements found near the E4 gene are downstream of the TSS, they may still function as hDREF binding and trans-activation sites. This would serve to provide a reasonable explanation as to why E4 transcription appears highly responsive to hDREF. Indeed, trans-activators have been shown to enhance transcriptional activation via enhancers located thousands of bases away, whether upstream or downstream of the promoters they act on (316, 317). Importantly, there may be hDRE-like sequences near the E3 transcriptional unit promoter as well, as my

preliminary scan of the HAdV-5 genome using Clustal-W algorithms may have overlooked more divergent sequences. Finally, my experiments did not look at the effects of hDREF on early gene E1B expression, which was also found to contain an hDRE-like element upstream of the TSS. Thus, E1B expression is an important candidate to monitor in future experiments examining the effects of hDREF on early viral gene transcription.

4.4 The Effects of hDREF on HAdV-5 Replication

The replicative cycle of HAdV-5 experiences vastly delayed kinetics in contact-inhibited IMR-90 cells in comparison to HeLa cells. For example, previously published experiments that examined viral growth in IMR-90 cells were performed at an MOI of 5 PFU per cell, and virus was collected at 4, 48, and 120 HPI (77, 78). I decided to emulate these experimental conditions. The results of plaque assay experiments from HAdV-5 mutants isolated from IMR-90 cells indicate a significant 1.8 fold decrease in dl309 viral titre at 120 HPI when hDREF is approximately 100% knocked down. Similar to the scenario in section 4.3, these differences cannot be attributed directly to the interaction of E1A and hDREF without performing plaque assay experiments using HAdV-5 mutants encoding E1A which does not bind hDREF. Such a mutant would be predicted to display identical growth characteristics regardless of whether hDREF was knocked down or not. No differences were observed in dl309 titre from viruses collected at 4 or 48 HPI. I did not expect any differences at 4 hours, as no E1A was present at this time, and even in HeLa cells, viral DNA replication does not begin until 6 HPI at an MOI of 10 (75). The viral titre of dl309 infected samples only increased minimally by a factor of 2 between 4 and 48 HPI, whereas titres increased by over 10 fold between 48 and 120 HPI (Data not shown). Therefore, minimal viral replication had occurred in dl309 samples after 48 hours, regardless of the status of hDREF. Accordingly, it is not surprising that no differences in viral titre were observed between hDREF siRNA and scramble siRNAtreated samples at 48 HPI.

As expected, dl312 titres remained constant across all time points, indicating the inability of this virus to replicate without E1A, regardless of the presence or absence of hDREF. One final observation can be made; hDREF does not have an effect on E1A expression, as the levels of E1A at individual timepoints between hDREF siRNA and scramble siRNA-treated samples are similar. Therefore, in contrast to what was shown with E3 and E4 genes, hDREF likely does not affect E1A gene transcription. Future experiments should examine viral replication at time points between 48 and 120 HPI, as well as time points after 120 HPI. This would elucidate when the levels of replication start to diverge, and whether or not the growth defect seen in hDREF siRNA-treated samples remedies itself at later time points, or becomes further amplified.

Studies of the effects of hDREF on S phase progression in HAdV-5 infected contactinhibited IMR-90 cells were also performed, utilizing a dual propidium iodide staining and bromodeoxyuridine incorporation protocol described by Cecchini et al. (318). The expression of hDREF has previously been shown to influence cell cycle progression, and is necessary for entry into S phase (285, 292). Therefore, the goal of these experiments was to examine whether knockdown of hDREF in HAdV-5 infected IMR-90 cells reduced S phase progression, or whether HAdV-5 could compensate for the lack of hDREF during infection. Based on the plaque assay results, I did not expect to see major differences in cell cycle progression at 4 or 48 HPI, but expected to observe differences at 120 HPI. In fact, no noticeable differences at 4, 48 or 120 HPI between hDREF siRNA and scramble siRNA treated samples were observed. However, due to inherent complications in these experiments, the data is not shown, and cannot be properly interpreted. HAdV-5 is a lytic virus, and therefore at 120 HPI, the majority of cells are lysed and cannot be properly assayed for DNA content by a flow cytometer. In the future, transfection based experiments may be required to examine how the E1A-hDREF interaction affects S phase progression. E1A which is sufficient or deficient for hDREF binding could be transfected into contact-inhibited IMR-90 cells treated with either hDREF siRNA or scramble siRNA, and subsequently the dual staining and incorporation protocol could be utilized.

4.5 Summary of Findings and Future Directions

My thesis project has revealed several interesting findings with regards to the functions of the poorly characterized hDREF protein. I have identified that there is an interaction between 13S E1A and hDREF, which is conserved amongst representative serotypes of HAdV species A through E – HAdV 12, 3, 5, 9, and 4 respectively – but not HAdV-40 of species F. In addition, all five isoforms of HAdV-5 E1A – 13S, 12S, 11S, 10S, and 9S – can bind hDREF. Amino acids 15-26 of E1A are sufficient for E1A to interact with hDREF, however other residues may contribute to binding. Therefore, a future direction of the project is to identify all residues essential for hDREF binding, in order to mutate them and generate a HAdV-5 derivative encoding an E1A mutant deficient for hDREF interaction. In addition, it would be interesting to identify factors which co-immunoprecipitate in complexes with hDREF and observe whether the identities of factors in these complexes are altered in the presence of E1A. These studies may help to identify currently unknown cellular binding partners of hDREF.

Consistent with previously published results, hDREF appears to be a weak trans-activator at the histone H1 promoter (285). However, it may repress transcription at this promoter as well, through an unknown mechanism. In addition, hDREF does not possess the capability to trans-activate at a minimal promoter containing only a TATA box. Finally, when large amounts of pcDNA3-HA-hDREF plasmid are co-transfected with plasmids encoding Gal4-DBD-tagged AA1-82 or CR3 of E1A, the abilities of these known transactivators to drive luciferase expression through a minimal promoter are significantly reduced. The probable inherent flaws of my luciferase assay experimental design, as well as how to alleviate their issues for future experiments were addressed in detail in section 4.2. Further examination of hDREF's function as a trans-activator is warranted. Potential solutions involve carrying out the same experiments in different cell lines which express less endogenous hDREF, or utilizing HT1080 and HeLa cells without overexpressing exogenous HA-hDREF. In addition, to truly examine whether hDREF can transactivate through the hDRE, a reporter plasmid should be engineered which contains only a minimal promoter and an upstream hDRE. I have shown that either directly or indirectly, hDREF plays a significant role in the activation of HAdV-5 early region E3 and E4 genes during infection. As well, E1A may be involved in histone H1 and RPS6 trans-activation during infection. Future directions may include examining the effects of hDREF on all viral early genes during infection when close to 100% knockdown of hDREF is achieved. In addition, once a mutant virus is created which expresses E1A deficient for hDREF binding, it will be possible to determine whether the observed effects are due to the E1A-hDREF interaction, or to some other unknown activity of hDREF in the cell. Finally, ChIP experiments examining whether E1A and hDREF co-localize to early viral promoters or cellular H1 and RPS6 promoters would provide support to my data.

Lastly, I have shown that hDREF plays a significant role in HAdV-5 replication in quiescent, contact-inhibited IMR-90 cells. Future experiments should examine viral titres from 48 to beyond 120 HPI in order to generate a viral growth curve with respect to the presence or absence of hDREF. Finally, once a mutant virus is created which expresses E1A deficient for hDREF binding, it will be possible to determine whether the observed effects on viral replication are due to the E1A-hDREF interaction, or to some other function of hDREF during infection.

My original hypothesis was that the interaction between E1A and hDREF contributes to adenovirus induced transcriptional modulation and viral replication in HAdV-5 infected cells. Although I can't conclusively say whether the E1A-hDREF interaction is contributing to the observed effects, it is clear that my data demonstrates that hDREF contributes to adenovirus early gene transcription and viral replication in HAdV-5 infected cells. Future experiments should determine whether the interaction is responsible for my observed results. Based on all of my observed results, I have synthesized a model which outlines the potential consequences of the E1A-hDREF interaction in an HAdV-5 cell (Figure 4.2).

Figure 4.2 Cartoon diagram of the potential effects of the E1A-hDREF interaction in an HAdV-5 infected cell. Green arrows within circles represent increases in gene expression or viral replication respectively. Question marks within circles represent the unknown or potential effects of hDREF or E1A on genes which warrant further investigation. hDREF increases expression of E3 and to a greater degree, E4. hDREF also increases HAdV-5 replication. hDREF may affect E1B expression through a putative hDRE-like sequence found upstream of the E1B gene. E1A may enhance histone H1 and RPS6 gene expression. The question mark between E1A and hDREF indicates that although E1A and hDREF have been shown to interact, the effects of hDREF on viral gene expression and viral replication have not been directly linked to this interaction.



References

- Enders JF, Bell JA, Dingle JH, FrancisS T, Hilleman MR, Huebner RJ, Payne AM. 1956. Adenoviruses: group name proposed for new respiratory-tract viruses. Science (New York, N.Y.) 124:119–20.
- Hilleman MR, Werner JH. 1954. Recovery of new agent from patients with acute respiratory illness. Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine. Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine (New York, N.Y.) 85:183–8.
- 3. Rowe WP, Huebner RJ, Gilmore LK, Parrott RH, Ward TG. 1953. Isolation of a cytopathogenic agent from human adenoids undergoing spontaneous degeneration in tissue culture. Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine. Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine (New York, N.Y.) 84:570–3.
- 4. **Berk AJ**. 2007. Adenoviridae: The Viruses and Their Replication, p. 2355–2394. *In* Knipe, DM, Howley, PM (eds.), Fields' Virology, 5th ed. Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia.
- 5. **Charles CH, Yelmene M, Luo GX**. 2004. Recent advances in rhinovirus therapeutics. Current drug targets. Infectious disorders **4**:331–7.
- 6. **Jawetz E**. 1959. The story of shipyard eye. British medical journal 1:873–6.
- 7. **Mautner V, Steinthorsdottir V, Bailey A**. 1995. Enteric adenoviruses. Current topics in microbiology and immunology **199 (Pt 3**:229–82.
- Yolken RH, Lawrence F, Leister F, Takiff HE, Strauss SE. 1982. Gastroenteritis associated with enteric type adenovirus in hospitalized infants. The Journal of pediatrics 101:21–6.
- 9. **Krilov LR**. 2005. Adenovirus infections in the immunocompromised host. The Pediatric infectious disease journal **24**:555–6.
- 10. **Davison AJ, Benko M, Harrach B**. 2003. Genetic content and evolution of adenoviruses. The Journal of general virology **84**:2895–908.
- 11. **Bailey A, Mautner V**. 1994. Phylogenetic relationships among adenovirus serotypes. Virology **205**:438–52.
- 12. Jones MS, Harrach B, Ganac RD, Gozum MMA, Dela Cruz WP, Riedel B, Pan C, Delwart EL, Schnurr DP. 2007. New adenovirus species found in a patient presenting with gastroenteritis. Journal of virology **81**:5978–84.
- Walsh MP, Seto J, Liu EB, Dehghan S, Hudson NR, Lukashev AN, Ivanova O, Chodosh J, Dyer DW, Jones MS, Seto D. 2011. Computational analysis of two species C human adenoviruses provides evidence of a novel virus. Journal of clinical microbiology 49:3482–90.
- 14. **Rosen L**. 1960. A hemagglutination-inhibition technique for typing adenoviruses. American journal of hygiene **71**:120–8.

- 15. **Hierholzer JC, Stone YO, Broderson JR**. 1991. Antigenic relationships among the 47 human adenoviruses determined in reference horse antisera. Archives of virology **121**:179–97.
- 16. **Crawford-Miksza L, Schnurr DP**. 1996. Analysis of 15 adenovirus hexon proteins reveals the location and structure of seven hypervariable regions containing serotype-specific residues. Journal of virology **70**:1836–44.
- 17. **Rux JJ, Burnett RM**. 2000. Type-specific epitope locations revealed by X-ray crystallographic study of adenovirus type 5 hexon. Molecular therapy : the journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy **1**:18–30.
- Toogood CI, Crompton J, Hay RT. 1992. Antipeptide antisera define neutralizing epitopes on the adenovirus hexon. The Journal of general virology 73 (Pt 6):1429–35.
- 19. **Trentin JJ, Yabe Y, Taylor G**. 1962. The quest for human cancer viruses. Science (New York, N.Y.) **137**:835–41.
- 20. **Gallimore PH**. 1972. Tumour production in immunosuppressed rats with cells transformed in vitro by adenovirus type 2. The Journal of general virology **16**:99–102.
- Shenk T. 1996. Adenoviridae: The Viruses and Their Replication, p. 979–1016. *In* Fields, B, Knipe, D, Howley, P (eds.), Fundamental Virology, 2nd ed. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, P.A.
- 22. Green M, Wold WS, Brackmann K, Cartas MA. 1980. Studies on early proteins and transformation proteins of human adenoviruses. Cold Spring Harbor symposia on quantitative biology 44 Pt 1,:457–69.
- 23. **Mackey JK, Rigden PM, Green M**. 1976. Do highly oncogenic group A human adenoviruses cause human cancer? Analysis of human tumors for adenovirus 12 transforming DNA sequences. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **73**:4657–61.
- 24. **Eggerding FA, Pierce WC**. 1986. Molecular biology of adenovirus type 2 semipermissive infections. I. Viral growth and expression of viral replicative functions during restricted adenovirus infection. Virology **148**:97–113.
- 25. **Graham FL, Smiley J, Russell WC, Nairn R**. 1977. Characteristics of a human cell line transformed by DNA from human adenovirus type 5. The Journal of general virology **36**:59–74.
- 26. Whittaker JL, Byrd PJ, Grand RJ, Gallimore PH. 1984. Isolation and characterization of four adenovirus type 12-transformed human embryo kidney cell lines. Molecular and cellular biology **4**:110–6.
- 27. **Burd EM**. 2003. Human papillomavirus and cervical cancer. Clinical microbiology reviews **16**:1–17.
- 28. **Bachenheimer S, Darnell JE**. 1975. Adenovirus-2 mRNA is transcribed as part of a high-molecular-weight precursor RNA. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **72**:4445–9.

- Berget SM, Berk AJ, Harrison T, Sharp PA. 1978. Spliced segments at the 5' termini of adenovirus-2 late mRNA: a role for heterogeneous nuclear RNA in mammalian cells. Cold Spring Harbor symposia on quantitative biology 42 Pt 1:523–9.
- 30. Berget SM, Moore C, Sharp PA. 1977. Spliced segments at the 5' terminus of adenovirus 2 late mRNA. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 74:3171–5.
- 31. Chow LT, Gelinas RE, Broker TR, Roberts RJ. 1977. An amazing sequence arrangement at the 5' ends of adenovirus 2 messenger RNA. Cell **12**:1–8.
- 32. Weber J, Jelinek W, Darnell JE. 1977. The definition of a large viral transcription unit late in Ad2 infection of HeLa cells: mapping of nascent RNA molecules labeled in isolated nuclei. Cell **10**:611–6.
- 33. Stewart PL, Burnett RM, Cyrklaff M, Fuller SD. 1991. Image reconstruction reveals the complex molecular organization of adenovirus. Cell **67**:145–54.
- 34. **Rux JJ, Burnett RM**. 2004. Adenovirus structure. Human gene therapy **15**:1167–76.
- 35. **Ginsberg HS, Pereira HG, Valentine RC, Wilcox WC**. 1966. A proposed terminology for the adenovirus antigens and virion morphological subunits. Virology **28**:782–3.
- 36. **Zubieta C, Schoehn G, Chroboczek J, Cusack S**. 2005. The structure of the human adenovirus 2 penton. Molecular cell **17**:121–35.
- Wu E, Pache L, Von Seggern DJ, Mullen T-M, Mikyas Y, Stewart PL, Nemerow GR. 2003. Flexibility of the adenovirus fiber is required for efficient receptor interaction. Journal of virology 77:7225–35.
- 38. Van Raaij MJ, Mitraki A, Lavigne G, Cusack S. 1999. A triple beta-spiral in the adenovirus fibre shaft reveals a new structural motif for a fibrous protein. Nature **401**:935–8.
- 39. San Martín C, Burnett RM. 2003. Structural studies on adenoviruses. Current topics in microbiology and immunology **272**:57–94.
- 40. Bergelson JM, Cunningham JA, Droguett G, Kurt-Jones EA, Krithivas A, Hong JS, Horwitz MS, Crowell RL, Finberg RW. 1997. Isolation of a common receptor for Coxsackie B viruses and adenoviruses 2 and 5. Science (New York, N.Y.) 275:1320–3.
- Tomko RP, Xu R, Philipson L. 1997. HCAR and MCAR: the human and mouse cellular receptors for subgroup C adenoviruses and group B coxsackieviruses. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 94:3352–6.
- 42. Bewley MC, Springer K, Zhang YB, Freimuth P, Flanagan JM. 1999. Structural analysis of the mechanism of adenovirus binding to its human cellular receptor, CAR. Science (New York, N.Y.) **286**:1579–83.

- 43. Roelvink PW, Lizonova A, Lee JG, Li Y, Bergelson JM, Finberg RW, Brough DE, Kovesdi I, Wickham TJ. 1998. The coxsackievirus-adenovirus receptor protein can function as a cellular attachment protein for adenovirus serotypes from subgroups A, C, D, E, and F. Journal of virology **72**:7909–15.
- 44. **Arnberg N, Edlund K, Kidd AH, Wadell G**. 2000. Adenovirus type 37 uses sialic acid as a cellular receptor. Journal of virology **74**:42–8.
- 45. **Burmeister WP, Guilligay D, Cusack S, Wadell G, Arnberg N**. 2004. Crystal structure of species D adenovirus fiber knobs and their sialic acid binding sites. Journal of virology **78**:7727–36.
- 46. **Croyle MA, Stone M, Amidon GL, Roessler BJ**. 1998. In vitro and in vivo assessment of adenovirus 41 as a vector for gene delivery to the intestine. Gene therapy **5**:645–54.
- 47. **Kidd AH, Chroboczek J, Cusack S, Ruigrok RW**. 1993. Adenovirus type 40 virions contain two distinct fibers. Virology **192**:73–84.
- 48. **Pieniazek NJ, Slemenda SB, Pieniazek D, Velarde J, Luftig RB**. 1990. Human enteric adenovirus type 41 (Tak) contains a second fiber protein gene. Nucleic acids research **18**:1901.
- 49. **Colby WW, Shenk T**. 1981. Adenovirus type 5 virions can be assembled in vivo in the absence of detectable polypeptide IX. Journal of virology **39**:977–80.
- 50. **Furciniti PS, van Oostrum J, Burnett RM**. 1989. Adenovirus polypeptide IX revealed as capsid cement by difference images from electron microscopy and crystallography. The EMBO journal **8**:3563–70.
- 51. Saban SD, Nepomuceno RR, Gritton LD, Nemerow GR, Stewart PL. 2005. CryoEM structure at 9A resolution of an adenovirus vector targeted to hematopoietic cells. Journal of molecular biology **349**:526–37.
- 52. San Martín C. 2012. Latest insights on adenovirus structure and assembly. Viruses 4:847–77.
- 53. Saban SD, Silvestry M, Nemerow GR, Stewart PL. 2006. Visualization of alpha-helices in a 6-angstrom resolution cryoelectron microscopy structure of adenovirus allows refinement of capsid protein assignments. Journal of virology 80:12049–59.
- 54. Vellinga J, Van der Heijdt S, Hoeben RC. 2005. The adenovirus capsid: major progress in minor proteins. The Journal of general virology **86**:1581–8.
- 55. Wiethoff CM, Wodrich H, Gerace L, Nemerow GR. 2005. Adenovirus protein VI mediates membrane disruption following capsid disassembly. Journal of virology **79**:1992–2000.
- 56. Anderson CW, Young ME, Flint SJ. 1989. Characterization of the adenovirus 2 virion protein, mu. Virology 172:506–12.
- 57. **Hosokawa K, Sung MT**. 1976. Isolation and characterization of an extremely basic protein from adenovirus type 5. Journal of virology **17**:924–34.

- 58. **Russell WC, Laver WG, Sanderson PJ**. 1968. Internal components of adenovirus. Nature **219**:1127–30.
- 59. Mirza MA, Weber J. 1982. Structure of adenovirus chromatin. Biochimica et biophysica acta 696:76–86.
- 60. Vayda ME, Flint SJ. 1987. Isolation and characterization of adenovirus core nucleoprotein subunits. Journal of virology 61:3335–9.
- 61. **Everitt E, Lutter L, Philipson L**. 1975. Structural proteins of adenoviruses. XII. Location and neighbor relationship among proteins of adenovirion type 2 as revealed by enzymatic iodination, immunoprecipitation and chemical cross-linking. Virology **67**:197–208.
- 62. **Rekosh DM, Russell WC, Bellet AJ, Robinson AJ**. 1977. Identification of a protein linked to the ends of adenovirus DNA. Cell **11**:283–95.
- 63. Weber JM. 2003. Adenain, the adenovirus endoprotease (a review). Acta microbiologica et immunologica Hungarica **50**:95–101.
- 64. **Greber UF, Webster P, Weber J, Helenius a**. 1996. The role of the adenovirus protease on virus entry into cells. The EMBO journal **15**:1766–77.
- 65. **Chroboczek J, Bieber F, Jacrot B**. 1992. The sequence of the genome of adenovirus type 5 and its comparison with the genome of adenovirus type 2. Virology **186**:280–5.
- 66. **Roberts RJ, O'Neill KE, Yen CT**. 1984. DNA sequences from the adenovirus 2 genome. The Journal of biological chemistry **259**:13968–75.
- 67. **Sprengel J, Schmitz B, Heuss-Neitzel D, Doerfler W**. 1995. The complete nucleotide sequence of the DNA of human adenovirus type 12. Current topics in microbiology and immunology **199** (**Pt 2**:189–274.
- 68. **Pettersson U, Roberts R**. 1986. Adenovirus gene expression and replication: a historical review. Cancer Cells **4**:37–57.
- 69. **Gräble M, Hearing P**. 1992. cis and trans requirements for the selective packaging of adenovirus type 5 DNA. Journal of virology **66**:723–31.
- 70. **Hearing P, Samulski RJ, Wishart WL, Shenk T**. 1987. Identification of a repeated sequence element required for efficient encapsidation of the adenovirus type 5 chromosome. Journal of virology **61**:2555–8.
- 71. **Stow ND**. 1981. Cloning of a DNA fragment from the left-hand terminus of the adenovirus type 2 genome and its use in site-directed mutagenesis. Journal of virology **37**:171–80.
- 72. Crouzet J, Naudin L, Orsini C, Vigne E, Ferrero L, Le Roux A, Benoit P, Latta M, Torrent C, Branellec D, Denèfle P, Mayaux JF, Perricaudet M, Yeh P. 1997. Recombinational construction in Escherichia coli of infectious adenoviral genomes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 94:1414–9.

- 73. **Jones N, Shenk T**. 1979. An adenovirus type 5 early gene function regulates expression of other early viral genes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **76**:3665–9.
- Stein R, Ziff EB. 1984. HeLa Cell P-Tubulin Gene Transcription Is Stimulated by Adenovirus 5 in Parallel with Viral Early Genes by an Ela- Dependent Mechanism. Molecular and cellular biology 4:2792–2801.
- Nevins JR, Ginsberg HS, Blanchard JM, Wilson MC, Darnell JE. 1979. Regulation of the primary expression of the early adenovirus transcription units. Journal of virology 32:727–33.
- Carter TH, Milovanovic ZZ, Babiss LE, Fisher PB. 1984. Accelerated Onset of Viral Transcription in Adenovirus-Infected HeLa Cells Treated with the. Molecular and cellular biology 4:563–566.
- 77. Miller MS, Pelka P, Fonseca GJ, Cohen MJ, Kelly JN, Barr SD, Grand RJ a, Turnell AS, Whyte P, Mymryk JS. 2012. Characterization of the 55-residue protein encoded by the 9S E1A mRNA of species C adenovirus. Journal of virology 86:4222–33.
- 78. Pelka P, Miller MS, Cecchini M, Yousef AF, Bowdish DM, Dick F, Whyte P, Mymryk JS. 2011. Adenovirus E1A directly targets the E2F/DP-1 complex. Journal of virology 85:8841–51.
- Green M, Daesch GE. 1961. Biochemical studies on adenovirus multiplication. II. Kinetics of nucleic acid and protein synthesis in suspension cultures. Virology 13:169–76.
- 80. Lonberg-Holm K, Philipson L. 1969. Early events of virus-cell interaction in an adenovirus system. Journal of virology **4**:323–38.
- 81. **Mayr GA, Freimuth P**. 1997. A single locus on human chromosome 21 directs the expression of a receptor for adenovirus type 2 in mouse A9 cells. Journal of virology **71**:412–8.
- 82. **Meier O, Greber UF**. 2004. Adenovirus endocytosis. The journal of gene medicine **6 Suppl 1**:S152–63.
- Walters RW, Freimuth P, Moninger TO, Ganske I, Zabner J, Welsh MJ. 2002. Adenovirus fiber disrupts CAR-mediated intercellular adhesion allowing virus escape. Cell 110:789–99.
- 84. Wickham TJ, Mathias P, Cheresh DA, Nemerow GR. 1993. Integrins alpha v beta 3 and alpha v beta 5 promote adenovirus internalization but not virus attachment. Cell **73**:309–19.
- 85. Li E, Stupack D, Klemke R, Cheresh DA, Nemerow GR. 1998. Adenovirus endocytosis via alpha(v) integrins requires phosphoinositide-3-OH kinase. Journal of virology **72**:2055–61.
- 86. **Nakano MY, Boucke K, Suomalainen M, Stidwill RP, Greber UF**. 2000. The first step of adenovirus type 2 disassembly occurs at the cell surface,

independently of endocytosis and escape to the cytosol. Journal of virology **74**:7085–95.

- 87. Greber UF, Willetts M, Webster P, Helenius A. 1993. Stepwise dismantling of adenovirus 2 during entry into cells. Cell **75**:477–86.
- Li E, Stupack D, Bokoch GM, Nemerow GR. 1998. Adenovirus endocytosis requires actin cytoskeleton reorganization mediated by Rho family GTPases. Journal of virology 72:8806–12.
- 89. Varga MJ, Weibull C, Everitt E. 1991. Infectious entry pathway of adenovirus type 2. Journal of virology **65**:6061–70.
- 90. Blumenthal R, Seth P, Willingham MC, Pastan I. 1986. pH-dependent lysis of liposomes by adenovirus. Biochemistry 25:2231–7.
- 91. **Mellman I**. 1992. The importance of being acid: the role of acidification in intracellular membrane traffic. The Journal of experimental biology **172**:39–45.
- 92. Prchla E, Plank C, Wagner E, Blaas D, Fuchs R. 1995. Virus-mediated release of endosomal content in vitro: different behavior of adenovirus and rhinovirus serotype 2. The Journal of cell biology **131**:111–23.
- 93. **Rodríguez E, Everitt E**. 1996. Adenovirus uncoating and nuclear establishment are not affected by weak base amines. Journal of virology **70**:3470–7.
- 94. Martin-Fernandez M, Longshaw S V, Kirby I, Santis G, Tobin MJ, Clarke DT, Jones GR. 2004. Adenovirus type-5 entry and disassembly followed in living cells by FRET, fluorescence anisotropy, and FLIM. Biophysical journal 87:1316–27.
- 95. **Philipson L, Lonberg-Holm K**. 1969. Fate of adenovirus during the early phase of infection. Journal of general microbiology **57**:x–xi.
- 96. **Chardonnet Y, Dales S**. 1972. Early events in the interaction of adenoviruses with HeLa cells. 3. Relationship between an ATPase activity in nuclear envelopes and transfer of core material: a hypothesis. Virology **48**:342–59.
- 97. Greber UF, Suomalainen M, Stidwill RP, Boucke K, Ebersold MW, Helenius A. 1997. The role of the nuclear pore complex in adenovirus DNA entry. The EMBO journal 16:5998–6007.
- 98. **Hearing P, Shenk T**. 1983. The adenovirus type 5 E1A transcriptional control region contains a duplicated enhancer element. Cell **33**:695–703.
- 99. **Debbas M, White E**. 1993. Wild-type p53 mediates apoptosis by E1A, which is inhibited by E1B. Genes & development **7**:546–54.
- 100. **Cathomen T, Weitzman MD**. 2000. A functional complex of adenovirus proteins E1B-55kDa and E4orf6 is necessary to modulate the expression level of p53 but not its transcriptional activity. Journal of virology **74**:11407–12.
- 101. Querido E, Marcellus RC, Lai A, Charbonneau R, Teodoro JG, Ketner G, Branton PE. 1997. Regulation of p53 levels by the E1B 55-kilodalton protein and E4orf6 in adenovirus-infected cells. Journal of virology 71:3788–98.

- 102. Querido E, Blanchette P, Yan Q, Kamura T, Morrison M, Boivin D, Kaelin WG, Conaway RC, Conaway JW, Branton PE. 2001. Degradation of p53 by adenovirus E4orf6 and E1B55K proteins occurs via a novel mechanism involving a Cullin-containing complex. Genes & development 15:3104–17.
- 103. Sarnow P, Hearing P, Anderson CW, Halbert DN, Shenk T, Levine AJ. 1984. Adenovirus early region 1B 58,000-dalton tumor antigen is physically associated with an early region 4 25,000-dalton protein in productively infected cells. Journal of virology 49:692–700.
- Kao CC, Yew PR, Berk AJ. 1990. Domains required for in vitro association between the cellular p53 and the adenovirus 2 E1B 55K proteins. Virology 179:806–14.
- 105. Martin ME, Berk AJ. 1998. Adenovirus E1B 55K represses p53 activation in vitro. Journal of virology 72:3146–54.
- 106. Cuconati A, Mukherjee C, Perez D, White E. 2003. DNA damage response and MCL-1 destruction initiate apoptosis in adenovirus-infected cells. Genes & development 17:2922–32.
- 107. Cuconati A, White E. 2002. Viral homologs of BCL-2: role of apoptosis in the regulation of virus infection. Genes & development 16:2465–78.
- 108. **Ito J, Braithwaite DK**. 1991. Compilation and alignment of DNA polymerase sequences. Nucleic acids research **19**:4045–57.
- Stillman BW, Tamanoi F, Mathews MB. 1982. Purification of an adenoviruscoded DNA polymerase that is required for initiation of DNA replication. Cell 31:613–23.
- Stillman BW, Lewis JB, Chow LT, Mathews MB, Smart JE. 1981. Identification of the gene and mRNA for the adenovirus terminal protein precursor. Cell 23:497–508.
- Challberg MD, Ostrove JM, Kelly TJ. 1982. Initiation of adenovirus DNA replication: detection of covalent complexes between nucleotide and the 80kilodalton terminal protein. Journal of virology 41:265–70.
- Ikeda JE, Enomoto T, Hurwitz J. 1982. Adenoviral protein-primed initiation of DNA chains in vitro. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 79:2442–6.
- De Jong RN, Meijer LAT, van der Vliet PC. 2003. DNA binding properties of the adenovirus DNA replication priming protein pTP. Nucleic acids research 31:3274–86.
- 114. **Field J, Gronostajski RM, Hurwitz J**. 1984. Properties of the adenovirus DNA polymerase. The Journal of biological chemistry **259**:9487–95.
- 115. **King AJ, Teertstra WR, Blanco L, Salas M, van der Vliet PC**. 1997. Processive proofreading by the adenovirus DNA polymerase. Association with the priming protein reduces exonucleolytic degradation. Nucleic acids research **25**:1745–52.

- 116. **Lindenbaum JO, Field J, Hurwitz J**. 1986. The adenovirus DNA binding protein and adenovirus DNA polymerase interact to catalyze elongation of primed DNA templates. The Journal of biological chemistry **261**:10218–27.
- 117. Wold WS, Tollefson AE, Hermiston TW. 1995. E3 transcription unit of adenovirus. Current topics in microbiology and immunology **199** (Pt 1:237–74.
- Windheim M, Hilgendorf A, Burgert HG. 2004. Immune evasion by adenovirus E3 proteins: exploitation of intracellular trafficking pathways. Current topics in microbiology and immunology 273:29–85.
- Andersson M, McMichael A, Peterson PA. 1987. Reduced allorecognition of adenovirus-2 infected cells. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950) 138:3960–6.
- 120. Burgert HG, Maryanski JL, Kvist S. 1987. "E3/19K" protein of adenovirus type 2 inhibits lysis of cytolytic T lymphocytes by blocking cell-surface expression of histocompatibility class I antigens. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 84:1356–60.
- Bennett EM, Bennink JR, Yewdell JW, Brodsky FM. 1999. Cutting edge: adenovirus E19 has two mechanisms for affecting class I MHC expression. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950) 162:5049–52.
- 122. Shisler J, Yang C, Walter B, Ware CF, Gooding LR. 1997. The adenovirus E3-10.4K/14.5K complex mediates loss of cell surface Fas (CD95) and resistance to Fas-induced apoptosis. Journal of virology 71:8299–306.
- 123. Tollefson AE, Hermiston TW, Lichtenstein DL, Colle CF, Tripp RA, Dimitrov T, Toth K, Wells CE, Doherty PC, Wold WS. 1998. Forced degradation of Fas inhibits apoptosis in adenovirus-infected cells. Nature 392:726– 30.
- 124. Benedict CA, Norris PS, Prigozy TI, Bodmer JL, Mahr JA, Garnett CT, Martinon F, Tschopp J, Gooding LR, Ware CF. 2001. Three adenovirus E3 proteins cooperate to evade apoptosis by tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosisinducing ligand receptor-1 and -2. The Journal of biological chemistry 276:3270– 8.
- 125. Moise AR, Grant JR, Vitalis TZ, Jefferies WA. 2002. Adenovirus E3-6.7K maintains calcium homeostasis and prevents apoptosis and arachidonic acid release. Journal of virology 76:1578–87.
- Chen P, Tian J, Kovesdi I, Bruder JT. 1998. Interaction of the adenovirus 14.7kDa protein with FLICE inhibits Fas ligand-induced apoptosis. The Journal of biological chemistry 273:5815–20.
- 127. Gooding LR, Elmore LW, Tollefson AE, Brady HA, Wold WS. 1988. A 14,700 MW protein from the E3 region of adenovirus inhibits cytolysis by tumor necrosis factor. Cell 53:341–6.
- 128. Tollefson AE, Toth K, Doronin K, Kuppuswamy M, Doronina OA, Lichtenstein DL, Hermiston TW, Smith CA, Wold WS. 2001. Inhibition of

TRAIL-induced apoptosis and forced internalization of TRAIL receptor 1 by adenovirus proteins. Journal of virology **75**:8875–87.

- Lesokhin AM, Delgado-Lopez F, Horwitz MS. 2002. Inhibition of chemokine expression by adenovirus early region three (E3) genes. Journal of virology 76:8236–43.
- 130. **Tollefson AE, Scaria A, Saha SK, Wold WS**. 1992. The 11,600-MW protein encoded by region E3 of adenovirus is expressed early but is greatly amplified at late stages of infection. Journal of virology **66**:3633–42.
- 131. Tollefson AE, Scaria A, Hermiston TW, Ryerse JS, Wold LJ, Wold WS. 1996. The adenovirus death protein (E3-11.6K) is required at very late stages of infection for efficient cell lysis and release of adenovirus from infected cells. Journal of virology 70:2296–306.
- Dobner T, Horikoshi N, Rubenwolf S, Shenk T. 1996. Blockage by adenovirus E4orf6 of transcriptional activation by the p53 tumor suppressor. Science (New York, N.Y.) 272:1470–3.
- 133. **Boyer J, Rohleder K, Ketner G**. 1999. Adenovirus E4 34k and E4 11k inhibit double strand break repair and are physically associated with the cellular DNA-dependent protein kinase. Virology **263**:307–12.
- 134. Stracker TH, Carson CT, Weitzman MD. 2002. Adenovirus oncoproteins inactivate the Mre11-Rad50-NBS1 DNA repair complex. Nature **418**:348–52.
- Evans JD, Hearing P. 2003. Distinct roles of the Adenovirus E4 ORF3 protein in viral DNA replication and inhibition of genome concatenation. Journal of virology 77:5295–304.
- 136. Weiden MD, Ginsberg HS. 1994. Deletion of the E4 region of the genome produces adenovirus DNA concatemers. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 91:153–7.
- Babiss LE, Ginsberg HS. 1984. Adenovirus type 5 early region 1b gene product is required for efficient shutoff of host protein synthesis. Journal of virology 50:202–12.
- 138. **Beltz GA, Flint SJ**. 1979. Inhibition of HeLa cell protein synthesis during adenovirus infection. Restriction of cellular messenger RNA sequences to the nucleus. Journal of molecular biology **131**:353–73.
- 139. Bridge E, Ketner G. 1990. Interaction of adenoviral E4 and E1b products in late gene expression. Virology 174:345–53.
- Halbert DN, Cutt JR, Shenk T. 1985. Adenovirus early region 4 encodes functions required for efficient DNA replication, late gene expression, and host cell shutoff. Journal of virology 56:250–7.
- Yatherajam G, Huang W, Flint SJ. 2011. Export of adenoviral late mRNA from the nucleus requires the Nxf1/Tap export receptor. Journal of virology 85:1429– 38.

- 142. Frese KK, Lee SS, Thomas DL, Latorre IJ, Weiss RS, Glaunsinger BA, Javier RT. 2003. Selective PDZ protein-dependent stimulation of phosphatidylinositol 3kinase by the adenovirus E4-ORF1 oncoprotein. Oncogene 22:710–21.
- 143. Marcellus RC, Chan H, Paquette D, Thirlwell S, Boivin D, Branton PE. 2000. Induction of p53-independent apoptosis by the adenovirus E4orf4 protein requires binding to the Balpha subunit of protein phosphatase 2A. Journal of virology 74:7869–77.
- 144. O'Shea C, Klupsch K, Choi S, Bagus B, Soria C, Shen J, McCormick F, Stokoe D. 2005. Adenoviral proteins mimic nutrient/growth signals to activate the mTOR pathway for viral replication. The EMBO journal 24:1211–21.
- 145. Shtrichman R, Sharf R, Kleinberger T. 2000. Adenovirus E4orf4 protein interacts with both Balpha and B' subunits of protein phosphatase 2A, but E4orf4induced apoptosis is mediated only by the interaction with Balpha. Oncogene 19:3757–65.
- 146. **Hay N, Sonenberg N**. 2004. Upstream and downstream of mTOR. Genes & development **18**:1926–45.
- 147. Lane HA, Fernandez A, Lamb NJ, Thomas G. 1993. p70s6k function is essential for G1 progression. Nature 363:170–2.
- 148. **Martin DE, Hall MN**. 2005. The expanding TOR signaling network. Current opinion in cell biology **17**:158–66.
- O'Shea CC, Choi S, McCormick F, Stokoe D. 2005. Adenovirus overrides cellular checkpoints for protein translation. Cell cycle (Georgetown, Tex.) 4:883– 8.
- 150. Marton MJ, Baim SB, Ornelles DA, Shenk T. 1990. The adenovirus E4 17kilodalton protein complexes with the cellular transcription factor E2F, altering its DNA-binding properties and stimulating E1A-independent accumulation of E2 mRNA. Journal of virology 64:2345–59.
- 151. **Obert S, O'Connor RJ, Schmid S, Hearing P**. 1994. The adenovirus E4-6/7 protein transactivates the E2 promoter by inducing dimerization of a heteromeric E2F complex. Molecular and cellular biology **14**:1333–46.
- 152. Weinmann R, Raskas HJ, Roeder RG. 1974. Role of DNA-dependent RNA polymerases II and III in transcription of the adenovirus genome late in productive infection. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **71**:3426–39.
- 153. Andersson MG, Haasnoot PCJ, Xu N, Berenjian S, Berkhout B, Akusjärvi G. 2005. Suppression of RNA interference by adenovirus virus-associated RNA. Journal of virology 79:9556–65.
- 154. Lu S, Cullen BR. 2004. Adenovirus VA1 noncoding RNA can inhibit small interfering RNA and MicroRNA biogenesis. Journal of virology **78**:12868–76.
- 155. Ambros V. 2004. The functions of animal microRNAs. Nature 431:350–5.

- 156. **Kitajewski J, Schneider RJ, Safer B, Munemitsu SM, Samuel CE, Thimmappaya B, Shenk T**. 1986. Adenovirus VAI RNA antagonizes the antiviral action of interferon by preventing activation of the interferon-induced eIF-2 alpha kinase. Cell **45**:195–200.
- 157. O'Malley RP, Duncan RF, Hershey JW, Mathews MB. 1989. Modification of protein synthesis initiation factors and the shut-off of host protein synthesis in adenovirus-infected cells. Virology **168**:112–8.
- 158. Schneider RJ, Safer B, Munemitsu SM, Samuel CE, Shenk T. 1985. Adenovirus VAI RNA prevents phosphorylation of the eukaryotic initiation factor 2 alpha subunit subsequent to infection. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 82:4321–5.
- 159. Lechner RL, Kelly TJ. 1977. The structure of replicating adenovirus 2 DNA molecules. Cell 12:1007–20.
- Sawadogo M, Roeder RG. 1985. Interaction of a gene-specific transcription factor with the adenovirus major late promoter upstream of the TATA box region. Cell 43:165–75.
- 161. **Toth M, Doerfler W, Shenk T**. 1992. Adenovirus DNA replication facilitates binding of the MLTF/USF transcription factor to the viral major late promoter within infected cells. Nucleic acids research **20**:5143–8.
- Tribouley C, Lutz P, Staub A, Kedinger C. 1994. The product of the adenovirus intermediate gene IVa2 is a transcriptional activator of the major late promoter. Journal of virology 68:4450–7.
- 163. **Jones N, Shenk T**. 1979. Isolation of adenovirus type 5 host range deletion mutants defective for transformation of rat embryo cells. Cell **17**:683–9.
- 164. **Perricaudet M, Akusjärvi G, Virtanen A, Pettersson U**. 1979. Structure of two spliced mRNAs from the transforming region of human subgroup C adenoviruses. Nature **281**:694–6.
- 165. **Stephens C, Harlow E**. 1987. Differential splicing yields novel adenovirus 5 E1A mRNAs that encode 30 kd and 35 kd proteins. The EMBO journal **6**:2027–35.
- Pelka P, Ablack JNG, Fonseca GJ, Yousef AF, Mymryk JS. 2008. Intrinsic structural disorder in adenovirus E1A: a viral molecular hub linking multiple diverse processes. Journal of virology 82:7252–63.
- Kimelman D, Miller JS, Porter D, Roberts BE. 1985. E1a regions of the human adenoviruses and of the highly oncogenic simian adenovirus 7 are closely related. Journal of virology 53:399–409.
- Van Ormondt H, Maat J, Dijkema R. 1980. Comparison of nucleotide sequences of the early E1a regions for subgroups A, B and C of human adenoviruses. Gene 12:63–76.
- 169. Culp JS, Webster LC, Friedman DJ, Smith CL, Huang WJ, Wu FY, Rosenberg M, Ricciardi RP. 1988. The 289-amino acid E1A protein of

adenovirus binds zinc in a region that is important for trans-activation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **85**:6450–4.

- Avvakumov N, Kajon AE, Hoeben RC, Mymryk JS. 2004. Comprehensive sequence analysis of the E1A proteins of human and simian adenoviruses. Virology 329:477–92.
- 171. **Dumont DJ, Marcellus RC, Bayley ST, Branton PE**. 1993. Role of phosphorylation near the amino terminus of adenovirus type 5 early region 1A proteins. The Journal of general virology **74** (**Pt 4**):583–95.
- Tremblay ML, Dumont DJ, Branton PE. 1989. Analysis of phosphorylation sites in the exon 1 region of E1A proteins of human adenovirus type 5. Virology 169:397–407.
- 173. Lyons RH, Ferguson BQ, Rosenberg M. 1987. Pentapeptide nuclear localization signal in adenovirus E1a. Molecular and cellular biology 7:2451–6.
- 174. Ferguson B, Krippl B, Andrisani O, Jones N, Westphal H, Rosenberg M. 1985. E1A 13S and 12S mRNA products made in Escherichia coli both function as nucleus-localized transcription activators but do not directly bind DNA. Molecular and cellular biology 5:2653–61.
- 175. Chinnadurai G. 2002. CtBP, an unconventional transcriptional corepressor in development and oncogenesis. Molecular cell 9:213–24.
- 176. **Morris EJ, Dyson NJ**. 2001. Retinoblastoma protein partners. Advances in cancer research **82**:1–54.
- 177. Ferrari R, Pellegrini M, Horwitz GA, Xie W, Berk AJ, Kurdistani SK. 2008. Epigenetic reprogramming by adenovirus e1a. Science (New York, N.Y.) 321:1086–8.
- 178. Horwitz GA, Zhang K, McBrian MA, Grunstein M, Kurdistani SK, Berk AJ. 2008. Adenovirus small e1a alters global patterns of histone modification. Science (New York, N.Y.) 321:1084–5.
- 179. Nevins JR. 1981. Mechanism of activation of early viral transcription by the adenovirus E1A gene product. Cell **26**:213–20.
- Moran E, Grodzicker T, Roberts RJ, Mathews MB, Zerler B. 1986. Lytic and transforming functions of individual products of the adenovirus E1A gene. Journal of virology 57:765–75.
- 181. **Winberg G, Shenk T**. 1984. Dissection of overlapping functions within the adenovirus type 5 E1A gene. The EMBO journal **3**:1907–12.
- Berk AJ, Lee F, Harrison T, Williams J, Sharp PA. 1979. Pre-early adenovirus 5 gene product regulates synthesis of early viral messenger RNAs. Cell 17:935–44.
- 183. Lillie JW, Green MR. 1989. Transcription activation by the adenovirus E1a protein. Nature **338**:39–44.
- 184. Liu F, Green MR. 1994. Promoter targeting by adenovirus E1a through interaction with different cellular DNA-binding domains. Nature **368**:520–5.

- 185. **Boyer TG, Martin ME, Lees E, Ricciardi RP, Berk AJ**. 1999. Mammalian Srb/Mediator complex is targeted by adenovirus E1A protein. Nature **399**:276–9.
- Wang G, Berk AJ. 2002. In vivo association of adenovirus large E1A protein with the human mediator complex in adenovirus-infected and -transformed cells. Journal of virology 76:9186–93.
- 187. Cantin GT, Stevens JL, Berk AJ. 2003. Activation domain-mediator interactions promote transcription preinitiation complex assembly on promoter DNA. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 100:12003–8.
- 188. **Roeder RG**. 1996. The role of general initiation factors in transcription by RNA polymerase II. Trends in biochemical sciences **21**:327–35.
- 189. Ablack JNG, Cohen M, Thillainadesan G, Fonseca GJ, Pelka P, Torchia J, Mymryk JS. 2012. Cellular GCN5 is a novel regulator of human adenovirus E1Aconserved region 3 transactivation. Journal of virology 86:8198–209.
- 190. Pelka P, Ablack JNG, Torchia J, Turnell AS, Grand RJA, Mymryk JS. 2009. Transcriptional control by adenovirus E1A conserved region 3 via p300/CBP. Nucleic acids research 37:1095–106.
- 191. Hateboer G, Gennissen A, Ramos YF, Kerkhoven RM, Sonntag-Buck V, Stunnenberg HG, Bernards R. 1995. BS69, a novel adenovirus E1A-associated protein that inhibits E1A transactivation. The EMBO journal 14:3159–69.
- 192. Berk AJ, Boyer TG, Kapanidis AN, Ebright RH, Kobayashi NN, Horn PJ, Sullivan SM, Koop R, Surby MA, Triezenberg SJ. 1998. Mechanisms of viral activators. Cold Spring Harbor symposia on quantitative biology 63:243–52.
- 193. **Duyndam MC, van Dam H, van der Eb AJ, Zantema A**. 1996. The CR1 and CR3 domains of the adenovirus type 5 E1A proteins can independently mediate activation of ATF-2. Journal of virology **70**:5852–9.
- 194. Wong HK, Ziff EB. 1994. Complementary functions of E1a conserved region 1 cooperate with conserved region 3 to activate adenovirus serotype 5 early promoters. Journal of virology 68:4910–20.
- 195. Frisch SM, Mymryk JS. 2002. Adenovirus-5 E1A: paradox and paradigm. Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology 3:441–52.
- 196. Fuchs M, Gerber J, Drapkin R, Sif S, Ikura T, Ogryzko V, Lane WS, Nakatani Y, Livingston DM. 2001. The p400 complex is an essential E1A transformation target. Cell 106:297–307.
- 197. Kovesdi I, Reichel R, Nevins JR. 1986. Identification of a cellular transcription factor involved in E1A trans-activation. Cell **45**:219–28.
- 198. Zamanian M, La Thangue NB. 1992. Adenovirus E1a prevents the retinoblastoma gene product from repressing the activity of a cellular transcription factor. The EMBO journal 11:2603–10.
- 199. Whyte P, Buchkovich KJ, Horowitz JM, Friend SH, Raybuck M, Weinberg RA, Harlow E. 1988. Association between an oncogene and an anti-oncogene: the adenovirus E1A proteins bind to the retinoblastoma gene product. Nature 334:124–9.
- 200. Ferrari R, Berk AJ, Kurdistani SK. 2009. Viral manipulation of the host epigenome for oncogenic transformation. Nature reviews. Genetics 10:290–4.
- 201. Bruton RK, Pelka P, Mapp KL, Fonseca GJ, Torchia J, Turnell AS, Mymryk JS, Grand RJA. 2008. Identification of a second CtBP binding site in adenovirus type 5 E1A conserved region 3. Journal of virology 82:8476–86.
- Spindler KR, Eng CY, Berk AJ. 1985. An adenovirus early region 1A protein is required for maximal viral DNA replication in growth-arrested human cells. Journal of virology 53:742–50.
- 203. Blais A, Dynlacht BD. 2004. Hitting their targets: an emerging picture of E2F and cell cycle control. Current opinion in genetics & development 14:527–32.
- 204. Cobrinik D. 2005. Pocket proteins and cell cycle control. Oncogene 24:2796–809.
- 205. Frolov M V, Dyson NJ. 2004. Molecular mechanisms of E2F-dependent activation and pRB-mediated repression. Journal of cell science 117:2173–81.
- 206. **Ross JF, Liu X, Dynlacht BD**. 1999. Mechanism of transcriptional repression of E2F by the retinoblastoma tumor suppressor protein. Molecular cell **3**:195–205.
- Bandara LR, La Thangue NB. 1991. Adenovirus E1a prevents the retinoblastoma gene product from complexing with a cellular transcription factor. Nature 351:494–7.
- Chattopadhyay D, Ghosh MK, Mal A, Harter ML. 2001. Inactivation of p21 by E1A leads to the induction of apoptosis in DNA-damaged cells. Journal of virology 75:9844–56.
- 209. Zerler B, Roberts RJ, Mathews MB, Moran E. 1987. Different functional domains of the adenovirus E1A gene are involved in regulation of host cell cycle products. Molecular and cellular biology 7:821–9.
- 210. Vo N, Goodman RH. 2001. CREB-binding protein and p300 in transcriptional regulation. The Journal of biological chemistry **276**:13505–8.
- 211. **Gutch MJ, Reich NC**. 1991. Repression of the interferon signal transduction pathway by the adenovirus E1A oncogene. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **88**:7913–7.
- Look DC, Roswit WT, Frick AG, Gris-Alevy Y, Dickhaus DM, Walter MJ, Holtzman MJ. 1998. Direct suppression of Stat1 function during adenoviral infection. Immunity 9:871–80.
- 213. Chatterjee-Kishore M, van Den Akker F, Stark GR. 2000. Adenovirus E1A down-regulates LMP2 transcription by interfering with the binding of stat1 to IRF1. The Journal of biological chemistry **275**:20406–11.

- 214. Fonseca GJ, Thillainadesan G, Yousef AF, Ablack JN, Mossman KL, Torchia J, Mymryk JS. 2012. Adenovirus evasion of interferon-mediated innate immunity by direct antagonism of a cellular histone posttranslational modification. Cell host & microbe 11:597–606.
- Fonseca GJ, Cohen MJ, Nichols AC, Barrett JW, Mymryk JS. 2013. Viral Retasking of hBre1/RNF20 to Recruit hPaf1 for Transcriptional Activation. PLoS pathogens 9:e1003411.
- 216. Beckingham KM, Armstrong JD, Texada MJ, Munjaal R, Baker DA. 2005. Drosophila Melanogaster - The model organism of choice for the complex biology of multi-celluar organisms. Gravitational and Space Biology 18:17–30.
- 217. Hariharan IK, Haber DA. 2003. Yeast, Flies, Worms, and Fish in the Study of Human Disease. New England Journal of Medicine **348**:2457–2463.
- Pak W. 1979. Study of photoreceptor function in Drosophila mutants, p. 67–99. *In* Breakfield, X (ed.), Neurogenetics: Genetic approaches to the nervous system. Eslevier-North Holland, New York.
- 219. **Pak WL**. 1995. Drosophila in vision research. The Friedenwald Lecture. Investigative ophthalmology & visual science **36**:2340–57.
- 220. Clapham DE. 2003. TRP channels as cellular sensors. Nature 426:517–24.
- 221. **Huang C-L**. 2004. The transient receptor potential superfamily of ion channels. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN **15**:1690–9.
- 222. **Dudai Y, Jan YN, Byers D, Quinn WG, Benzer S**. 1976. dunce, a mutant of Drosophila deficient in learning. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **73**:1684–8.
- 223. Livingstone MS, Sziber PP, Quinn WG. 1984. Loss of calcium/calmodulin responsiveness in adenylate cyclase of rutabaga, a Drosophila learning mutant. Cell **37**:205–15.
- 224. Nüsslein-Volhard C, Wieschaus E. 1980. Mutations affecting segment number and polarity in Drosophila. Nature **287**:795–801.
- 225. Lum L, Beachy PA. 2004. The Hedgehog response network: sensors, switches, and routers. Science (New York, N.Y.) **304**:1755–9.
- 226. Rubin GM, Yandell MD, Wortman JR, Gabor Miklos GL, Nelson CR, Hariharan IK, Fortini ME, Li PW, Apweiler R, Fleischmann W, Cherry JM, Henikoff S, Skupski MP, Misra S, Ashburner M, Birney E, Boguski MS, Brody T, Brokstein P, Celniker SE, Chervitz SA, Coates D, Cravchik A, Gabrielian A, Galle RF, Gelbart WM, George RA, Goldstein LS, Gong F, Guan P, Harris NL, Hay BA, Hoskins RA, Li J, Li Z, Hynes RO, Jones SJ, Kuehl PM, Lemaitre B, Littleton JT, Morrison DK, Mungall C, O'Farrell PH, Pickeral OK, Shue C, Vosshall LB, Zhang J, Zhao Q, Zheng XH, Lewis S. 2000. Comparative genomics of the eukaryotes. Science (New York, N.Y.) 287:2204–15.

- 227. **Reiter LT, Potocki L, Chien S, Gribskov M, Bier E**. 2001. A systematic analysis of human disease-associated gene sequences in Drosophila melanogaster. Genome research **11**:1114–25.
- 228. Hahn H, Wicking C, Zaphiropoulous PG, Gailani MR, Shanley S, Chidambaram A, Vorechovsky I, Holmberg E, Unden AB, Gillies S, Negus K, Smyth I, Pressman C, Leffell DJ, Gerrard B, Goldstein AM, Dean M, Toftgard R, Chenevix-Trench G, Wainwright B, Bale AE. 1996. Mutations of the human homolog of Drosophila patched in the nevoid basal cell carcinoma syndrome. Cell 85:841–51.
- 229. Johnson RL, Rothman AL, Xie J, Goodrich L V, Bare JW, Bonifas JM, Quinn AG, Myers RM, Cox DR, Epstein EH, Scott MP. 1996. Human homolog of patched, a candidate gene for the basal cell nevus syndrome. Science (New York, N.Y.) 272:1668–71.
- 230. Thayer SP, di Magliano MP, Heiser PW, Nielsen CM, Roberts DJ, Lauwers GY, Qi YP, Gysin S, Fernández-del Castillo C, Yajnik V, Antoniu B, McMahon M, Warshaw AL, Hebrok M. 2003. Hedgehog is an early and late mediator of pancreatic cancer tumorigenesis. Nature 425:851–6.
- 231. Scott MP. 2003. Cancer: a twist in a hedgehog's tale. Nature 425:780–2.
- 232. **Bonini NM, Fortini ME**. 2003. Human neurodegenerative disease modeling using Drosophila. Annual review of neuroscience **26**:627–56.
- 233. Iijima K, Liu H-P, Chiang A-S, Hearn SA, Konsolaki M, Zhong Y. 2004. Dissecting the pathological effects of human Abeta40 and Abeta42 in Drosophila: a potential model for Alzheimer's disease. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 101:6623–8.
- 234. Fossgreen A, Brückner B, Czech C, Masters CL, Beyreuther K, Paro R. 1998. Transgenic Drosophila expressing human amyloid precursor protein show gammasecretase activity and a blistered-wing phenotype. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 95:13703–8.
- 235. **St Johnston D**. 2002. The art and design of genetic screens: Drosophila melanogaster. Nature reviews. Genetics **3**:176–88.
- 236. Schreiber SL, Preiss A, Nagel AC, Wech I, Maier D. 2002. Genetic screen for modifiers of the rough eye phenotype resulting from overexpression of the Notch antagonist hairless in Drosophila. Genesis (New York, N.Y.: 2000) 33:141–52.
- 237. **Hirose F, Yamaguchi M, Handa H, Inomata Y, Matsukage A**. 1993. Novel 8base pair sequence (Drosophila DNA replication-related element) and specific binding factor involved in the expression of Drosophila genes for DNA polymerase alpha and proliferating cell nuclear antigen. The Journal of biological chemistry **268**:2092–9.
- 238. Matsukage A, Kitani H, Yamaguchi M, Kusakabe M, Morita T, Koshida Y. 1986. Differentiation of lens and neural cells in chicken embryos is accompanied by simultaneous decay of DNA replication machinery. Developmental biology 117:226–32.

- 239. Yamaguchi M, Nishida Y, Moriuchi T, Hirose F, Hui CC, Suzuki Y, Matsukage A. 1990. Drosophila proliferating cell nuclear antigen (cyclin) gene: structure, expression during development, and specific binding of homeodomain proteins to its 5'-flanking region. Molecular and cellular biology **10**:872–9.
- 240. Hirose F, Yamaguchi M, Nishida Y, Masutani M, Miyazawa H, Hanaoka F, Matsukage A. 1991. Structure and expression during development of Drosophila melanogaster gene for DNA polymerase alpha. Nucleic acids research **19**:4991–8.
- 241. Sawado T, Hirose F, Takahashi Y, Sasaki T, Shinomiya T, Sakaguchi K, Matsukage a, Yamaguchi M. 1998. The DNA replication-related element (DRE)/DRE-binding factor system is a transcriptional regulator of the Drosophila E2F gene. The Journal of biological chemistry 273:26042–51.
- 242. Takahashi Y, Yamaguchi M, Hirose F, Cotterill S, Kobayashi J, Miyajima S, Matsukage A. 1996. DNA replication-related elements cooperate to enhance promoter activity of the drosophila DNA polymerase alpha 73-kDa subunit gene. The Journal of biological chemistry 271:14541–7.
- 243. **Ryu JR, Choi TY, Kwon EJ, Lee WH, Nishida Y, Hayashi Y, Matsukage A, Yamaguchi M, Yoo MA**. 1997. Transcriptional regulation of the Drosophila-raf proto-oncogene by the DNA replication-related element (DRE)/DRE-binding factor (DREF) system. Nucleic acids research **25**:794–9.
- 244. Yamaguchi M, Hirose F, Matsukage A. 1996. Roles of multiple promoter elements of the proliferating cell nuclear antigen gene during Drosophila development. Genes to cells : devoted to molecular & cellular mechanisms 1:47– 58.
- 245. Hirose F, Yamaguchi M, Kuroda K, Omori A, Hachiya T, Ikeda M, Nishimoto Y, Matsukage A. 1996. Isolation and characterization of cDNA for DREF, a promoter-activating factor for Drosophila DNA replication-related genes. The Journal of biological chemistry 271:3930–7.
- 246. **Takahashi Y, Hirose F, Matsukage A, Yamaguchi M**. 1999. Identification of three conserved regions in the DREF transcription factors from Drosophila melanogaster and Drosophila virilis. Nucleic acids research **27**:510–6.
- 247. **Matsukage a, Hirose F, Hayashi Y, Hamada K, Yamaguchi M**. 1995. The DRE sequence TATCGATA, a putative promoter-activating element for Drosophila melanogaster cell-proliferation-related genes. Gene.
- 248. **Huikeshoven H, Cotterill S**. 1999. Cloning and characterisation of the gene for the large subunit of the DNA primase from Drosophila melanogaster. Biochimica et biophysica acta **1445**:359–62.
- 249. Lightfoot K, Maltby L, Duarte R, Veale R, Segev O. 1994. Conserved ciselements bind a protein complex that regulates Drosophila ras2/rop bidirectional expression. British journal of cancer **69**:264–73.
- 250. Choi T, Cho N, Oh Y, Yoo M, Matsukage A, Ryu Y, Han K, Yoon J, Baek K. 2000. The DNA replication-related element (DRE)-DRE-binding factor (DREF)

system may be involved in the expression of the Drosophila melanogaster TBP gene. FEBS letters **483**:71–7.

- 251. Ohno K, Hirose F, Sakaguchi K, Nishida Y, Matsukage A. 1996. Transcriptional regulation of the Drosophila CycA gene by the DNA replicationrelated element (DRE) and DRE binding factor (DREF). Nucleic acids research 24:3942–6.
- 252. Okudaira K, Ohno K, Yoshida H, Asano M, Hirose F, Yamaguchi M. 2005. Transcriptional regulation of the Drosophila orc2 gene by the DREF pathway. Biochimica et biophysica acta 1732:23–30.
- 253. Lefai E, Fernandez-Moreno MA, Alahari A, Kaguni LS, Garesse R. 2000. Differential regulation of the catalytic and accessory subunit genes of Drosophila mitochondrial DNA polymerase. The Journal of biological chemistry 275:33123– 33.
- 254. Tsuchiya A, Inoue YH, Ida H, Kawase Y, Okudaira K, Ohno K, Yoshida H, Yamaguchi M. 2007. Transcriptional regulation of the Drosophila rfc1 gene by the DRE-DREF pathway. The FEBS journal **274**:1818–32.
- 255. **Phuong Thao DT, Ida H, Yoshida H, Yamaguchi M**. 2006. Identification of the Drosophila skpA gene as a novel target of the transcription factor DREF. Experimental cell research **312**:3641–50.
- 256. Hirose F, Ohshima N, Shiraki M, Inoue YH, Taguchi O, Nishi Y, Matsukage A, Yamaguchi M. 2001. Ectopic expression of DREF induces DNA synthesis, apoptosis, and unusual morphogenesis in the Drosophila eye imaginal disc: possible interaction with Polycomb and trithorax group proteins. Molecular and cellular biology **21**:7231–42.
- 257. Kwon EJ, Oh EJ, Kim YS, Hirose F, Ohno K, Nishida Y, Matsukage A, Yamaguchi M, Yoo MA. 2001. E2F-dependent transcription of the raf protooncogene during Drosophila development. Nucleic acids research **29**:1808–14.
- 258. Nakamura K, Ida H, Yamaguchi M. 2008. Transcriptional regulation of the Drosophila moira and osa genes by the DREF pathway. Nucleic acids research 36:3905–15.
- 259. Kwon E, Seto H, Hirose F, Ohshima N, Takahashi Y, Nishida Y, Yamaguchi M. 2003. Transcription control of a gene for Drosophila transcription factor, DREF by DRE and cis-elements conserved between Drosophila melanogaster and virilis. Gene 309:101–16.
- 260. **Hirose F, Yamaguchi M, Matsukage A**. 1999. Targeted expression of the DNA binding domain of DRE-binding factor, a Drosophila transcription factor, attenuates DNA replication of the salivary gland and eye imaginal disc. Molecular and cellular biology **19**:6020–8.
- Hyun J, Jasper H, Bohmann D. 2005. DREF is required for efficient growth and cell cycle progression in Drosophila imaginal discs. Molecular and cellular biology 25:5590–8.

- 262. Matsukage A, Hirose F, Yoo M-A, Yamaguchi M. 2008. The DRE/DREF transcriptional regulatory system: a master key for cell proliferation. Biochimica et biophysica acta **1779**:81–9.
- 263. Yoshida H, Kwon E, Hirose F, Otsuki K, Yamada M, Yamaguchi M. 2004. DREF is required for EGFR signalling during Drosophila wing vein development. Genes to cells : devoted to molecular & cellular mechanisms 9:935–44.
- Yamaguchi M, Hayashi Y, Matsukage A. 1995. Essential role of E2F recognition sites in regulation of the proliferating cell nuclear antigen gene promoter during Drosophila development. The Journal of biological chemistry 270:25159–65.
- Hochheimer A, Zhou S, Zheng S, Holmes MC, Tjian R. 2002. TRF2 associates with DREF and directs promoter-selective gene expression in Drosophila. Nature 420:439–45.
- Hochheimer A, Tjian R. 2003. Diversified transcription initiation complexes expand promoter selectivity and tissue-specific gene expression. Genes & development 17:1309–20.
- 267. **Rabenstein MD, Zhou S, Lis JT, Tjian R**. 1999. TATA box-binding protein (TBP)-related factor 2 (TRF2), a third member of the TBP family. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **96**:4791–6.
- Kehle J, Beuchle D, Treuheit S, Christen B, Kennison JA, Bienz M, Müller J. 1998. dMi-2, a hunchback-interacting protein that functions in polycomb repression. Science (New York, N.Y.) 282:1897–900.
- 269. Brehm A, Längst G, Kehle J, Clapier CR, Imhof A, Eberharter A, Müller J, Becker PB. 2000. dMi-2 and ISWI chromatin remodelling factors have distinct nucleosome binding and mobilization properties. The EMBO journal 19:4332–41.
- 270. Hirose F, Ohshima N, Kwon E-J, Yoshida H, Yamaguchi M. 2002. Drosophila Mi-2 negatively regulates dDREF by inhibiting its DNA-binding activity. Molecular and cellular biology 22:5182–93.
- 271. **Zhao K, Hart CM, Laemmli UK**. 1995. Visualization of chromosomal domains with boundary element-associated factor BEAF-32. Cell **81**:879–89.
- 272. **Hart CM, Cuvier O, Laemmli UK**. 1999. Evidence for an antagonistic relationship between the boundary element-associated factor BEAF and the transcription factor DREF. Chromosoma **108**:375–83.
- 273. Valadez-Graham V, Yoshioka Y, Velazquez O, Kawamori A, Vázquez M, Neumann A, Yamaguchi M, Zurita M. 2012. XNP/dATRX interacts with DREF in the chromatin to regulate gene expression. Nucleic acids research 40:1460–74.
- 274. Gehring WJ, Affolter M, Bürglin T. 1994. Homeodomain proteins. Annual review of biochemistry 63:487–526.
- 275. Hayashi Y, Kato M, Seto H, Yamaguchi M. 2006. Drosophila distal-less negatively regulates dDREF by inhibiting its DNA binding activity. Biochimica et biophysica acta 1759:359–66.

- 276. **Doyle HJ, Kraut R, Levine M**. 1989. Spatial regulation of zerknüllt: a dorsalventral patterning gene in Drosophila. Genes & development **3**:1518–33.
- 277. Seto H, Hayashi Y, Kwon E, Taguchi O, Yamaguchi M. 2006. Antagonistic regulation of the Drosophila PCNA gene promoter by DREF and Cut. Genes to cells : devoted to molecular & cellular mechanisms 11:499–512.
- 278. Blochlinger K, Jan LY, Jan YN. 1991. Transformation of sensory organ identity by ectopic expression of Cut in Drosophila. Genes & development 5:1124–35.
- 279. Bodmer R, Barbel S, Sheperd S, Jack JW, Jan LY, Jan YN. 1987. Transformation of sensory organs by mutations of the cut locus of D. melanogaster. Cell 51:293–307.
- 280. Ludlow C, Choy R, Blochlinger K. 1996. Functional analysis of Drosophila and mammalian cut proteins in files. Developmental biology **178**:149–59.
- Blochlinger K, Jan LY, Jan YN. 1993. Postembryonic patterns of expression of cut, a locus regulating sensory organ identity in Drosophila. Development (Cambridge, England) 117:441–50.
- 282. **Hirose F, Yamaguchi M, Matsukage A**. 1994. Repression of regulatory factor for Drosophila DNA replication-related gene promoters by zerknüllt homeodomain protein. The Journal of biological chemistry **269**:2937–42.
- 283. Esposito T, Gianfrancesco F, Ciccodicola A, Montanini L, Mumm S, Urso MD, Forabosco A, Istologia S, Genetica E. 1999. A novel pseudoautosomal human gene encodes a putative protein similar to Ac-like transposases. Human Molecular Genetics 8:61–67.
- 284. **Kempken F, Windhofer F**. 2001. The hAT family: a versatile transposon group common to plants, fungi, animals, and man. Chromosoma **110**:1–9.
- 285. Ohshima N, Takahashi M, Hirose F. 2003. Identification of a human homologue of the DREF transcription factor with a potential role in regulation of the histone H1 gene. The Journal of biological chemistry 278:22928–38.
- 286. Yamashita D, Komori H, Higuchi Y, Yamaguchi T, Osumi T, Hirose F. 2007. Human DNA replication-related element binding factor (hDREF) self-association via hATC domain is necessary for its nuclear accumulation and DNA binding. The Journal of biological chemistry 282:7563–75.
- Aravind L. 2000. The BED finger, a novel DNA-binding domain in chromatinboundary-element-binding proteins and transposases. Trends in biochemical sciences 25:421–3.
- 288. Essers L, Adolphs RH, Kunze R. 2000. A highly conserved domain of the maize activator transposase is involved in dimerization. The Plant cell 12:211–24.
- Michel K, O'Brochta DA, Atkinson PW. 2003. The C-terminus of the Hermes transposase contains a protein multimerization domain. Insect biochemistry and molecular biology 33:959–70.

- 290. **Dingwall C, Laskey RA**. 1991. Nuclear targeting sequences--a consensus? Trends in biochemical sciences **16**:478–81.
- 291. Hodel MR, Corbett AH, Hodel AE. 2001. Dissection of a nuclear localization signal. The Journal of biological chemistry **276**:1317–25.
- 292. Yamashita D, Sano Y, Adachi Y, Okamoto Y, Osada H, Takahashi T, Yamaguchi T, Osumi T, Hirose F. 2007. hDREF regulates cell proliferation and expression of ribosomal protein genes. Molecular and cellular biology 27:2003– 13.
- 293. **Thoma F, Koller T, Klug A**. 1979. Involvement of histone H1 in the organization of the nucleosome and of the salt-dependent superstructures of chromatin. The Journal of cell biology **83**:403–27.
- 294. Woodcock CL, Skoultchi AI, Fan Y. 2006. Role of linker histone in chromatin structure and function: H1 stoichiometry and nucleosome repeat length. Chromosome research : an international journal on the molecular, supramolecular and evolutionary aspects of chromosome biology 14:17–25.
- 295. Collar DG, Wright KL, van Wijnen AJ, Ramsey AL, Lian J, Stein JL, Stein GS. 1988. The human H1 histone gene FNC16 is functionally expressed in proliferating HeLa S3 cells and is down-regulated during terminal differentiation in HL60 cells. The Journal of biological chemistry 263:15860–3.
- 296. **Heintz N**. 1991. The regulation of histone gene expression during the cell cycle. Biochimica et biophysica acta **1088**:327–39.
- 297. Plumb M, Marashi F, Green L, Zimmerman a, Zimmerman S, Stein J, Stein G. 1984. Cell cycle regulation of human histone H1 mRNA. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 81:434–8.
- 298. **Grummt I**. 1999. Regulation of mammalian ribosomal gene transcription by RNA polymerase I. Progress in nucleic acid research and molecular biology **62**:109–54.
- 299. Jorgensen P, Nishikawa JL, Breitkreutz B-J, Tyers M. 2002. Systematic identification of pathways that couple cell growth and division in yeast. Science (New York, N.Y.) **297**:395–400.
- 300. Kief DR, Warner JR. 1981. Coordinate control of syntheses of ribosomal ribonucleic acid and ribosomal proteins during nutritional shift-up in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Molecular and cellular biology 1:1007–15.
- 301. Klein J, Grummt I. 1999. Cell cycle-dependent regulation of RNA polymerase I transcription: the nucleolar transcription factor UBF is inactive in mitosis and early G1. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 96:6096–101.
- Thomas G. 2000. An encore for ribosome biogenesis in the control of cell proliferation. Nature cell biology 2:E71–2.
- 303. Ablack JNG, Pelka P, Yousef AF, Turnell AS, Grand RJA, Mymryk JS. 2010. Comparison of E1A CR3-dependent transcriptional activation across six different human adenovirus subgroups. Journal of virology 84:12771–81.

- 304. Cohen MJ, Yousef AF, Massimi P, Fonseca GJ, Todorovic B, Pelka P, Turnell AS, Banks L, Mymryk JS. 2013. Dissection of the C-terminal region of E1A redefines the roles of CtBP and other cellular targets in oncogenic transformation. Journal of virology.
- 305. Bett AJ, Krougliak V, Graham FL. 1995. DNA sequence of the deletion/insertion in early region 3 of Ad5 dl309. Virus research **39**:75–82.
- 306. **Helin K, Ed H**. 1993. The retinoblastoma protein as a transcriptional repressor. Trends in cell biology **3**:43–6.
- 307. Liu X, Marmorstein R. 2007. Structure of the retinoblastoma protein bound to adenovirus E1A reveals the molecular basis for viral oncoprotein inactivation of a tumor suppressor. Genes & development **21**:2711–6.
- Rasti M, Grand RJA, Mymryk JS, Gallimore PH, Turnell AS. 2005. Recruitment of CBP/p300, TATA-binding protein, and S8 to distinct regions at the N terminus of adenovirus E1A. Journal of virology 79:5594–605.
- 309. **Reese JC**. 2003. Basal transcription factors. Current opinion in genetics & development **13**:114–8.
- 310. Yang C, Bolotin E, Jiang T, Sladek FM, Martinez E. 2007. Prevalence of the initiator over the TATA box in human and yeast genes and identification of DNA motifs enriched in human TATA-less core promoters. Gene **389**:52–65.
- 311. Yamane T, Okamura H, Nishimura Y, Kidera A, Ikeguchi M. 2010. Sidechain conformational changes of transcription factor PhoB upon DNA binding: a population-shift mechanism. Journal of the American Chemical Society 132:12653–9.
- 312. **Bateman E**. 1998. Autoregulation of eukaryotic transcription factors. Progress in nucleic acid research and molecular biology **60**:133–68.
- 313. **Kielbasa SM, Vingron M**. 2008. Transcriptional autoregulatory loops are highly conserved in vertebrate evolution. PloS one **3**:e3210.
- 314. Valin A, Gill G. 2007. Regulation of the dual-function transcription factor Sp3 by SUMO. Biochemical Society transactions **35**:1393–6.
- 315. **Plumbridge J, Pellegrini O**. 2004. Expression of the chitobiose operon of Escherichia coli is regulated by three transcription factors: NagC, ChbR and CAP. Molecular microbiology **52**:437–49.
- 316. Grehan S, Tse E, Taylor JM. 2001. Two distal downstream enhancers direct expression of the human apolipoprotein E gene to astrocytes in the brain. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 21:812–22.
- 317. Rosenthal N, Berglund EB, Wentworth BM, Donoghue M, Winter B, Bober E, Braun T, Arnold HH. 1990. A highly conserved enhancer downstream of the human MLC1/3 locus is a target for multiple myogenic determination factors. Nucleic acids research 18:6239–46.

318. **Cecchini MJ, Amiri M, Dick FA**. 2012. Analysis of cell cycle position in mammalian cells. Journal of visualized experiments : JoVE e3491.

Curriculum Vitae

Name:	Kristofer Michael David James
Post-secondary Education and Degrees:	The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada 2007-2011 H.B.MSc.
Honours and Awards:	Faculty of Science Dean's Honour List, and Western Scholar The University of Western Ontario September 2007 – April 2011
	CIHR Strategic Training Program in Cancer Research and Technology Transfer (CaRTT) Summer Studentship Award \$6660 May – August 2011
	Microbiology & Immunology Graduate Studies Entrance Award Western University \$2000 September 2011
Related Work Experience	Teaching Assistant The University of Western Ontario 2012-2013
Presentations:	James K, Pelka P, Mymryk JS "The Interaction of the Human Adenovirus E1A Oncoprotein with the Human DREF Cell Cycle Regulator" <i>Poster Presentations</i> 2013 Oncology Research and Education Day, London ON 2013 London Health Research Day, London ON 2012 Infection and Immunity Research Forum, London ON 2012 DNA Tumor Virus Meeting, Montreal QC 2012 Oncology Research and Education Day, London ON 2011 Infection and Immunity Research Forum London ON